
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board

Date Friday 22 June 2018
Time 10.30 am
Venue Council Chamber, Crook - Crook Council Offices

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2018  (Pages 3 - 8)
4. Declarations of Interest  
5. Transformation Programme Update - Report of the Director of 

Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 9 - 18)
6. Quarter Four 2017/18 Performance Management Report - 

Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships  
(Pages 19 - 72)

7. Customer Feedback: Quarter 4 and Annual Statutory 
Representations - Joint Report of the Corporate Director of 
Resources, Corporate Director Adult and Health Services and 
Corporate Director Children and Young People's Services  
(Pages 73 - 134)

8. Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/2018 - Report of the 
Director of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 135 - 156)

9. Review of the Committee's Work Programme 2018-19 - Report 
of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships  
(Pages 157 - 166)



10. Update in relation to Petitions - Report of Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services  (Pages 167 - 174)

11. Notice of Key Decisions - Report of Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services  (Pages 175 - 182)

12. Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees - Report of Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships  (Pages 183 - 188)

13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
14 June 2018

To: The Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

Councillor R Crute (Chairman)
Councillor A Patterson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors E Adam, A Batey, R Bell, D Boyes, J Chaplow, M Clarke, 
K Hawley, P Jopling, H Liddle, L Maddison, J Makepeace, C Martin, 
O Milburn, P Oliver, C Potts, L Pounder, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, 
M Simmons, H Smith, F Tinsley, J Turnbull, M Wilkes and A Willis

Contact: Lucy Gladders Email: 03000 269712



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board held in 
Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Friday 20 April 2018 at 9.30 am

Present:

Councillor R Crute (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors A Patterson (Vice-Chairman), E Adam, A Batey, M Clarke, H Liddle, 
L Maddison, J Robinson, F Tinsley and J Turnbull

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R Bell, D Boyes, 
J Makepeace, C Martin, O Milburn, H Smith, C Potts, L Pounder, 
J Rowlandson, M Wilkes and A Willis.

2 Substitute Members 

Councillor P Crathorne substituting for Councillor C Potts, Councillor A Hopgood 
substituting for Councillor C Martin and Councillor R Manchester substituting for 
Councillor H Smith.

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 19 March 2018 

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 March 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

Matters arising:

Item 6, paragraph 5 – in relation to Councillor Batey’s request for clearer 
information to be provided as part of the council tax billing. The Head of Strategy 
advised that a response had been provided from the Head of Finance and 
Transactional Services who had indicated that although there were some issues 
with billing, including time of and information contained, he would endeavour to 
review for 2019/20 billing.

Item 7, in reference to discussions around savings proposals, the Head of Strategy 
advised that a seminar on the MTFP was to be arranged for members in July 2018.

Item 7, paragraph 5 – in relation to Councillor Wilkes’ comments regarding use of 
reserves the Head of Strategy advised that the Head of Corporate Finance had 
provided a response to Councillor Wilkes outlining that the Budget Support Reserve 
(BSR) could only be used to fund one-off items of expenditure and although 
reserves could be used to delay implantation of savings, ultimately all savings 
would have to be realised at some point.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Item 8, paragraph 4 – in relation to Councillor Adam’s comments regarding Single 
Use Plastics (SUP’s) the Head of Strategy provided a progress update, highlighting 
work being undertaken by the task group which included representation from 
procurement and the Environment Partnership. In addition Councillor Adam would 
be attending the first meeting of the group and progress updates would be 
scheduled through the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

Councillor Adam noted that he would be speaking at the first meeting to outline the 
work of scrutiny and it was hoped that he would be able to attend further meetings 
as the work of the task group progressed.

Item 9, paragraph 3 – in relation to the query raised by Councillor Wilkes the Head 
of Strategy advised that the Durham City Sustainable Transport Strategy would be 
considered at the same time as the County Durham Plan.

4 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

5 Report on the Council's use of powers under the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 - Quarter 4 - 2017/18 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which 
sought to inform members about the Council’s use of powers under the Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act (2000) (‘RIPA’) during the period 1 January 2018 and 
31 March 2018 (Quarter 4) to ensure that it was being used consistently with the 
Council’s policy and that the policy remains fit for purpose (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

The Legal Manager Governance and Elections advised that as an update to the 
circulated report, it should be noted that a tri-annual inspection had been 
undertaken by the Office of Surveillance Commissioners and had proved to be 
extremely positive. The full inspection report would be provided to the Board for 
information in due course.

Resolved: That the quarterly report on the Council’s use of RIPA for the period 1 
January 2018 until 31 March 2018 and resolve that it is being used consistently with 
the Council’s policy and that the policy remains fit for purpose.

6 Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 7 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided an update on progress made at the end of December 2017 on the 
delivery of the 2017/18 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP7) (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

The Head of Transformation provided an overview of progress to date advising that 
by the end of December 2017 over 94% of the savings target for MTFP7 had been 

Page 4



met with just over £22 million of savings having been achieved. This formed part of 
the overall savings target for the period from 2011/12 to 2019/20 of around £250 
million.

It was further reported that consultation with the public and stakeholders remained 
an important element in the MTFP programme and a wide-ranging consultation 
exercise had been carried out during October and November 2017.

Further details were provided in respect of HR implications and the number of 
ER/VR applications accepted during the period and since 2011. It was noted that 
since 2011, 2720 posts had been lost through ER/VR, deleted posts and 
compulsory redundancies. Information was also presented regarding the 
percentage of staff who had left, who were male and female. It was noted that the 
proportion of female leavers was higher than the overall organisational breakdown.  
Details were also presented regarding compulsory redundancy and it was noted 
that the proportion of male leavers in this category was higher than the overall 
organisational breakdown.

It was further reported that the total number of staff redeployed was 442, since the 
process started.

The Head of Transformation went on to advise that whilst the Government’s 
austerity programme was due to continue for several more years, the Council 
continued to be in a strong financial position despite ongoing challenges mainly as 
a result of the robust management process supporting the MTFP.

Councillor Crute commented that he noted the disparities between male and female 
leavers and asked whether this was as a result of the nature of services/posts 
which had been affected. The Head of Transformation advised that this was the 
case.

Councillor Tinsley noted that the authority continued to employ people however no 
data had been presented to highlight the gender split of employees coming into the 
organisation. The Head of Transformation advised that this could be provided for a 
future report.

Councillor Robinson commented that he would like to place on record the Boards 
thanks to all the staff across the authority for all of their hard work in achieving the 
savings in such a timely manner. He further noted, that had the council been a 
major company it would be likely that some form of government intervention would 
have taken place. In addition, he added his thanks to those staff who had been 
redeployed and had helped in the council achieving its MTFP savings.

Councillor Crute reiterated the above comments and agreed that staff should be 
thanked for their work during extremely challenging times.

Councillor Hopgood commented that pre 2008, during the shadow authority year it 
was reported that the council would have to lose 1200 posts as part of the 
amalgamation of 8 authorities. She therefore queried, of the figures presented, 
which and how many posts were lost as a result of Local Government 

Page 5



Reorganisation and austerity. She further queried how the workforce had changed 
in this period and also made reference to apprenticeships, noting that it was 
important that young people were being trained for the jobs that were available.

Councillor Crute commented that a lot of these issues had been covered by the 
Economy & Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee including opportunities 
and challenges for employers and employees. Further discussion took place 
regarding the work undertaken by the committee in 2012 and Councillor Crute 
suggested that it would be useful to look back and review those recommendations. 
Councillor Batey, as Chair of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, noted that this piece of work had highlighted the mismatch of careers 
advice in schools and further education in relation to the positions available and she 
feared that this had not changed since that time.

Moving on, Councillor Tinsley referred to his comments made at the previous 
meeting relating to economic inactivity. He added, that he had found in his division 
many residents finding the DWP a hostile environment and many people were 
slipping through the net, unrecorded by the government. 

Councillor Turnbull asked whether figures could be provided on how many posts 
had been filled where staff had left the authority as a result of ER/VR. As a point of 
clarification, the Head of Transformation advised that in cases of VR the post 
became redundant and was not filled. He did however advise that he could, for a 
future report, provide a breakdown of where people had left the authority and what 
skill or workforce pressures there were in these areas. 

Councillor Crute suggested that the report and recommendations of the Economy 
and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee from 2012 relating to employment 
and skills, be reviewed.

Resolved:

That the contents of the report be noted.

7 County Durham Partnership Update 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which updated Members on issues being addressed by the County Durham 
Partnership (CDP) including the board, the five thematic partnerships and all area 
action partnerships (AAPs). The report also included updates on other key 
initiatives being carried out in partnership across the county (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

The Strategic Manager Partnerships advised that the County Durham Partnership 
continued to lead on and address key strategic issues including; the Aykley Heads 
development, the History Centre at Mount Oswald and the relocation of County Hall 
as well as the winter pressures facing the NHS, nationally and locally. 

In addition, she advised that the Prioritising Prevention agenda also remained a key 
area of work with progress being made in identifying the key area of focus following 

Page 6



detailed work from the identified workstreams and with some national support from 
the Local Government Association.

She further provided an update on all AAP’s under the five thematic areas of priority 
including; mitigating the effects of social isolation and supporting children and 
young people particularly through projects regarding mental health and wellbeing. 
In addition, she went on to provide an overview of activity from across the broader 
partnership networks including the recent VCS conference and successful funding 
secured for those people leaving the armed forces who may need accommodation. 

Councillor Crute commented that he was pleased to note the strong relationship 
between the Safe Durham Partnership and the Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been recognised by the Local Government 
Association Peer Review. 

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

8 Update in relation to Petitions 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which 
provided information on the quarterly update in relation to the current situation 
regarding various petitions received by the Authority (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Senior Committee Services Officer advised that since the last update 5 e-
petitions had been submitted. Of these, 3 did not qualify under the Council’s 
Petition Scheme and 1 was withdrawn. There were currently 2 e-petitions live on 
the website and in addition, 2 new paper petitions had been submitted, 1 of which 
had now been completed.

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

9 Notice of Key Decisions 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which 
provided a list of key decisions that was scheduled to be considered by the 
Executive (for copy see file of Minutes).

Resolved: That the content of the report and update be noted.

10 Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided an update of overview and scrutiny activity from 19 March to April 
2018 (for copy see file of Minutes).

Councillor Hopgood asked whether it would be possible for the report to be sent to 
all members in future as it would be useful for those members who did not sit on an 
overview and scrutiny committee. 

Page 7



Councillor Crute noted that the report was publically available and members would 
be able to access it they wished to do so. He therefore felt that there was no 
specific need to circulate it.

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

Page 8



Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

22 June 2018

Cabinet

13 June 2018

Transformation Programme Update

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships
Councillor Joy Allen, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Transformation.

Purpose of the Report
1 The purpose of the report is to inform Members of progress in the Council’s 

Transformation Programme since the last Cabinet report in October 2017. 

2 The report sets out how services are being transformed to better meet the 
needs of the people of County Durham, and to set out the main elements of 
the programme for the next three years. 

 Background

3 Cabinet received a report in October 2017 setting out the continued approach 
to the Council’s Transformation Programme, documenting the objectives of 
the programme and the projects and programmes being initiated.  

4 The report highlighted that Durham County Council has been on a continual 
programme of change since its inception as a Unitary Council in 2009 with 
notable success in forming the Council and providing good quality public 
services.  

5 This has been achieved whilst simultaneously dealing with significant budget 
reductions escalating to over £224m pa, and reductions in staffing levels of 
over 2800 FTE posts. 

6 The Council remains in a sound and stable financial position, however  
recognises that more fundamental change is required to enable the Council to 
continue to provide high quality services within the context of  the further 
financial challenges which lie ahead. 

7 It is recognised that to do this well the Council needs to transform the way in 
which it works to better serve the needs of the people of County Durham and 
will look and feel very different to the way it does today. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



The Transformation Programme

8 The Council has adopted a very comprehensive Transformation Programme 
to achieve this change and develop the Council of the future. The vision is of 
a collaborative organisation with modern working practices able to provide the 
very best services for the people of County Durham with the resources 
available. 

9 The Transformation Programme has four key outcomes. These are to:

a) Redesign our services to better meet customers’ needs at reduced cost 
to the Council. 

b) Help communities become more self-reliant and resilient
c) Move our partnership working from good to great
d) Become renowned for our skilled and flexible workforce and our 

employee engagement.

10 In order to deliver these outcomes the Transformation Programme has been 
developed as a co-ordinated and integrated series of initiatives, each 
transformative in their own right but with greater cumulative impact. Utilising 
the “Inspire” brand, the programme consists of three broad areas of 
interconnected activity to be able to provide the very best services for the 
people of County Durham. These are:

 Inspiring Change

 redesigning our services and processes across the Council from 
the perspective of the people who use them

 understanding the needs of our communities and localities, 
prioritising investment where it is needed most 

 adopting more commercial practices to support social outcomes  

 Inspiring People 

 promoting leadership, empowerment and innovation 

 investing in new skills and outcome focused behaviours  

 supporting flexible working through digital and mobile working 

 Inspiring Places

 modernising and consolidating our premises  

 making our work spaces  more cost effective and productive

 supporting greater collaboration between teams and across public 
services  

11 Each of the above areas of activity has a series of projects and programmes 
of activity currently being delivered across the Council as a whole and within 
individual service areas.  

Page 10



12 To enable the programme to succeed also requires a renewed focus on digital 
opportunities available to the Council with associated investment in new ICT 
systems and associated staff training.  

Progress to Date

13 Since the report to Cabinet in October 2017 progress has been made in the 
following areas:

Inspiring Change

a) A programme of service and process reviews has been launched to 
review council processes in a holistic way, looking across traditional 
service boundaries from the perspective of the service user. This 
programme of reviews is guided by a series of design principles and 
supported by training to embed Whole Council thinking into the 
organisation. A summary of the key principles are attached as 
Appendix 2:

b) The first of these reviews are underway in both Children’s Services and 
Adult Services in order to support the most vulnerable in our society 
and to get the most out of the replacement of the SSID IT system.  The 
process reviews have utilised significant staff engagement, 
empowering staff to review existing processes and practice, simplify 
process on behalf of service users and remove any duplication. This 
work ensures that new leaner business processes can be implemented 
and the maximum benefit will be derived from the investment in the 
new SSID IT system, and will support additional efficiency savings. 
Other reviews are underway to support the introduction of the new 
Resource link system across the Council as well as business analysis 
to support the review of business support.

c) Work has commenced on a Council wide review of the business 
support functions with the aim of consolidating and creating a single, 
more efficient, professional business support function for the Council 
as a whole. Baselining work is currently being undertaken with the 
intention to develop options for the new service over the summer. To 
ensure business continuity it is planned for the new business support 
service created through a series of realignments into a single service in 
the first instance with the transformation into a new service thereafter. 
It is planned for this process to be complete within the next two years 
to dovetail with the new HQ and strategic sites and the associated new 
ways of working. 

d) The Unitisation of Policy, Performance and Planning services within the 
Council was completed on 1 April 2018 as part of a corporate efficiency 
programme.  Employees from a range of service areas across the 
council including, policy, performance management, partnership 
support, research and development, service planning, information 
management and service improvement have been recruited into the 
Transformation and Partnerships Service. Work has commenced to 
rationalise performance management systems and develop digital 

Page 11



business intelligence processes to better inform service design across 
and resource priorities across the Council as a whole.  

e) Work continues to develop the Council’s Customer Relationship 
Management System (CRM) to increase customer contact options with 
the Council, increasing the number of service requests available on line 
and streamlining processes to get service requests straight to the 
frontline wherever possible. To date over 83,000 online customer 
accounts have been created. 

f) Work has progressed to consolidate and further develop the Council’s 
commercial activity to give a greater focus on income generation 
through commercial means. Work streams have been developed to 
further examine the council’s property portfolio, fees and charges, 
treasury management as well as a number of joint ventures and land 
and property deals.     

g) In addition to the cross Council transformation work, there are also a 
number of major in service transformation projects and programmes 
underway, each one representing a significant change to existing 
service delivery. In service programmes include:

 The integration of Adult Health and Social Care
 The review of in house services in Adult Social Care
 A review of Education Support services
 A review of Library Services 
 A review of Leisure Provision 

h) Reports on each of these areas of work will be brought to Cabinet over 
the course of 2018.

Inspiring People

i) To support the change programme, work has commenced to 
implement a Cultural Change programme within the Council. Work has 
been carried out with Transformation Board, EMT, strategic managers 
and staff to build on the values of People Focussed, Outcome 
Focussed, Innovation and Empowerment identified in 2017. A series of 
behaviours have been developed to be tested and embedded in the 
coming months through HR process as well as a series of cultural 
audits undertaken as part of the programme of new ways of working.

j) A programme of “change advocates” has been launched with over 300 
employees signed up to support the transformation programme in their 
place of work.  A seminar was held on 25 April at the Glebe Centre, 
Murton, with four 30 minute taster workshops, looking at; 
Understanding Change; Digital Tools; Smarter Ways of Working and 
Business Process Reviews. Further seminars are planned throughout 
the year.

k) A new Organisational Development strategy is being developed which 
includes a renewed focus on training and skills development across the 
Council including leadership and management, digital and commercial 

Page 12



skills, equalities, and workforce planning; funded through the 
investment made into the apprentice levy by the Council. 

l) A programme of corporate training priorities for 2018/19 is being 
delivered and a complementary plan has been developed to launch the 
new values and behaviours which will commence with leadership 
sessions in June and September 2018.

m) A corporate approach to the council’s apprenticeship programme is 
being established.  A range of opportunities have been identified for 
both new apprentices and to upskill the existing workforce to maximise 
the use of the apprentice levy.  A recruitment campaign for 31 new 
apprenticeship posts will commence w/c 14 May 2018 to coincide with 
the school year.

n) A prioritised delivery programme for the new digital HR system, 
Resource link in development beginning in May 18 which will enable 
greater self-service for staff more streamlined processes with ten 
priority areas for development and associated process reviews. 16,500 
employees now have E-Payslip compared to 6,000 in Oct 17. 

o) The Council is also taking part in the Local Government Association’s 
National Graduate Development Programme with the four graduates 
starting with the Council in September 2017 beginning their second 
placements in March 2018. 

Inspiring Places

p) The refurbishment of the Crook strategic site is complete, and all staff 
have moved back into the building. Occupancy rates are higher than 
originally anticipated with 469 FTEs taking occupancy in March 2018. 
Of these 110 FTEs are new to Crook enabling further consolidation of 
the Council’s premises and greater efficiencies as a result. This 
followed a significant amount of change management work with the 
teams going into the building to prepare staff for the new ways of 
working including team profiling, digital skills, new behaviours and 
mobile working. 

q) In January 2018 the Council’s Cabinet took the decision to vacate the 
Council’s HQ at Aykley Heads to free up prime development land and 
attract significant levels of private sector investment, creating an 
additional 6,000 high quality jobs on the site.

r) The new HQ will be smaller located at the Sands area of Durham City, 
housing around 1,000 of the 1,850 staff currently located in County 
Hall. It will be built to the new design principles agreed for all the 
Council’s strategic sites, aimed at increasing collaboration and 
providing a more flexible use of business and civic space. It will create 
a major milestone in our ambition to create modern productive places 
of work, supported by modern patterns of work with slim and digitised 
support services.  A planning application for the new HQ is expected to 
be submitted in the summer 2018. 

Page 13



s) Change management and team profiling work has begun with teams in 
the existing HQ and will soon begin in the remaining strategic sites 
ahead of the proposed moves. A significant amount of work is being 
carried out to engage with teams and employees, building on the 
successful experience of the move to the Crook offices. In the initial 
phase of profiling information is being gathered to ascertain space, 
storage and workspace requirements for the new buildings to refine the 
organisational fit. A second phase of team profiling will then begin 
working with teams on a more in depth basis supporting people to 
change working practice and culture to support the digital and mobile 
ways of working which to be more productive. This work is part of long 
term programme of building modernisation, cultural change and 
increased productivity. This work is also influencing final design and 
organisational fit of the HQ and strategic sites.

t) Following a positive programme of public consultation through the AAP 
network in the New Year, a stage one bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund 
has been submitted to fund the construction of a new Durham History 
Centre at the Mount Oswald site in Durham City Centre. The new 
centre will provide a prestigious venue for the County’s archive and 
other collections of historic significance in a publically accessible 
venue.  The venue will also be house the registrar service and will act 
as a prestigious venue for weddings and other ceremonies.  

The Transformation Programme to 2020

14 The Transformation Programme being undertaken by the Council is a 
comprehensive programme of change to modernise the ways in which the 
Council operates, improve the ways in which people can access services and 
enable the Council to provide the very best services with the resources 
available.

15 The Programme will work in a systematic way over the next three years 
integrating projects into a single portfolio of programmes and projects to 
transform the way the Council operates and to support the resilience of 
service provision during continued austerity.

16 By 2020 the Council will have:

a) Completed a programme of modernisation of Council workplaces with 
greater use of mobile working, flexible space, and digitised more 
productive working practices

b) Digitised a full range of Council processes and unitised central support 
services to improve the productivity of Council staff, reduce costs and 
support front line service delivery

c) Improved the range of ways in which people can access Council 
services through digital and traditional means with associated reviews of 
Council processes from a customer service perspective. 

Page 14



d) Introduced a greater range of commercial services to create sustainable 
income streams for the Council

e) Invested in ICT, business intelligence, staff training and cultural change 
to manage change

f) Made a number of individual service based transformations in education, 
adult health and care and the provision of placed based services.   

Governance

17 Progress on the programme will be reported through the Transformation 
Board, Chaired by the Leader of the Council. The Transformation Board 
consists of Cabinet Members and the Council’s Corporate Management 
Team. 

18 Executive oversight of the programme is provided by the Council’s Corporate 
Management Team supported by a series of officer steering groups with 
senior officer membership relevant to the various aspects of the programme. 

19 The programme has been informed by a number of consultation events with 
staff including staff roadshows, Members seminars, meetings with the Trade 
Unions and focus groups.  The programme will be further enhanced through a 
comprehensive engagement process with staff and customers as it 
progresses. 

Cabinet - Recommendations and reasons
20 Cabinet are recommended to note the contents of the report and endorse the 

approach taken to transform the Council over the medium term.

21 Cabinet are recommended to continue their engagement in the programme 
through the Transformation Board in order to provide governance for the 
programme and shape future high quality services.

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Recommendations and reasons

22 Members of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board are asked 
to note the report.

Background papers

Contact: Andy Palmer: Tel: 03000 268551

Page 15



Appendix 1:  Implications
Finance  
The Transformation Programme will seek to support the further reductions of over 
£40m to annual budget through a series of reviews and a whole Council approach to 
business process. Staffing and programme costs have been met through a 
reconfiguration of existing resources. 

Staffing  
The Programme will be staffed from the reorganisation of existing staffing resource. 
As the Council’s budget is further reduced staff reductions are also anticipated.

Equality and Diversity 
Equality impact assessments will be undertaken on projects within the 
Transformation Programme.

Accommodation
The Inspire, accommodation project is contained within the programme. 

Crime and Disorder
No implications 

Human Rights
No Implications

Consultation
Customer consultation and comprehensive staff engagement are fundamental 
elements of the Transformation Programme. 

Disability Discrimination Act 
No implications.

Legal Implications
No legal implications. 

Page 16



Appendix 2:  

Summary Design Principles

o Services will be designed from the ‘outside-in’ as part of a whole system, to 
maximise positive impact, against evidence led social outcomes, based on 
evidence of demand and the current capability of the organisation and partners to 
deliver the service 

o Groupings of staff will be organised to join up process from a customer 
perspective and where it can be done most efficiently and effectively, maximising 
staff competencies, innovation and digital technologies to support the efficiency 
of all services

o The capable resources identified above will be located and organised to deliver 
the optimum process.

o Activities that do not add value for the customers outcome and process 
complexity will be minimised by reducing the number of process steps, hand-offs, 
rules and controls; and by empowering staff to make decisions

o Staff will be empowered to make decisions and appropriately approve work in the 
flow

o Data from the Council and our partner’s digital systems will be gathered in such a 
way as to be manipulated to improve business intelligence, customer insight and 
demand management. Data will only be entered once, transferable and re-usable 
across the organisation and its partner network

o Using a Business Intelligence tool, our collective data will give us insight into our 
customers to enable continuous improvement

o Technology will act as an enabler, rather than as a driver and will be designed to 
be flexible and agile,  easily modified in response to changing business 
requirements

o Our driver for change is to achieve the best outcomes within current resources, if 
technology can enable this we should maximise it in such a way that it can be 
adaptable as customer needs change.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

22 June 2018

Quarter Four 2017/18 
Performance Management Report 

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council

Purpose of the Report
1 To present progress against the council’s corporate performance framework 

by Altogether priority theme for the fourth quarter of the 2017/18 financial 
year.  

Summary
2 Against the backdrop of ongoing financial pressures placed on the council and 

increased demand in some key services, performance has been maintained in 
many areas and improvements achieved.  During 2017/18, 69% of our 
performance indicators improved with 4% maintaining performance. 
Improvements have continued across a number of key areas. Similar to 
previously reported, specific improvements are evident in the employment 
rate, which remains at an all-time high although there is emerging evidence 
nationally that trends in wage levels are not positive. More 16 to 17 year olds 
are in an apprenticeship in County Durham compared nationally and 
regionally. Registered businesses in the county continue to rise and council 
intervention on housing development continues with a higher number of 
empty properties brought back into use and new homes completed than last 
year. 

3 Children’s services continue to perform well in some key areas compared to 
other comparator averages with lower children in need re-referral rates, 
improved timeliness of education, health and care plans and more care 
leavers in suitable accommodation and education, employment or training. 
Despite an ageing population, increasingly complex caseloads and financial 
pressures, good progress continues with key adult care measures that 
continue to suggest effective management of care for older people and 
vulnerable adults. 

4 It is encouraging to note that there have been some reductions in demand for 
some of our services. Fly-tipping incidents have reduced slightly, although 
levels have remained relatively static over the last two years. Face-to-face 
customer contacts and telephone calls received continue to reduce as people 
are contacting us in other ways such as social media and through the web.

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



2

5 As reported throughout the year, challenges continue with high children’s 
safeguarding workloads. The number of children in need, those subject to a 
child protection plan and looked after children cases show that demand has 
plateaued, albeit at a high level. Levels in County Durham are above those 
reported nationally. Social worker caseload levels remain high and quality of 
casework files requires further improvement. Secondary schools judged good 
or better by Ofsted continue to be an issue as numbers have been declining 
over the year and are now much lower than the national average. As 
highlighted last quarter, completion of single assessments has again 
decreased and continued focus is placed on the timeliness of initial child 
protection conferences, which is below target and national levels.  

6 Challenges are ongoing in relation to the health of the county, with life 
expectancy and healthy life expectancy in County Durham lower than in 
England.  Mothers smoking at time of delivery and breastfeeding prevalence 
remain worse than national levels. Recorded crime has continued to increase 
in 2017/18. Successful completions of those in drug and alcohol treatment 
have been gradually improving since the low levels recorded in 2016 but 
levels remain below target. Corporate indicators show sickness absence and 
staff appraisals have worsened. 

Performance Reporting Arrangements for 2017/18
7 Our performance reporting arrangements have been developed around a 

series of key performance questions aligned to the Altogether framework of 
six priority themes, and are designed to facilitate greater scrutiny of 
performance. The set of performance measures provides an indication to help 
answer these questions for those with corporate governance responsibilities. 

8 There are other areas of performance that are measured through more 
detailed monitoring across service groupings and if performance issues arise, 
these will be escalated for consideration by including them in the corporate 
report on an exception basis. 

9 The performance indicators are still reported against two indicator types which 
comprise of:
(a) key target indicators – targets are set for indicators where 

improvements can be measured regularly and where improvement can 
be actively influenced by the council and its partners; and

(b) key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set 
for indicators which are long-term and/or which the council and its 
partners only partially influence.  

10 This report sets out our key performance messages from data released this 
quarter. A visual summary per Altogether priority theme presents key data 
messages from the new performance framework showing the latest position in 
trends and how we compare with others. A comprehensive table of key 
performance questions and performance data is presented in Appendix 4. An 
explanation of symbols used and the groups we use to compare ourselves is 
in Appendix 2.

Page 20



3

11 To support the complete indicator set, a guide is available which provides full 
details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate 
indicator set. This is available to view and can be requested from the 
Corporate Planning and Performance Team at performance@durham.gov.uk.

Key Performance Messages from Data Released this Quarter
Altogether Wealthier

12 Most key wealthier measures are progressing well. The employment rate 
remains at an all-time high, better than last year and regionally but remains 
below national levels and there is emerging evidence nationally that trends in 
wage levels are not positive. Unemployment (as measured through the 
Annual Population Survey) in County Durham has remained around the same 
over the last few periods compared to slight falls regionally and nationally.  
The latest data show that in the county 6.4% (15,900 working age people) of 
the working age population were unemployed in the year January to 
December 2017. Analysis over the longer term shows the unemployment rate 
is declining and tracking regional trends but remains higher than the England 
and Wales average of 4.5%. Youth unemployment (18 to 24 year olds 
claiming out of work benefits1) has increased from last year. Despite this, 
County Durham has a higher proportion of 16 to 17 year olds choosing to 
undertake an apprenticeship (see Appendix 5, Chart 8) pathway than England 
and North East averages (at December 2017). At the end of March 2018, 
9.6% of County Durham 16 to 17 year olds are confirmed as in 
apprenticeships, which compares well both regionally and nationally. 
Apprenticeships sustained for 15 months or more from Durham County 
Council schemes have increased since last year. DurhamWorks, a 
partnership project between Durham County Council and 16 organisations, 
continue to support young people who are not in education, employment or 
training. The partnership provides information, support and guidance that 
helps young people develop their skills and knowledge in the world of work 
through employment, volunteering, work experience, traineeships or 
apprenticeships.

13 Fewer gross potential jobs were created or safeguarded as a result of 
Business Durham activity this year. Registered businesses in the County 
continue to rise from 2011 when reporting began, and business occupancy 
rates of retail units show 11 of the 18 centres have an occupancy rate higher 
or in line with the national average (see Appendix 6).

14 Successful council intervention on housing development continues with a 
higher number of both empty properties brought back into use and new 
homes completed than last year. Homeless preventions have increased by 
almost a fifth on last year due to successful applications for discretionary 
housing payments and targeted work in this area. The focus has remained on 

1 ONS have advised that rollout of Universal Credit Full Service has affected the reliability of 
claimant count figures more than was anticipated and consequently analysis of this data series 
gives a misleading picture and should be interpreted with caution. 

Page 21

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


4

early intervention of homelessness and this will lead well into the introduction 
of the Homeless Reduction Act. 

Altogether Better for Children and Young People
15 Since the Ofsted inspection in spring 2016, children’s services have made 

good progress in some areas, but much more remains to be done. There are 
emerging strengths in the council’s approach to early help, our support for 
children in care and political and senior management oversight of our 
practice. Leadership focus is on accelerating improvements in the quality and 
consistency of our casework, continuing to reduce caseloads by ensuring fully 
staffed and skilled social work teams, and driving Durham’s new culture and 
associated behaviours across the whole children and young people’s 
workforce within the council and partner services.

16 From January 2018, a new universal inspection framework was introduced by 
Ofsted. The ILACS (Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services) focuses 
on the council’s functions regarding the help, care and protection of children 
and young people. A 12 month plan to improve the quality of social work 
practice in Durham has been developed as the service prepare for inspection 
under the ILACS framework.

17 In February 2018, Early Help, Assessment and Safeguarding Services were 
restructured to create an edge of care service (Supporting Solutions) and pre-
birth social work team. The service now provides a more targeted offer of 
early help for children and young people aged 0-19 years, delivered through 
early help teams known as One Point, alongside statutory social work teams 
known as Families First. The teams will work with children, young people and 
their families and continue to build strong links with schools, GP practices and 
partners, ultimately leading to better, more sustainable outcomes for children 
and young people.

Universal Services and Early Help
18 We continue to perform well across many key areas of universal services and 

early help. Improvement continues with slightly more children aged 0 to 2 
years in deprived areas (89.8%) registered with a children’s centre and 
having sustained contact compared to last year (88.1%). In relation to child 
health, under 18 conceptions continue to reduce; they are now at the lowest 
level since recording began in 1998. However, the level in County Durham 
remains significantly higher than the England rate. The Public Health 
Intelligence Team are to analyse data to identify hotspots in the County and 
enable targeted action to be taken. County Durham’s Teenage Pregnancy 
Partnership Board continues to implement the 2016-18 action plan delivering 
both universal and targeted interventions. 

19 Good progress continues with the timeliness of education health and care 
plans for children with special educational needs and disabilities, exceeding 
the target set. Despite poor performance at quarter one, and concern this 
would affect performance throughout the reporting year, the progress made 
has meant this is not a performance issue any longer. 

Page 22



5

20 A key issue throughout this year has been the Ofsted rating of Durham’s 
secondary schools.  During this quarter, one extra school was judged as 
requires improvement. Only 19 of the 31 secondary schools (61.2%) in 
Durham are now judged as outstanding or good, worse than the regional 
average (66%) and significantly worse than the national average (80%). This 
translates as 72.8% of Durham’s secondary school pupils studying at 
outstanding or good schools, better than the regional average (67.2%) and 
significantly worse than the national average (82.4%). Schools are now 
judged on the new progress 8 accountability measure in addition to the 
inspection outcome. Schools with a progress 8 score that is average or below 
average are invariably classed as Requires Improvement or Inadequate in 
their inspection outcome.  The council is coordinating joint projects to address 
key issues and sharing best practice regionally.  

Assessment and Safeguarding Services
21 Improvement has continued in the re-referral rate, with 900 (17.3%) of the 

5,195 children in need referrals occurring within 12 months of the previous 
referral. Performance has improved on the same period last year (18.5%) and 
is lower than national, regional and statistical neighbour comparisons. 
 

22 There are continued performance issues that still need to be addressed and 
kept under scrutiny:
(a) Social worker caseload levels;
(b) Quality of assessment and casefiles;
(c) Timeliness of single assessment;
(d) Timeliness of initial child protection conferences;
(e) Rate of children subject to a child protection plan.

23 Some progress has been made in reducing caseload levels per social worker, 
improving from the baseline of February 2016, when the Ofsted inspection 
took place but further improvement is still required. Social workers with fewer 
than 20 cases has improved from 41% to 44% and those with more than 30 
has decreased from 17% to 9%. Senior management are focusing on this 
issue as a top priority and operation and team managers are formulating new 
actions in order to improve.

24 Between January and March 2018, 33 case file audits were undertaken within 
statutory children’s social work teams. This is a significant reduction from the 
previous quarter due to workloads associated with the restructuring of 
Children’s Services. Of the 33 conducted during quarter 4, 18 (54%) were 
judged to be good or outstanding. This is in line with performance last quarter, 
and a 15% point improvement from 40% in March 2016 (following the Ofsted 
inspection) but the target to achieve at least 80% of audited cases by March 
2018 has not been met. Although it is too early to produce evidence, further 
improvements are anticipated following the restructure, with social work 
consultants having increased capacity to provide rigorous oversight and 
direction into cases to ensure quality.

25 A performance issue that emerged last quarter is the completion rate for 
single assessments. The rate completed within 45 working days has slightly 

Page 23



6

decreased from 83.3% last year to 79.6% this year. Performance is lower than 
the latest available national and regional benchmarking data. On average, the 
3,571 Single Assessments undertaken in the year to date were completed 
within 39 working days, an increase from 37 days in 2016/17. To manage the 
work within the statutory social work teams effectively, a pilot of a sample set 
of cases is underway to complete single assessments within 25 working days. 
If the quality of these pilot cases is proved to be up to standard, it will be rolled 
out across the Families First service from June 2018.

26 Continued focus has been placed on the timeliness of initial child protection 
conferences (ICPC)2. In 2017/18, 66.9% of strategy meetings initiated led to 
an ICPC being held within 15 working days timescale. Performance is below 
the target of 75%, worse than last year and national and regional benchmarks 
(2016/17). A large proportion of those that went out of timescale were due to 
late requests for a conference following the strategy discussion. Practice 
issues have been addressed with individual teams and strategies have been 
implemented to ensure requests for initial conferences are made within 6 days 
of the strategy meeting. 

27 As of the 31 March 2018, there were 498 children subject to a child protection 
plan, which equates to a rate of 49.7 (per 10,000 under 18 population). 
Although Durham’s rate has stabilised over the last year (see appendix 5, 
chart 3) and remains lower than the North East average, ranking fifth lowest 
out of 12 North East local authorities, it has increased significantly from two 
years ago and is still higher than the national average. Variations in practice 
between social work teams are being reviewed by management to assure 
consistency of decision making.

 
Looked After Children and Care Leavers

28 There were 798 looked after children (LAC) at the end of March 2018 in 
County Durham. The number of looked after children has plateaued during 
2017/18 following a steady increase, with numbers each quarter remaining 
close to 800 (see appendix 5, chart 2). The rate of children looked after per 
10,000 (0 to 17 years) population remains significantly higher than the 
national average but below the average rate for the North East and statistical 
nearest neighbours. Between April 2017 and March 2018, 54 (15%) children 
were adopted from care, in line with the target set.

29 Good progress has been made in relation to looked after children’s health with 
89.9% having had the required number of health assessments and 94.8% 
having had a dental check. Rates are better than last year and are now better 
than national averages.  

30 As of March 2018, the council had corporate parenting responsibility for 264 
young people (aged 17 to 21) who had left care, a particularly vulnerable 
cohort of young people. The wide range of support the council offers is good, 
with figures showing more care leavers in County Durham are in suitable 

2 An initial child protection conference (ICPC) must be convened following a Section 47 enquiry to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of a child who is suspected of, or likely to be, suffering significant 
harm.

Page 24



7

accommodation and in education, employment or training (EET) compared to 
both North East and national counterparts. The council has routinely provided 
young people who are looked after or care leavers the opportunity to 
participate in work experience placements during the school holidays. In 
addition, work is ongoing with Jobcentre Plus, who have introduced a marker 
that allows care leavers to be identified on their system and receive additional 
help when claiming benefits. Apprenticeships are now available for care 
leavers within council departments. The council is also developing a training 
programme for hard to reach young people, who are 18+ and termed as being 
long term NEET.  It is hoped that through this development, five young people 
will be supported to gain longer term employment opportunities. There are 
currently 41 young people in full time further education, 21 attending 
university as undergraduates and two embarking on a Master’s degree. 

31 A key performance issue highlighted previously that requires continued 
scrutiny is external residential accommodation for looked after children. The 
use of external residential placements for looked after children (LAC), 
including residential care and residential schools, still requires continued 
focus even though the use of these placements has stabilised over the last 
year; from 25 (3% of placements) last year to 27 (3.4% of placements) at 31 
March 2018.   Work is ongoing to ensure a good mix of placements are 
available for looked after children and avoid the need for external placements, 
unless for the need of specialist individual requirements.

Altogether Healthier
32 Positive progress has been made across some key health measures including 

improved self-reported wellbeing and 1,860 smoking quitters between April 
and December 2017, exceeding the contracted target. In terms of adult social 
care, low levels of delayed transfers of care from hospital continue, better 
than the same period last year and national and regional averages. Although 
the number of adults admitted on a permanent basis to residential or nursing 
care was higher than target, the number of bed days commissioned has 
reduced by 3% in 2017/18. Funding for adult social care was announced by 
Government in the Spring 2017 budget and as part of the Improved Better 
Care Fund, Durham was allocated £25 million (£13 million was allocated for 
2017/18, a further £8 million for 2018/19 and a final £4 million for 2019/20). 
This money was additional to current budgeted spend to be used for the 
purposes of meeting adult social care needs; reducing pressures on the NHS 
and stabilising the social care provider market.

33 Two ongoing performance challenges reported throughout this year are: 
(a) Breastfeeding prevalence;
(b) Mothers smoking at time of delivery:

34 Although breastfeeding prevalence has increased from last year, this is still an 
issue, as levels remain low. Evidence clearly shows that breastfeeding 
improves the health of both mother and baby and yet there remains 
inequalities in women choosing to breastfeed.  Plans to support the active 
promotion of breastfeeding across the County include a multi-agency 
communication plan and a review and relaunch of the breastfeeding friendly 

Page 25



8

business scheme in June 2018. Revised public health priorities and ambitions 
identify aspirational improvement targets for the next 10 years to reduce 
inequalities and narrow the gap both within the County and against England.

35 Mothers smoking at time of delivery has increased and is significantly higher 
than national and regional rates. Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
(DDES) has the second highest rate in the North East and sixth highest of all 
CCGs in England. The best start in life is a public health strategic priority for 
County Durham, which aligns with national and regional policy direction. 
Reducing smoking at time of delivery will impact significantly on clinical and 
safety outcomes for both mothers and babies and will work to address 
significant health inequalities. The incentive scheme to reduce smoking in 
pregnancy, currently being implemented in DDES, aims to address the high 
variance in smoking in pregnancy between DDES and North Durham.  Early 
data is showing good retention in the stop smoking service amongst these 
women.  However, the challenges of reducing smoking in pregnancy is 
evident as 61% of those recruited to the scheme live with a smoker. The full 
evaluation of the incentive scheme will be available late summer 2018. 
Between April and December 2017, 179 pregnant women set a quit date with 
the Stop Smoking Service of whom 119 (66%) women quit (self-reported) 
which is an improvement from the same period in 2016/17 (56%).

36 New data released this quarter highlight the following issues:
(a) Life expectancy;
(b) Healthy life expectancy;
(c) Mortality rate from preventable causes.

37 Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy can be used as important 
measures of the overall health of County Durham’s population. Mortality can 
also be used as an effective measure of health and wellbeing and inequality 
within and between areas. Reductions in premature mortality over time can 
demonstrate improvement in the health status of the population as a whole 
and results in increases in life expectancy. The data shows that people in 
County Durham are living longer but that there is still a significant gap 
between the life expectancy of men and women in County Durham and the 
England average. Healthy life expectancy is the average number of years a 
person would expect to live in very good or good health and although this has 
increased since the previous reporting period (2013 - 2015), there is also still 
a significant gap between County Durham and England for both men and 
women. The mortality rate from causes considered preventable continues to 
decrease and the gap between England and County Durham has narrowed, 
although it remains significantly higher. The overarching public health priority 
for County Durham is to reduce the gap in healthy life expectancy, which 
includes work to reduce smoking levels and developing work on a health and 
social care plan for County Durham.

Altogether Safer
38 Positive progress is evident across some key safer measures. There have 

been fewer anti-social behaviour incidents reported to the council and police 
although perceptions of the police and council dealing with concerns of ASB 

Page 26



9

and crime has decreased from the same period last year. Whilst the 
proportion of alcohol related anti-social behaviour has increased slightly, the 
number of incidents has reduced by 6.2%. Local data show the number of first 
time entrants to the youth justice system (aged 10 -17 years) for the financial 
year continues to fall and remains better than target. National data for the 
period October 2016 to September 2017 shows that Durham has the second 
lowest rate in the North East but is higher than the national average. 

39 Two ongoing performance challenges reported throughout this year are: 
(a) Crime rate;
(b) Successful completions of drug and alcohol treatment.

40 The level of recorded crime continues to be an issue with crime figures 
increasing significantly compared with last year. During April 2017 to March 
2018 recorded crime rose by 34% from the same period last year (36,404 to 
48,739). Durham’s recorded crime rate is 93.7 (per 1,000 population), higher 
than the rate of 70.4 for the same period last year. Increases are evident 
particularly in arson, vehicle crime, shoplifting, burglary and theft offences. 
Violent crime that is alcohol related has increased and the number of alcohol 
seizures has reduced since the same period last year. The police report that 
changes in recording practice have contributed to the majority of the increase 
in police recorded crime in order that the police are compliant with the national 
crime-recording standard. The recording changes include having a much 
stronger victim focus, in that forces must take a victim’s word that they have 
been a victim of crime unless there is evidence to say this is not the case, and 
the timing of when crimes must be recorded. Durham has increased the 
extent to which it complies with national crime recording standards and, 
following a recent inspection, its current compliance rate is now one of the 
highest in the country.   

41 Encouraging people to come forward to report cases of hate crime, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence have contributed to the increase. The police are to 
arrange a seminar for scrutiny members to better understand crime-recording 
changes and interpret performance data.

42 Although there have been more successful completions of those in drug and 
alcohol treatment compared to the same period last year, levels remain below 
target. Successful completions for opiate users are however, in line with 
national averages. The newly commissioned drug and alcohol recovery 
service in County Durham was launched on 1 February 2018 and a 
comprehensive contract monitoring process has been established to monitor 
future progress.

43 An area that requires further scrutiny is the number of people killed or 
seriously injured in road traffic accidents, which has increased by 13% during 
January to December 2017 compared to the same period last year. Although 
the number of fatalities has actually decreased, the proportion who have been 
seriously injured has increased. As advised last quarter, the introduction of a 
new national electronic system for recording road traffic collisions has 
changed the way casualty severity is ranked, increasing the number reported. 

Page 27



10

Analysis is being undertaken of those seriously injured and the results will be 
available shortly.  Overview and Scrutiny Committee are to undertake work in 
this area as part of its statutory role in scrutinising the crime and disorder 
reduction partnership as part of 2018/19 work programme. 

Altogether Greener
44 Street and environmental cleanliness is good. Although the latest survey 

period has seen increased levels of litter, detritus and dog fouling, levels 
across the county remain low. Fly-tipping incidents have seen a 4% reduction 
on last quarter (323 fewer incidents) but levels have remained relatively static 
over the last two years (see appendix 5, chart 5). 

45 We continue to divert more than 95% of our municipal waste from landfill 
(96.8%) although our household reuse, recycling and composting rate has 
remained static since 2015/16 and below the national average. In response to 
the national issue of single use plastics, the council is working on the Plastic 
Free Pledge by phasing out the use of unnecessary single use plastics in all 
Durham County Council buildings while also working with partners to 
encourage businesses, organisations and residents to be plastic free. An 
Officer Working Group is taking this forward overseen by Overview and 
Scrutiny members. 

Altogether Better Council
46 In relation to customer contact, there has been a significant increase over the 

past year in customers using web forms and social media to contact us and a 
direct correlation with the reduction of contact via the email channel (see 
appendix 5, chart 6). This is due to signposting activity to promote online 
request forms and website information and as a direct result of the removal of 
the help@durham.gov.uk email address from the contact us section of web 
pages that have an associated web form. The most used web forms have 
been Garden Waste, Bulky Waste, Bins not emptied, fly-tipping and road or 
footpath faults and the main requests on social media have been around 
refuse and recycling, highways and winter maintenance. 

47 Sickness absence has worsened compared to last quarter, increasing from 
10.7 days lost per full time equivalent (excluding schools) to 11.08 days, a 
3.6% increase. The proportion of sickness that is long term (more than 20 
days) has decreased from 69% to 65%. The council is committed to managing 
the attendance levels of its workforce and ensuring support is available to 
enable individuals to manage their health and wellbeing wherever 
possible. The majority of sickness absence is mental health related and the 
corporate training programme now includes a number of training initiatives 
such as mental health first aid pilot and establishing health champions across 
the council to raise awareness of this in the workplace.

48 The percentage of staff who had an appraisal within 12 months has worsened 
from 85.8% to 83.2%, and remains below target. Service Management Teams 
track appraisal rates each month and take appropriate action to address 
underperformance. A new simplified annual appraisal approach is under 
consideration and other tools to improve effectiveness of the employee 

Page 28

mailto:help@durham.gov.uk


11

performance management processes.

Page 29



12

Overall Performance of the Council 

Key Performance 

27,_x000d_27%4,_x000d_4% 70,
69% 27

Red (deteriorated (>2%))

Amber (worse but within 
2%)

Green (improved or static)

N/A (no comparison 
available)

All indicators - direction of travel

49 Throughout 2017/18, 73% (74) of our key performance indicators improved or 
maintained performance and 27% (27) deteriorated compared to 12 months 
earlier. 93% (68) of Council Plan actions have been achieved or are on target 
to be achieved by the deadline. 7% (5) of actions slipped. In the majority of 
cases work has been rescheduled and timescales reset as reflected in the 
recommendations at paragraph 52. 

50 Information and data to support the complete indicator set is provided at 
Appendix 4. A full copy of the exceptions, deletions, amendments and 
additions to council and service planning actions is available on request from 
performance@durham.gov.uk.

Risk Management
51 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s governance 

arrangement.  The council’s risk management process sits alongside our 
change programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects. Appendix 3 summarises key risks in delivering the 
ambitions for each priority theme and how we are managing them.

Key Data Messages by Altogether Theme
52 The next section provides a summary per Altogether theme of key data 

messages. The format of the Altogether themes provides a snap shot 
overview aimed to ensure that key performance messages are easy to 

Page 30

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


13

identify3. The Altogether themes are supplemented by information and data 
relating to the complete indicator set, provided at Appendix 4.  

3 Images designed by Freepik from Flaticon and Homelessness Outreach Service by Hawaii Open 
Data US, Houses by Laurene Smith FR, employment by Aneeque Ahmed, Retailer Store by Gan 
Khoon Lay, from the Noun Project

Page 31



P
age 32



P
age 33



www.youtube.com/watch?v=ckgLZp4VzGE 

P
age 34

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ckgLZp4VzGE
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ckgLZp4VzGE


P
age 35



P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



Recommendations and reasons
53 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is recommended to:

(a) note the council’s performance at quarter three;

(b) note all changes to the Council Plan outlined below:

Altogether Wealthier 
(i) The timescale to secure a developer for the North East Industrial 

Estate in Peterlee has been revised.  This has been a long-term 
project, and from progress made to date, it is now appropriate 
and timely to revise the timescales from March 2018 to a more 
realistic deadline of March 2020. 

Altogether Greener
(ii) A strategic review of street sweepings is complete and a food 

waste review business case is also complete. However a report 
on the findings needs to move through the democratic process 
to determine next steps and so this action has been revised to 
September 2018.

(iii) The development of a countywide Allotment Forum to embed a 
holistic approach to the management of allotments, increase 
community engagement and share best practice has been 
revised from March 2018 to March 2020. Considerable work has 
been undertaken with scrutiny to support the new policy and 
future management of allotments. Over the coming year the 
implementation of the new policy and management will be the 
focus. 

Altogether Better Council
(iv) There has been a delay in realigning operational practices as 

part of the fleet restructure to meet service delivery demands. 
Discussion with Trade Unions is ongoing.

(v) The timetable for the archives project was revised when the 
round 1 application was submitted in March 2018, to take 
account of advice from the regional Heritage Lottery Fund grants 
advisor. As a result, the target for submission of the stage 2 
applications has been revised from March 2019 to August 2019. 

Contact: Jenny Haworth    Tel: 03000 268071     

Appendix 1: Implications
Appendix 2: Report Key
Appendix 3: Risk Management
Appendix 4: Summary of key performance indicators
Appendix 5: Volume measures
Appendix 6: Occupancy rates of retail units
Appendix 7: Secondary Schools Require Improvement and Inadequate

Page 41



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance - Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service 
and financial planning.

Staffing - Performance against a number of relevant corporate health Performance 
Indicators (PIs) has been included to monitor staffing issues.

Risk - Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is integrated 
into the quarterly monitoring report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - Corporate health PIs are 
monitored as part of the performance monitoring process. 

Accommodation - Not applicable

Crime and Disorder - A number of PIs and key actions relating to crime and disorder 
are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Human Rights - Not applicable

Consultation - Not applicable

Procurement - Not applicable

Disability Issues - Employees with a disability are monitored as part of the 
performance monitoring process. 

Legal Implications - Not applicable

Page 42



Appendix 2: Report key  

Performance Indicators:

Direction of travel/benchmarking Performance against target 

 Performance is good or better than comparable period/benchmark
 Performance is poor or worse than comparable period/benchmark
↔ Performance has remained static or is in line with comparable 

period/benchmark

National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities 
varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils, for example 
educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste 
disposal is compared to district and unitary councils.

North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the 
North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, Hartlepool, 
Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and 
Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, Sunderland, The number of 
authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils.

Nearest Neighbour Benchmarking:
The nearest neighbour model was developed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), one of the professional accountancy bodies in 
the UK. CIPFA has produced a list of 15 local authorities which Durham is 
statistically close to when you look at a number of characteristics. The 15 authorities 
that are in the nearest statistical neighbours group for Durham using the CIPFA 
model are: Barnsley, Wakefield, Doncaster, Rotherham, Wigan, Kirklees, St Helens, 
Calderdale, Dudley, Northumberland, Tameside, Sheffield, Gateshead, Stockton-On-
Tees and Stoke-on-Trent.

We also use other neighbour groups to compare our performance.  More detail of 
these can be requested from the Corporate Planning and Performance Team at 
performance@durham.gov.uk.

Same or better than comparable 
period/comparator group GREEN Meeting/Exceeding target

Worse than comparable period / 
comparator group (within 2% 
tolerance)

AMBER
Getting there - performance 
approaching target (within 
2%)

Worse than comparable period / 
comparator group (greater than 
2%)

RED
Performance >2% behind 
target

Page 43

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 3: Risk Management  

Risk Management

1 The strategic risks identified as potential barriers to successfully achieving our 
objectives are listed against each Altogether theme.  These risks have been 
identified using the following criteria:

(a) Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or 
possible.

(b) Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable.
(c) Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable.

2 At 31 December 2017, there were 23 risks on the corporate strategic risk register, 
the same number as at 30 September 2017. During quarter three, no risks were 
added and none were removed. The following matrix categorises the strategic 
risks according to their net risk evaluation as at 31 December 2017.  To highlight 
changes in each category during the last quarter, the number of risks as at 30 
September 2017 is shown in brackets.

Corporate Risk Heat Map

Impact
Critical 1  (1) 4  (4) 1  (1)

Major 4  (4) 3  (3)

Moderate   9  (9) 1  (1)

Minor  

Insignificant  

 Likelihood Remote Unlikely Possible Probable Highly 
Probable

Key risks

3 At a corporate strategic level, key risks to the council, with their respective net 
risk evaluations shown in brackets, are:

(a) If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed MTFP savings projects, 
this will require further savings to be made from other areas, which may result 
in further service reductions and job losses (Critical / Possible);

(b) Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to at least 2019/20 will 
continue to have an increasing major impact on all Council services (Critical / 
Highly Probable);

(c) Failure to protect child from death or serious harm (where service failure is a 
factor or issue) (Critical / Possible);

(d) A service failure of Adult Safeguarding leads to death or serious harm to a 
service user (Critical / Possible);

(e) Major Interruption to IT Service Delivery (Critical / Possible).

Page 44



4 The implementation of additional mitigation on a number of risks has enabled the 
Council to improve performance, decision-making and governance, and this is 
detailed in the relevant sections of the report.

(a) Altogether Wealthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of 
this theme.

(b) Altogether Better for Children and Young People:   Failure to protect a 
child from death or serious harm (where service failure is a factor or issue). 
Management consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in addition 
to the severe impacts on children, will result in serious damage to the 
council’s reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. To 
mitigate the risk, actions are taken forward from Serious Case Reviews and 
reported to the Local Safeguarding Children Board. Lessons learned are fed 
into training for front line staff and regular staff supervision takes place. This 
risk is long term and procedures are reviewed regularly (Critical / Possible).

(c) Altogether Healthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of 
this theme.

(d) Altogether Safer: Service failure of Adult Safeguarding leads to death or 
serious harm to a service user. Management consider it possible that this risk 
could occur which, in addition to the severe impacts on service users, will 
result in serious damage to the council’s reputation and to relationships with 
its safeguarding partners. As the statutory body, the multi-agency 
Safeguarding Adults Board has a business plan in place for taking forward 
actions to safeguard vulnerable adults including a comprehensive training 
programme for staff and regular supervision takes place. This risk is long 
term and procedures are reviewed regularly (Critical / Possible).

(e) Altogether Greener: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of 
this theme.

(f) Altogether Better Council:  

i. If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) savings projects, this will require further savings 
to be made from other areas, which may result in further service 
reductions and job losses.  Management consider it possible that this 
risk could occur, which will result in a funding shortfall, damaged 
reputation and reduced levels of service delivery.  To mitigate the risk, 
a programme management approach for key projects has been 
established and embedded across the council. Monitoring by Corporate 
Management Team and Cabinet provides assurance over the 
implementation of the agreed MTFP savings projects. It should be 
recognised that this will be a significant risk for at least the next four 
years (Critical / Possible).

ii. Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to at least 
2019/20 will continue to have an increasing major impact on all council 
services. Management consider it highly probable that this risk could 
occur, and to mitigate the risk, sound financial forecasting is in place 
based on thorough examination of the Government's "red book" plans. 
This will also be a significant risk for at least the next four years 
(Critical / Highly Probable).

Page 45



iii. Major Interruption to IT Service Delivery. Corporate Management Team 
has approved a project to provide improved ICT resilience for the 
council’s main data centre. Design works to improve infrastructure and 
reduce the risk have now be completed and it is anticipated that work 
on site will commence in March 2018. (Critical / Possible).

Page 46



Appendix 4: Summary of Key Performance Indicators 

Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

Altogether Wealthier
1. Do residents have good job prospects?

1 REDP
I40

Proportion of the 
working age 
population defined as 
in employment

71.3 2017 Tracker 70.8 GREEN 75.0 RED 70.6* GREEN 2017

2 REDP
I88

Per capita household 
disposable income (£) 15,496 2015 Tracker 15,246 GREEN     

19,447 RED 16197
* RED 2015

3 REDP
I62

Number of 
apprenticeships 
started through 
Durham County 
Council  schemes [1]

222 2016/17 200 74 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

4 REDP
I105

Number of 
apprenticeships from 
Durham County 
Council schemes 
sustained at least 15 
months

913
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 719 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

5 REDP
I92

Number of gross 
potential jobs created 
or safeguarded as a 
result of Business 
Durham activity [2]

1,066 2017/18 1,300 2,404 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

6 CYPS
1

Percentage of 16 to 
17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship

9.6
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 9.1 GREEN 5.9 GREEN 8.1* GREEN As at Mar 2018P
age 47



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

7 REDP
I7a 

Number of 18 to 24 
year olds who are out 
of work and claiming 
either Universal Credit 
or Jobseekers 
Allowance (JSA)

2,335
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 2,120 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

8 REDP
I8b

Proportion of all 
Jobseeker's 
Allowance (JSA) 
claimants that have 
claimed for one year 
or more 

40.40
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 31.70 NA [3] No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing

9 REDP
I30

Number of empty 
properties brought 
back into use as a 
result of local authority 
intervention

198 2017/18 120 136 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

10 REDP
I10b

Number of net homes 
completed 1,339 2017/18 Tracker 1,335 GREEN No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

11 REDP
I36a

Number of clients who 
have accessed the 
Housing Solutions 
Service and for whom 
homelessness has 
been prevented

385
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 341 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

12 REDP
I10ai

Number of affordable 
homes delivered [2] 322 2016/17 200 262 GREEN No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

3. Is County Durham a good place to do business?

P
age 48



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

13 REDP
I87

Gross Value Added 
(GVA) per capita in 
County Durham (£)

16,513
2016

provision
al

Tracker 16,362 GREEN     
27,060 RED 19542

* RED 2016
provisional

14 REDP
I89

Number of registered 
businesses in County 
Durham

17,120 2017 Tracker 16,585 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?

15 NS06
a

Percentage of A roads 
where maintenance is 
recommended 
(scanner survey)

3 2016/17 Tracker 4 GREEN 3 GREEN 3* GREEN 2015/16

16 NS06
bc

Percentage of B and 
C roads where 
maintenance is 
recommended 
(scanner survey)

3 2016/17 Tracker 4 GREEN 6 GREEN 6* GREEN 2015/16

17 NS06
d

Percentage of 
unclassified roads 
where maintenance is 
recommended 
(scanner survey)

20 2016/17 Tracker 20 GREEN 17 RED 14* RED 2015/16

18 NS07
Highways 
maintenance backlog 
(£millions)

191.7 2016 Tracker 181 NA No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

5. How well does tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?

19 REDP
I100

Number of visitors to 
County Durham 
(million)

19.3 2016 Tracker 18.7 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

20 REDP
I101

Number of jobs 
supported by the 
visitor economy

11,158 2016 Tracker 10,961 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

P
age 49



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

21 REDP
I102

Amount (£ million) 
generated by the 
visitor economy

806 2016 Tracker 778 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

Altogether Better for Children and Young People
1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?

22 CYPS
24

Average attainment 8 
score/score for LA (all 
pupils at the end of 
key stage 4 in state-
funded mainstream 
and special schools 
and academies - 
replacing GCSE 
attainment) [4]

44.6
2016/17 

ac yr 
(final)

Tracker NA NA 46.4 RED 44.6* GREEN 2016/17 ac yr 
(final)

23 CYPS
27

Average point score 
per A level entry of 
state-funded school 
students 

31.9
2016/17 

ac yr
(final)

Tracker 31.9 GREEN 31.1 GREEN 30.8* GREEN 2016/17 ac yr 
(final)

24 CYPS
28

Percentage of pupils 
achieving the 
expected standard in 
Reading, Writing and 
Maths (at KS2) [5]

64.0
2016/17 

ac yr 
(final)

Tracker 59.0 GREEN 62.0 GREEN 65* AMBER 2016/17 ac yr 
(final)

25 CYPS
2

Percentage of 16 to 
17 year olds who are 
not in education, 
employment or 
training (NEET)  [6]

4.5 Dec 17 - 
Feb 18 Tracker 4.3 RED 2.7 RED 4* RED Dec 17 - Feb 

18

26 CYPS
25

Gap between the 
average Attainment 8 
score of Durham 

-13
2016/17 

ac yr
(final)

Tracker NA NA -12.8 AMBER -14.8* GREEN 2016/17 ac yr 
(final)

P
age 50



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

disadvantaged pupils 
and the average 
Attainment 8 score of 
non-disadvantaged 
pupils nationally (at 
KS4)[4][5]

27 CYPS
26

Percentage of children 
in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage 
achieving a Good 
Level of Development

72
2016/17 

ac yr 
(final)

64.0 69.0 GREEN 70.7 GREEN 70.7* GREEN 2016/17 ac yr
(final)

28 CYPS
29

Gap between the 
percentage of Durham 
disadvantaged pupils 
and the percentage of 
non-disadvantaged 
pupils nationally who 
achieve the expected 
standard in reading, 
writing and maths (at 
KS2)

-18
2016/17 

ac yr
(final)

Tracker -16.0 GREEN -20 GREEN -15* RED 2016/17 ac yr 
(final)

29 CYPS
30

Ofsted percentage of 
primary pupils in good 
or better schools

92
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 90 GREEN 90 GREEN 91* GREEN As at Mar 2018

30 CYPS
31

Ofsted percentage of 
secondary pupils in 
good or better schools

61.2
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 67 RED 80 RED 66* RED As at Dec 2017

31 CYPS
32

Exclusion from school 
of All Durham children 
- percentage of 
children with at least 
one fixed exclusion

1.9 2016/17 
ac yr Tracker 2.0 GREEN 2.11 GREEN 2.01* GREEN 2015/16 ac yrP

age 51



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

32 CYPS
38

Percentage of all 
school pupils eligible 
and claiming for Free 
School Meals (FSM)
 - Child Poverty Proxy

20.2 2016/17 
ac yr Tracker 20.2 GREEN 14.7 RED 19.9* AMBER 2016/17 ac yr

33 AHS1
Under 18 conception 
rate per 1,000 girls 
aged 15 to 17

21.6
Jan 2016 

- Dec 
2016

Tracker 26.4 GREEN 18.8 RED 24.6* GREEN Jan 2016 - Dec 
2016

34 AHS2
Proportion of five year 
old children free from 
dental decay

64.9 2014/15 Tracker New 
indicator NA 75.2 RED 72* RED 2014/15

35 AHS3

Alcohol specific 
hospital admissions 
for under 18's (rate 
per 100,000)

67.5
2013/14 

- 
2015/16

Tracker 72.8 GREEN 37.4 RED 66.9* AMBER 2013/14 - 
2015/16

36 AHS4

Young people aged 
10-24 admitted to 
hospital as a result of 
self-harm

489.4
2011/12 

- 
2013/14

Tracker 504.8 GREEN 367.3 RED 532.2
* GREEN

England - 
2011/12 - 
2013/14 

NE - 2010/11 - 
2012/13 

37 AHS5

Percentage of children 
aged 4 to 5  years 
classified as 
overweight or obese 

24.1 2016/17 
ac yr Tracker 24.3 GREEN 22.6 RED 24.5* GREEN 2016/17 ac yr

38 ASH6

Percentage of children 
aged 10 to 11 years 
classified as 
overweight or obese  

37.7 2016/17 
ac yr Tracker 37.0 AMBER 34.2 RED 37.3* AMBER 2016/17 ac yr

39 CYPS
33

Percentage of 
Education Health and 
Care Plans completed 

92.2
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

90.0 70.5 GREEN 64.9 GREEN 78.8* GREEN 2017

P
age 52



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

in the statutory 20 
week time period

2. Are children, young people and families in receipt of Early Help services appropriately supported?   

40 CYPS
22

Percentage of 
successful 
interventions (families 
turned around) via the 
Stronger Families 
Programme (Phase 2) 

30.3
Sep 

2014 - 
Jan 2018

50.4 13 GREEN 23.1 GREEN 27* GREEN Mar 2018

41 CYPS
23

Percentage of children 
aged 0-2 years in the 
top 30% IMD 
registered with a 
Children's Centre and 
having sustained 
contact

89.8
Jan - 
Dec 
2017

60 88 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

3. Are children and young people in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?

42 CYPS
14

Percentage of First 
Contact & EDT 
enquiries processed 
within 1 working day

85.4
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 73.4 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

43 CYPS
15

Percentage of 
statutory children in 
need referrals 
received which 
occurred within 12 
months of a previous 
referral

17.3
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 18.5 GREEN 21.9 GREEN 20.1* GREEN 2016/17

P
age 53



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

44 CYPS
16

Percentage of 
statutory single 
assessments 
completed within 45 
working days

79.6
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 83.3 RED 82.9 RED 83.1* RED 2016/17

45 CYPS
17

Rate of children 
subject to a child 
protection plan per 
10,000 population 
aged under 18

49.7
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 50.0 NA 43.3 NA 60.5* NA As at Mar 2017

46 CYPS
18a

Rate of children in 
need (proxy) per 
10,000 population 
aged under 18 (L4 
open cases ONLY)

341.0
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 340.7 NA 312 NA 339* NA 2016/17

47 CYPS
18b

Level 2/3 cases open 
to One Point Service - 
Rate per 10,000 
population aged under 
18 [7]

NA
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker NA NA No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

48 CYPS
18c

Level 3 cases open to 
Families First Teams - 
Rate per 10,000 
population aged under 
18

228.4
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 210.7 NA No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

49 CYPS
19

Percentage of 
strategy meetings 
initiated which led to 
an initial child 
protection conference 
being held within 15 
working days

66.9
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

75.0 73.6 RED 77 RED 86* RED 2016/17

P
age 54



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

50 CYPS
20

Percentage of Social 
Workers with fewer 
than 20 case

44.3
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 42.0 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

51 CYPS
21

Percentage of Case 
File Audits which are 
rated as good or 
better

54.5
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

80.0 50.0 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

4. Are we being a good corporate parent for Looked After Children?

52 CYPS
3

Rate of looked after 
children per 10,000 
population aged under 
18

79.6
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 80.8 NA 62 NA 92* NA As at Mar 2017

53 CYPS
4

Percentage of children 
adopted from care 
(as % of total children 
leaving care)

15.0
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

0.0 17.3 RED 14 GREEN 14* GREEN 2016/17

54 CYPS
5

Percentage of LAC 
who are in a foster 
placement

83.0
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 82.1 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

55 CYPS
6

Percentage of 
independent 
residential placement

3.4
As at 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 3.0 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

56 CYPS
7

Percentage of children 
looked after 
continuously for 12 
months or more who 
had a dental check

94.8
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 87.1 GREEN 83 GREEN 83* GREEN 2016/17

57 CYPS
8

Percentage of children 
looked after 
continuously for 12 
months or more who 
have had the required 

89.9
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 84.8 GREEN 89 GREEN 91* AMBER 2016/17

P
age 55



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

number of health 
assessments 

58 CYPS
9

Emotional and 
behavioural health of 
children looked after 
continuously for 12 
months or more 
(SDQ)

16.0 2016/17 Tracker 14.9 RED 14.1 RED 14.7* RED 2016/17

59 CYPS
10

Average Attainment 8 
score of Looked After 
Children [4][5]

21.9

2016/17 
ac yr
(final 

figure)

Tracker NA NA NA NA NA NA 2016/17 ac yr

60 CYPS
11

Percentage of LAC 
achieving the 
expected standard in 
Reading, Writing and 
Maths (at KS2)

35.0
2016/17 

ac yr
(final)

Tracker 44.0 RED 32 GREEN 33* GREEN 2016/17 ac yr

61 CYPS
12

Percentage of care 
leavers aged 17-21 in 
education, 
employment or 
training (EET)

61.4
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 69.5 RED 52 GREEN 50* GREEN 2015/16 ac yr

62 CYPS
13

Percentage of care 
leavers aged 17-21 in 
suitable 
accommodation

89.0
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 90.4 AMBER 84 GREEN 86* GREEN 2015/16 ac yr

Altogether Healthier
1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?

63 AHS1
2

Percentage of 
mothers smoking at 
time of delivery 

17.8
Oct - 
Dec 
2017

15.9 17.4 RED 10.8 RED 16.3* RED Oct - Dec 2017

P
age 56



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

64 AHS1
3

Four week smoking 
quitters per 100,000 
smoking population

2,463
Apr - 
Dec 
2017

2,258 2,025 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

65 AHS7 Male life expectancy 
at birth (years) [8] 78.0 2014-

2016 Tracker 78.1 AMBER 79.5 AMBER 77.8* GREEN 2014-2016

66 AHS8
Female life 
expectancy at birth 
(years) [8]

81.3 2014-
2016 Tracker 81.2 GREEN 83.1 RED 81.5* AMBER 2014-2016

67 AHS9
Healthy life 
expectancy at birth 
[Female]

59 2014-
2016 Tracker 57 GREEN 63.9 RED 60.6* RED 2014-2016

68 AHS1
0

Healthy life 
expectancy at birth 
[Male]

59.1 2014-
2016 Tracker 58 GREEN 63.3 RED 59.7* AMBER 2014-2016

69 AHS1
4

Excess weight in 
adults (Proportion of 
adults classified as  
overweight or obese)

67.5 2015/16 Tracker New 
indicator NA 61.3 RED 66.3* AMBER 2015/16

70 AHS1
1

Suicide rate (deaths 
from suicide and injury 
of undetermined 
intent) per 100,000 
population 

12.6 2014 - 
2016 Tracker 15.7 GREEN 9.9 RED 11.6* RED 2014 - 2016

71 AHS3
8

Prevalence of 
breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth

28.9
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 26.8 GREEN 43.7
Not 

compar
able

33*
Not 

comparabl
e

Oct - Dec 2017

72 AHS4
0

Estimated smoking 
prevalence of persons 
aged 18 and over

17.9 2016 Tracker 19.0 GREEN 15.5 RED 17.2* RED 2016

P
age 57



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

73 AHS4
1

Self-reported 
wellbeing - people 
with a low happiness 
score

6.9 2016/17 Tracker 11.5 GREEN 8.5 GREEN 8.7* GREEN 2016/17

74 NS21
Participation in Sport 
and Physical Activity: 
active

60.9

May 
2016 - 
May 
2017

Tracker 62.2 RED 60.6 GREEN No 
Data NA May 2016 - 

May 2017

75 NS22
Participation in Sport 
and Physical Activity: 
inactive

24.5

May 
2016 - 
May 
2017

Tracker 25.4 GREEN 25.6 GREEN No 
Data NA May 2016 - 

May 2017

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?

76 AHS1
8

Adults aged 65+ per 
100,000 population 
admitted on a 
permanent basis in 
the year to residential 
or nursing care

691.7
Apr 2017 

- Feb 
2018

677.0 764.1 GREEN 628.2
Not 

compar
able

843*
Not 

comparabl
e

2015/16

77 AHS2
0

Proportion of older 
people who were still 
at home 91 days after 
discharge from 
hospital into 
reablement/ 
rehabilitation services

89.1
Jan - 
Dec 
2018

85.9 87.8 GREEN 82.7
Not 

compar
able

85.5*
Not 

comparabl
e

2015/16

78 AHS1
6

Percentage of 
individuals who 
achieved their desired 
outcomes from the 
adult safeguarding 
process 

96.2
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 95.6 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

P
age 58



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

79 AHS1
7

Percentage of service 
users receiving an 
Assessment or 
Review within the last 
12 months

86.4
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 87.2 AMBER No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

80 AHS2
1

Overall satisfaction of 
people who use 
services with their 
care and support

63.6 2016/17 Tracker New 
indicator NA 64.4

Not 
compar

able
67.2*

Not 
comparabl

e
2015/16

81 AHS2
2

Overall satisfaction of 
carers with the 
support and services 
they receive

43.3 2016/17 Tracker New 
indicator NA 41.2

Not 
compar

able
49.3*

Not 
comparabl

e
2014/15

82 AHS1
9

Daily Delayed 
transfers of care beds, 
all per hospital per 
100,000 population 
age 18+

3.4 Feb 
2018 Tracker 3.6 GREEN 11.9 GREEN  GREEN At November 

2017

83 AHS2
3

The proportion of 
adult social care 
service users who 
report they have 
enough choice over 
the care and support 
services they receive

73.1 2016/17 Tracker New 
indicator NA 67.6 GREEN NA NA 2016/17

Altogether Safer
1. How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?

P
age 59



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

84 CYPS
35

First time entrants to 
the youth justice 
system aged 10 to 17 
(per 100,000 
population of 10 to 17 
year olds) [8]

277
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

582 382 GREEN 357
Not 

compar
able

413**
Not 

comparabl
e

2015/16

85 AHS2
4

Overall crime rate (per 
1,000 population) [8] 93.7

Apr 2017 
- Mar 
2018

Tracker 70.4 RED 76.19 RED 77.42
** RED Apr 2017 - Feb 

2018

86 AHS2
5

Rate of theft offences 
(per 1,000 population) 
[8]

28.1
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 24.2 RED 31.53
Not 

compar
able

29.88
**

Not 
comparabl

e

Apr 2017 - Feb 
2018

87 AHS2
6

Proportion of all 
offenders (adults and 
young people) who re-
offend in a 12 month 
period

32.4
Jul 2015 

- Jun 
2016

Tracker 0.0 RED 29.5
Not 

compar
able

35.9*
Not 

comparabl
e

Apr 2015 - Mar 
2016

88 CYPS
36

Proven re-offending 
by young people (who 
offend) in a 12 month 
period (%) 

43.8
Jul 2015 

- Jun 
2016

Tracker 0.0 RED 41.5 RED 47.6* GREEN Jul 2015 - Jun 
2016

2. How effective are at tackling Anti-Social Behaviour?

89 AHS2
7

Dealing with concerns 
of ASB and crime 
issues by the local 
council and police [5] 
[8] [9]

54.4
Jan - 
Dec 
2017

Tracker 62.9 RED No Data NA 55.3** AMBER Jan - Dec 2017

90 AHS2
8a

Number of police 
reported incidents of 
anti-social behaviour 
[8] 

15,349
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 17,515 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

P
age 60



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

91 AHS2
8b

Number of council 
reported incidents of 
anti-social behaviour 

12,249
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 14,668 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

3. How well do we reduce misuse of  drugs and alcohol?

92 AHS3
1

Percentage of 
successful 
completions of those 
in alcohol treatment  

31.9

Oct 2016 
- Sep 
2017 

with reps 
to Mar 
2018

38.4 28.6 GREEN 38.6 RED 30.8* GREEN
Oct 2016 - Sep 
2017 with reps 

to Mar 2018

93 AHS3
2

Percentage of 
successful 
completions of those 
in drug treatment - 
opiates 

6.4

Oct 2016 
- Sep 
2017 

with reps 
to Mar 
2018

7.8 6.2 GREEN 6.6 GREEN 5.2* GREEN
Oct 2016 - Sep 
2017 with reps 

to Mar 2018

94 AHS3
3

Percentage of 
successful 
completions of those 
in drug treatment - 
non-opiates  

30.1

Oct 2016 
- Sep 
2017 

with reps 
to Mar 
2018

44.2 26.9 GREEN 36.6 RED 27.4* GREEN
Oct 2016 - Sep 
2017 with reps 

to Mar 2018

95 AHS2
9

Percentage of anti-
social behaviour 
incidents that are 
alcohol related  

16.5
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 15.4 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

96 AHS3
4a

Percentage of 
secondary school 
pupils who drink 
alcohol (Most 
Weekends / Every 
weekend / Every Day)

13.0

2017 
survey 

(snapsho
t Jan - 

Apr 
2017)

Tracker 13.3 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

P
age 61



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

97 AHS3
4b

Percentage of 
Secondary School 
pupils who have taken 
any illegal drugs, 
including cannabis or 
NPS (formerly known 
as legal highs)

5.9

2017 
survey 

(snapsho
t Jan - 

Apr 
2017)

Tracker New 
indicator NA No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

98 AHS3
0

Percentage of violent 
crime that is alcohol 
related 

25.5
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 24.9 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

99 AHS3
6 Alcohol seizures 944

Apr 2017 
-Mar 
2018

Tracker 1362 NA No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?

100 AHS3
5

Building resilience to 
terrorism (self 
assessment). Scored 
on level 1 (low) to 5 
(high)

3 2017/18 Tracker 3 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

101 CYPS
34

Number of child 
sexual exploitation 
referrals [8]

177
Apr 2017 

- Mar 
2018

Tracker 155 NA No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

5. How  do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?

102 REDP
I44

Number of people 
killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic 
accidents 

204
Jan - 
Dec 
2017

Tracker 180 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

  Number of fatalities 18   21   NA NA NA  

  Number of seriously 
injured 186   159   NA NA NA  

P
age 62



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

103 REDP
I45

Number of children 
killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic 
accidents 

19
Jan - 
Dec 
2017

Tracker 18 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

  Number of fatalities 0   0   NA NA NA  

  Number of seriously 
injured 19   18   NA NA NA  

Altogether Greener
1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?

104 NS14
a

Percentage of 
relevant land and 
highways assessed 
(LEQSPRO survey) 
as having deposits of 
litter  that fall below an 
acceptable level 

5.57

Dec  
2017 - 

Mar 
2018

Tracker 5.80 GREEN 10 GREEN No 
Data NA 2014/15

105 NS14
b

Percentage of 
relevant land and 
highways assessed 
(LEQSPRO survey) 
as having deposits of 
detritus that fall below 
an acceptable level 

11.72

Dec 
2017 - 

Mar 
2018

Tracker 9.79 RED 27 GREEN No 
Data NA 2014/15

106 NS14
c

Percentage of 
relevant land and 
highways assessed as 
having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below 
an acceptable level

1.07

Dec 
2017 - 

Mar 
2018

Tracker 0.96 RED 7 GREEN No 
Data NA 2014/15

2 Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?

P
age 63



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

107 REDP
I46

Percentage reduction 
in CO₂ emissions in 
County Durham (by 
40% by 2020 and 
55% by March 2031)

49.9 2015 Tracker 48.00 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

108 REDP
I48

Percentage change in 
CO₂ emissions from 
local authority 
operations

-14 2016/17 Tracker -6.00 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

3. How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?

109 NS10
Percentage of 
municipal waste 
diverted from landfill

96.8 2017 95.0 95.3 GREEN No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

110 NS19

Percentage of 
household waste that 
is re-used, recycled or 
composted

39.6 2017 Tracker 39.4 GREEN 43.0 RED 35.3* GREEN 2015/16

111 NS15 Number of  fly-tipping 
incidents 7,617 2017/18 Tracker 7,768 GREEN No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

Altogether Better Council
1. How well do we look after our people?

112 RES/0
11

Percentage of 
performance 
appraisals completed 
in current post in 
rolling year period 
(excluding schools)

83.21 2017/18 92.00 87.89 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

113
RES/L
PI/012

a

Days / shifts lost to 
sickness absence – all 11.08 2017/18 11.20 10.48 RED No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

P
age 64



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

services excluding 
school staff

114 RES/0
52

Percentage of posts 
with no absence in 
rolling year (excluding 
schools)

56.46
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 56.27 GREEN No Data NA  NA No Period 
Specified

115 RES/0
19a

% of sickness 
absence which is 
short term

19.62
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 19.62 NA No Data NA  NA  

116 RES/0
19b

% of sickness 
absence which is 
medium term

15.75
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 17.04 NA No Data NA  NA  

117 RES/0
19c

% of sickness 
absence which is long 
term

64.60
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 63.35 NA No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

118 RES/0
53

Percentage of 
employees having five 
days or less sickness 
per 12 month rolling 
period

77.97
Jan - 
Mar 
2018

Tracker 78.42 NA No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

2. Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?

119 RES/0
02

Percentage of council 
tax collected in-year 96.83 2017/18 96.80 96.69 GREEN 97.20 AMBER 95.8* GREEN 2016/17

120 RES/0
03

Percentage of 
business rates 
collected in-year

98.42 2017/18 97.80 97.78 GREEN 98.20 GREEN 98.13
* GREEN 2016/17

3. How good are our services to customers and the public?

121 NS26
Average time taken to 
answer a telephone 
call (seconds)

52 2017/18 Tracker 43 RED No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

SpecifiedP
age 65



Ref PI ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Period 
target

Data 12 
months 
earlier

Performance 
compared to 
12 months 

earlier

Performance 
compared to 

National figure 

Performance 
compared to 
*North East  

figure
**Nearest 
statistical 

neighbour  figure

Period 
covered

122 NS20 Percentage of 
abandoned calls 5 2017/18 Tracker 6 GREEN No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

123 NS43
a

Number of customer 
contacts - face to face

148,66
4 2017/18 Tracker 169,071 NA No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

124 NS43
b

Number of customer 
contacts -telephone

962,23
7 2017/18 Tracker 978,068 NA No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

125 NS43
c

Number of customer 
contacts - web forms 94,499 2017/18 Tracker 67,414 NA No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

126 NS43
d

Number of customer 
contacts - emails 53,211 2017/18 Tracker 70,465 NA No Data NA No 

Data NA No Period 
Specified

127 NS43
e

Number of customer 
contacts - social 
media

3,235 2017/18 Tracker 2,112 NA No Data NA No 
Data NA No Period 

Specified

[1] Funding required to continue the programme has not been secured 
[2] Target is an annual target
[3] Since August 2015 out of work claimants who are single with no dependants will  be claiming Universal Credit. Information on long term claimants is 
not available therefore this PI no longer represents all long term  out of work claimants.
[4] Due to a change in methodology, 2016/17 Ac Yr data cannot be compared to the previous academic year.
[5] Previous period data amended /refreshed
[6] The high number of school leavers whose status is 'not known' impacts significantly on this indicator
[7] Due to the restructure in One Point and Family First Teams, this indicator is no longer avirable. A new measure will be introduced from the new year.
[8] Data 12 months earlier amended/refreshed
[9] A confidence interval applies to the survey results

P
age 66



 Appendix 5:  Volume Measures
Chart 1. Children in need referrals within 12 months of previous 
referral

Chart 2. Looked after children cases

Chart 3. Children with a child protection plan Chart 4. First Contact Volume and Process Rate

P
age 67



Chart 5. Fly-tipping incidents Chart 6. Customer contacts

 

Chart 7. Freedom of Information/Environmental Information 
Regulations requests

Chart 8. 16-17 year olds in Apprenticeships

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18
16-17 Cohort 10250 10222 10303 10011 9953 9903 9750 9566 9389
16-17 in Apprenticeships 11140 11143 10927 10924 10946 10939 10277 10364 10381

16-17 year olds in Apprenticeships in County Durham

P
age 68



Appendix 6: Occupancy rates of retail units in County Durham  

Town Total Units 2016/17 2017/18
Percentage points 

difference from
national average*, 88.9%

Occupancy rates

Durham City 398 93% 91% 2 pp higher

Bishop Auckland 382 82% 79% 10 pp lower

Chester-le-Street 304 88% 85% 4 pp lower

Consett 220 92% 89% in line

Spennymoor 205 87% 85% 4 pp lower

Barnard Castle                                                                                182 96% 95% 6 pp higher

Seaham 154 94% 90% 1 pp higher

Crook 144 92% 92% 3 pp higher

Peterlee 123 86% 85% 4 pp lower

Stanley 118 86% 86% 3 pp lower

Newton Aycliffe 102 77% 79% 10 pp lower

Shildon 96 92% 85% 4 pp lower

Ferryhill 88 96% 94% 5 pp higher

Dalton Park 78  92% 3 pp higher

Dragonville 38 89% 92% 3 pp higher

Tindale 37 100% 100% 11 pp higher

Arnison 33 100% 97% 8 pp higher

Hermiston 17 100% 100% 11 pp higher

 Occupancy rates of retail units in Bishop Auckland (79%) and 
Newton Aycliffe (79%) show the biggest gap against the 
available national average levels (88.9%).

 11 out of 18 centres have an occupancy rate higher or in line 
with the national average.

 The highest occupancy rates (100%) within the county are at 
the defined district centres of Tindale and Hermiston, followed 
closely by Arnsion (97%). These locations offer more modern 
style retail park shopping destinations with free parking and 
larger units.

 Barnard Castle has the highest occupancy rate (95%) and 
Ferryhill the second highest (94%) of all the traditional town 
centres in County Durham. 

* September 2017, Local Data Company – private company who carry out their own survey, therefore data to be treated with caution.

P
age 69



Appendix 7: Secondary Schools Require Improvement and Inadequate

Ofsted ratings are as of 31 March 2018, 12 out of 31 schools 
judged as Requires Improvement or Inadequate 

(M): Maintained Schools, (A): Academy

P
age 70



Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

22 June 2018

Customer Feedback Report 
Year end, 2017/18

Joint Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources; Jane 
Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services; and 
Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services

Purpose of the Report

1 To present to Members the Customer Feedback: Complaints, Compliments and 
Suggestions report for 2017/18 Year End; the Annual Statutory 
Representations report  for Children’s Social Care Services 2017/18; and the 
Annual Statutory Representations report for Adults Social Care Services 
2017/18 (full reports attached at Appendix 2).

Background 

2 The report in relation to the Council’s performance and key issues regarding 
corporate and statutory complaints, compliments and suggestions provides 
invaluable insight into customer feedback on service delivery; their perception 
of how the Council is dealing with issues important to them locally and also 
how we apply our policies and procedures. It is used, alongside performance 
data, to identify key areas for improvement and is used to track trends and 
highlight areas which need further consideration or which are emerging as key 
issues. 

3 There are two main areas of complaints; those which are classed as 
“statutory” complaints which arise from our duties as a local social services 
authority and “corporate” complaints which cover all other areas. As both 
aspects are essentially customer feedback on delivery of services, albeit there 
are different processes supporting resolution, they are all reported quarterly in 
a combined report which is considered by Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board. 

Year end, 2017/18

4 The report at Appendix 2 provides a breakdown of all Customer Feedback 
received by the Council during the 2017/18 financial year. It summarises the 
Council’s performance in dealing with corporate and statutory complaints, 
explores the themes and identifies the actions we will take to not only put 
things right for an individual but to improve wider service provision. The report 
also provides positive feedback in the form of compliments across services 
and also suggestions from customers as to what they think we should 
consider to improve service provision.

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



Recommendations

5 Members are asked to note the information in the report.

Contact:  Alan Patrickson                                         Tel. 03000 268165
E-Mail: alan.patrickson@durham.gov.uk

Page 74



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – Information on financial remedies in relation to the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman is included within the report

Staffing – None.

Risk – None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – Complaints regarding any 
equality and diversity aspect are handled in consultation with the Council’s Equality 
Team.

Accommodation – None.

Crime and Disorder – None.

Human Rights – None.

Consultation – None.

Procurement – None.

Disability Issues – Complaints and suggestions in relation to disability will be 
considered in line with the Council’s Equality approach and Corporate Team.

Legal Implications – None.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Putting our 
Customers first 

 

Customer Feedback Report 
 

Complaints,  
compliments and 
suggestions 
 

Year end 
2017/18 
 

Appendix 2

Page 77



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |2 

 

Background information 

 

1. Customer feedback is a valuable tool.  It not only helps us understand what is important 

to service users and what we are doing well, it can also indicate any issues and offer us 

the opportunity to put things right and improve our services.   

 

2. Covering a range of customer feedback, this report highlights the main themes 

throughout 2017/18 (1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018).  As feedback can highlight 

opportunities for operational improvement, the report includes a selection of customer 

suggestions and their outcomes, an overview of comments relating to our decision 

making and a summary of customer satisfaction through compliments and surveys.  It 

also summarises our performance in dealing with complaints, identifies any lessons 

learned and states what remedial action we have taken, or plan to take, to put things right 

and ensure similar mistakes are avoided in the future.   

 

Customer Suggestions 
 

3. We believe suggestions are essential to the ongoing development and improvement of 

our services, and carefully consider all received. During 2017/18, we received 493 

suggestions.  

 

4. More than 60% of the suggestions received related to one of the following three frontline 

services; waste collection and disposal (183 suggestions), clean and green (61 

suggestions) and highways (59 suggestions).   

 

5. Although we consider every suggestion, not all of them can be implemented. For 

example, we regularly receive suggestions that propose changes to our road system. 

However, when looked at in the context of countywide traffic flows, many would have 

knock on effects to the traffic flows elsewhere if they were to be implemented.  

 

6. A sample of suggestions received during 2017/18 and their outcomes is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

Customer feedback relating to our policies and procedures 
 

7. Our service provision reflects our policies and procedures, and during 2017/18, we 

received 310 items of feedback as a direct consequence of carrying out actions in line 

with those policies and procedures.  We use this feedback to inform our policies and 

procedures at their review. 

 

8. Almost three quarters of this feedback can be attributed to our household waste policies 

and procedures. The most frequent topic (182 contacts, accounting for almost 60% of the 

contact relating to our policies and procedures) was dissatisfaction that we did not empty 

or we permanently removed a bin due to contamination.  We are continuing our 

Page 78



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |3 

 

educational programme, which includes waste awareness campaigns including Bin it 

Right, door knocking, roadshows and school educational sessions.  

 

9. Other contacts relating to household waste policies and procedures covered a wide 

range of issues in small numbers. These included; only providing residents with an 

additional bin if the household has six or more people permanently living there; excluding 

hard plastics from the kerbside recycling scheme; not collecting side waste; only 

permanently removing wheeled bins which are empty; delays at Household Waste 

Recycling Centres (HWRCs) as a result of compacting waste; not collecting recycling in 

black bags; inability to purchase items directly from a HWRC; not allowing customers to 

dispose of another person’s waste at our HWRCs; not being able to transfer a garden 

waste subscription to a new property and the requirement to leave bulky waste at the 

designated Bin Collection Point.  

 

10. 35 residents used the complaints system to register dissatisfaction with our winter 

maintenance policy.  The main issues were the customer’s perceived lack of gritting (26) 

or being refused a permanent salt bin (eight). 

 

11. We received 10 contacts about our revenues and benefits policies and procedures. The 

majority (seven) objected to subjecting unoccupied properties to 100% council tax for the 

first two years, and then 150% if they remain unfurnished, which is a slight decline (-2) on 

2016/17. 

 

12. Our Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project (SLERP), to upgrade 41,000 streetlights 

and remove up to 7,000, started in June 2013.  During 2017/18, we received seven 

objections to these upgrades / removals.  

 

13. The remaining contacts covered a range of areas including; application process for a 

postal vote; stray dogs; not taking children on term time holidays; highway maintenance; 

traffic management; speed management installations. 

 

 

Customer feedback relating to decision making 

 

14. 227 contacts objected to decisions we had made. 91% related to operational decisions 

and 9% to strategic decisions. 

 

15. Of the 206 objections to an operational decision, 88 instances (43%) related to our 

decision to suspend household waste collections due to inclement weather.  A number of 

lessons were learned from this situation and the following actions are to be implemented:  

 Arrangements put in place to wherever possible reflect service disruption during 

shutdowns or out of hours on the main telephony messaging system. 

 Crews will undertake additional training and be reminded of the importance of 

recording missed addresses accurately. 

Page 79



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |4 

 

 We will arrange, where appropriate, website messages in conjunction with social 

media messages. Where practicable, we will give advance warning to elected 

members if their ward is affected by any disruption to collections 

 System development work to provide better feedback for customers logging missed 

collections due to the weather via the self-service portal.  

 Consideration of the extension of the student app, which allows text alerts for weather 

disruption as well as reminders of collection day and materials that can be recycled, 

to be available to all households. 

 

16. The remaining contacts related to various operational decisions including enforcement 

decisions (36 instances), decisions relating to highway works (24 instances), changes to 

an individual’s service provision (nine), planning decisions (eight), provision of leisure 

services (six).  12 decisions related to the operational elements of an organised event, 

mainly Lumiere, e.g. traffic management, ticketing. 

 

17. Of the 21 objections to a strategic decision, the most frequent topic related to an 

organised event (eight), mainly Lumiere or the Brass Festival.  Other objections to 

strategic decisions included closing schools to use as polling stations during elections 

(three) and not having weekly collections (two). 

 

 
Customer feedback relating to our fees and charges 

 

18. 45 contacts related to our fees and charges, which we review annually and allow us to 

provide local services that might not otherwise be possible.  

 

19. Two-thirds (31 contacts) cited dissatisfaction with waste charges. The majority (18, which 

is 24 fewer than 2016/17) were unhappy with the £20 replacement bin charge. The 

remaining 13 contacts were objections to the garden waste charge and is broadly in line 

with the number received in 2016/17, even though the number of sign ups to the scheme 

has increased.  

 

20. The remaining contacts related to library costs (photocopying / overdue book charge), 

transport /parking costs, bereavement costs, pest control charges and the level of 

Council Tax. 

 
 
Compliments  
 
21. We also receive many positive comments about our staff and the services we provide, 

and we believe that understanding what is working well and valued is as important as 

knowing what is not working as well.   

 

22. During 2017/18, we received 1,243 compliments, 360 in relation to social care services 

and 883 in relation to other services. These compliments recognise not only the 

Page 80



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |5 

 

motivation, dedication and hard work of our staff but also the high standard and value of 

the services we provide.  The majority of the compliments related to satisfaction with 

service provision but a number of compliments conveyed thanks to specific individuals.  

 

23. Customers were particularly complimentary about our frontline staff and service 

provision, the most common themes being standard of work, prompt service and how 

polite, pleasant and helpful staff are.  

 

24. Our Clean and Green Team received the most compliments (181) with customers 

appreciating our efforts to keep their local environment clean and tidy.  We also received 

several compliments about our wildflower planting schemes. 

 

25. During quarter 4, approximately one fifth of compliments (66 instances) were from 

customers appreciative of our efforts to keep people moving by ploughing / salting 

/gritting the highway during the inclement weather. 

 

26. Other frontline services that received customer recognition were our refuse and recycling 

service, both the household collection service and the HWRCs, our Highway 

Maintenance Team, Customer Services, the Durham County Record Office and Care 

Connect. 

 

27. Many of the compliments received were from customers who wished to express their 

gratitude where staff have gone the extra mile.  As far as we are able, we have passed 

these thanks onto the individuals concerned.  

 

28. A small sample of compliments received is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

 
Customer Satisfaction (CRM) 

 

29. Our customers now have the opportunity to provide feedback in relation to both contact 

and service delivery as part of the closure process within the Customer Relationship 

Management (CRM) system.  Since 31 October 2017, a satisfaction questionnaire has 

been applied to 23 service requests. A list of these service requests is attached at 

Appendix 3.  

 

30. Between 31 October 2017 and 31 March 2018, we received 1,400 completed 

questionnaires through which customers answered a series of questions in relation to 

their experience. The following graph shows the split by service request. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31. Further analysis, by question, has been completed on the returned questionnaires and 

the results shown below: 

 

% of respondents who.. 

..found it easy to contact the right service in the council 94% 

..were informed of the length of time it would take to resolve 52% 

..were provided with clear information 89% 

..were treated with dignity and respect 95% 

..were informed of progress 82% 

..felt their request was handled in a knowledgeable and effective manner 94% 

..were satisfied with how their initial contact was handled 92% 

..were satisfied with service delivery 85% 

..were satisfied with the time taken to complete their request 88% 

 

32. Although performance is positive, in order to drive further improvement we asked those 

customers who were dissatisfied the reasons why.  Their comments included: 

 Although we actioned the service request, we did not inform the customer of any 

enforcement action or what we intend to do to prevent the issue reoccurring 

 Our processes were overly complicated 

 We did not complete the task to the customer’s satisfaction 

 Difficulty hearing the messages on our telephone system 

 Not being able to determine which service area to use 

 Having to report an issue through our website when they’ve already reported through 

fixmystreet.com 

 We did not deliver in line with our stated timescales and in some cases informed the 

customer we had completed the task when we hadn’t 

Page 82



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |7 

 

 

33. In order to further engage with customers over their appetite for online transactions, we 

asked customers who did not request service through our website the following question: 

You can request many of our services online through the council’s website. Why did you 

choose another method? 

 

34. We received 625 replies as shown in the following table; 

 

Response 
No. of 

responses 
% of total 
responses 

I thought it would be easier or quicker using another method 167 27% 

I prefer to use a different method 148 24% 

I tried online but had problems with the system 90 14% 

I didn’t know it was available online 81 13% 

It was an urgent enquiry 57 9% 

Difficulties accessing the internet 38 6% 

Other 26 4% 

It isn’t available online 13 2% 

I don’t think my data will be handled securely 5 1% 

TOTAL RESPONSES 625  

 
 

Customer Satisfaction (Assisted Digital Support) 
 

35. Where customers have needed additional support to progress their online claim for 

Universal Credit, through the Assisted Digital Support provided by Customer Services, 

staff have captured customer feedback through a short survey. The results from Phase 1 

rollout in October 2017 to 31 March 2018 (284 customers) show: 

 89% were ‘extremely satisfied’ with the level of service they received  

 33% of customers said they needed other help and were provided with advice on how 

to access the Welfare Assistance Scheme, Food Banks, Housing Solutions and the 

Money Advice Service. 

 23% had heard about our service through Durham County Council channels 

(website/leaflets/CAPs) and 49% through their job centre work coach. 

 25% gave additional comments on their experience – see examples below: 

- Thank you so much for your help today - I would not have been able to make this claim 

without you. 

- All of the staff were very helpful and friendly. I could not have asked for any better service  

- Excellent help & support given. I was really pleased with the help I got. 

- Extremely satisfied with the level of service and help and support given. Excellent service. 

Thank you couldn't of done it alone. 

 

Page 83



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |8 

 

36. The survey has also enabled us to capture information about Universal Credit claimants 

needing digital assistance: 

 The most popular electronic device used by claimants is a smartphone at 47%.  29% 

do not own an electronic advice.   

 50% do not have access to the internet at home 

 71% are aware of the different locations where customers can access the internet or 

use self-serve devices  

 88% did not require help with their personal budgeting  

 

 

Customer complaints 

 

37. Within this document, there are two types of complaint.  Statutory complaints that arise 

from our duties as a local social services authority and corporate complaints that cover all 

other complaints.  As each complaint type is subject to its own processes and policy, they 

are reported separately. 

 

38. The first stage in the corporate complaints process enables service areas to resolve the 

issue in the first instance, providing a service response. Should the customer remain 

dissatisfied with the service response they can escalate to the Customer Feedback 

Team, who will either progress with an independent investigation, or advise the service 

user to contact the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (the Ombudsman).  

Independent investigation of statutory complaints is arranged by the statutory complaint 

teams. 

 

39. Further detail of statutory complaints received during 2017/18 are included in the 

separate reports at Appendix 6. 

 

 

Statutory Complaints: Children’s Social Care Services 
 

40. During, 2017/18, Children’s Social Care Services received 109 statutory complaints, 2% 

more (+2) than during 2016/17.   

 

41. Just over half of these complaints related to Families First teams (56) with Child 

Protection teams being the second most complained about service area (31). The most 

common reason for complaint was staff attitude (25) closely followed by disagreement 

with an explanation or decision (23).  

 

42. 106 complaints were responded to during 2017/18. Three investigations are ongoing at 

the time of writing this report. Of these 106 completed complaints, 65 were not upheld 

(61%), 15 were upheld (14%) and 26 partially upheld (25%). 

 

43. During 2017/18, a number of actions were taken in response to complaints including; 

Page 84



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |9 

 

 Revising procedures relating to Special Guardianship Orders and scheduling staff 

training. 

 Implementing a new model of social work practice “Signs of Safety” to support staff to 

build and maintain collaborative partnerships with parents and children. It is 

anticipated that this will improve relationships between staff and the children, young 

people and families they work with, and as a result will reduce dissatisfaction linked to 

communication and the conduct of staff. 

 

 

Statutory Complaints: Adult Social Care Services 
 

44. During 2017, 18, Adult Care Services received 104 statutory complaints, 19% more (+17) 

than during 2016/17. 

 

45. Just over half of these complaints related to Older People / Physical Disabilities / Sensory 

Impairment (53) with Learning Disabilities / Mental Health / Substance Misuse being the 

second most complained about service area (26). The most common reason for 

complaint was a disputed decision where a service user disagrees with an explanation or 

decision (30). 

 
46. 101 complaints were responded to during 2017/18. Three investigations ongoing at the 

time of writing this report and only one failing to be responded to within the agreed 

timescale. Of these 101 complaints, 59 were not upheld (58%), 12 were upheld (12%) 

and 30 partially upheld (30%). 

 
47. During 2017/18 a number of actions were taken in response to complaints including: 

 Addressing issues with the Community Equipment Service to improve the provider’s 

performance and contract compliance. 

 Improving referral forms for the handyman service by including the urgency/priority 

level of the work that needs undertaking. 

 Implementing a change in work processes where DCC takes responsibility for 

managing a service user’s finances to ensure the smooth transfer of their direct 

debits. 

 
 
Corporate Complaints: Key Messages 

 

48. During 2017/18, we received 2,202 corporate complaints, 276 more than during 2016/17. 

We have completed investigations into 2,069 of these complaints and 65% were upheld 

(fully or partially).  This increase is partly due to a 30% increase in missed collections 

(+136) compared to 2016/17.  

 

49. There were eight main reasons for complaint. The following graph shows the split by 

volume.   

 

Page 85



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |10 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

50. During 2017/18, our waste collection service completed more than 12 million refuse and 

recycling collections, 1.2 million garden waste collections and 32,000 bulky collections. It 

also received 1,370 complaints (46% of the total).  It received 71% of all service failure 

complaints (mainly missed collections), a third of all staff behaviour (mainly altercations 

arising from access issues [parked cars, inappropriate road use] or not collecting bins 

due to contamination) and a third of all quality of service (mainly not returning bins to 

their collection points and spillages). It also received 17% of all communication 

complaints mainly from customers unhappy not to have received advance notification of 

a change to their bin collection days. 

 

51. Across all services, the most frequent category of complaint was service failure. The vast 

majority (603 complaints), equating to almost 70% of the category and 30% of all 

corporate complaints, was due to missed collections. We have completed investigations 

into 586 of these complaints and 87% were upheld. The customer addresses of those 

upheld have since been flagged as ‘priority’ to prevent the issue reoccurring. Those 

missed collection complaints that were not upheld were mainly due to confusion over 

either the Bin Collection Point, which we have since clarified with customers, or policies, 

for example, not realising assisted collection does not automatically transfer to a new 

property. 

 

52. The remaining service failure complaints related to either not actioning the customer’s 

service request (164), for example repairing a faulty streetlight or delivering a 

replacement bin, or not providing an update or response to the customer’s service 

request (38). During 2017/18, we received in the region of 300,000 service requests. 

 

53. During quarter 3, we became aware that some customers received email confirmation 

that their request was complete prior to the task being carried out, leading the customer 

to believe we had not done what we said we would.  This was caused by records being 

closed when the job was allocated rather than when the job was completed. Record 

closure triggers the automatic email confirmation. Teams have been reminded of the 

correct procedure and have undertaken additional training and awareness. 

Page 86



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |11 

 

 

54. The second most frequent cause for complaint was quality of service. Of the 449 

received, almost one-third (132 complaints) were due to staff practices, mainly due to 

refuse and recycling crews not returning the customer’s bin to the Bin Collection Point 

(73). Other staff practices that resulted in customer dissatisfaction included staff making 

a mess whilst carrying out their duties (16), refuse and recycling crews leaving gates 

open (eight) or staff working in what the customer perceived as being a dangerous 

manner (eight). 

 

55. A fifth of quality of service complaints (91 complaints) related to our maintenance 

activities. The majority of these complainants felt we were neglecting specific areas and / 

or allowing standards to deteriorate to an unacceptable level, and related to the general 

condition of council assets (31 complaints), for example, the condition of highways, car 

parks, cemeteries, playgrounds, and the condition of the customer’s local environment 

(20 complaints), for example, cleanliness standard of streets, back alleys or areas of 

derelict land.  A further 35 complainants felt that when we did carry out maintenance 

activities, for example, cutting the grass, repairing the highway, the standard of our work 

was inadequate. 

 

56. The other main topics for quality of service were spillages (58 complaints) and not 

permanently resolving an issue (45 complaints). The vast majority relating to spillages 

occurred during household waste collection; mainly broken glass.  We have reminded 

refuse and recycling crews to clean up any spillages that occur.  Not permanently 

resolving an issue mainly involved enviro-crime, anti-social behaviour or parking. 

Although we responded to the request for service, we did not implement a long-term 

solution to prevent it re-occurring. Many of these complainants are asking for increased 

enforcement. 

 

57. Staff behaviour (346 complaints) was the third most frequent cause for complaint and 

almost half of these complaints originated from our frontline services of refuse and 

recycling and highway services.  

 

58. There were three broad areas of complaint. The two most frequent were received in 

equal numbers (104 complaints each). The first was that our staff were rude, unhelpful or 

dismissive of the customer’s issue or query, for example, ignoring customers who 

approach them in the street, not appearing to listen properly to a customer query.  The 

second was that our staff behaved in an aggressive or intimidating manner, for example, 

swearing or shouting at customers who approach them in the street. A third area, 

complaints that our staff were driving council vehicles in a dangerous manner, for 

example, speeding, tailgating, near miss, using a mobile phone, received 70 complaints. 

Following these complaints, some staff have undergone additional training. 

 

59. 62% of administration complaints related to issues with either bills or payments (125 

complaints), the majority (98 complaints) questioning our accuracy but we also received 

a small number relating to issues with direct debits (9 complaints) or receiving refunds (7 

complaints). 

Page 87



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |12 

 

 

60. 48 complaints concerned issues with correspondence, for example, addressing to the 

wrong person or sending to the wrong address (27 complaints), losing or misplacing 

documents (eight complaints) or asking for the same information multiple times (six 

complaints). 

 

61. Of the administration complaints, 125 related to Council Tax, Housing Benefit and 

Council Tax Reduction (CTR). However, these teams maintain a database of over 

244,000 properties and process in the region of 23,000 new claims and 250,000 changes 

each year. Any errors identified were corrected as soon as the issues were raised. All 

staff involved have been made aware of the errors and reminded of the correct 

procedures. We also seek to minimise the risk of error by automating processes to 

reduce manual intervention and carrying out quality assurance interventions. We use any 

identified trends and patterns to further develop training plans and inform process 

reviews.  

 

62. The introduction of Open Channel forms will help automate processes ensuring that 

customer contacts are managed efficiently and accurately and therefore should help to 

reduce complaints. These are customised web-based forms that collect information, 

which is then validated and used to automatically update Council Tax accounts, in real 

time. The forms will update when a customer moves into, out of or within the area and for 

single person discount. These forms have been rolled out to customers via the Customer 

Relationship Management System (CRM) to allow self-service. 

 

63. 80% of communication issues were due to one of two issues. The first related to us 

giving advice that was inaccurate, misleading, confusing or caused upset (52 

complaints). The second was not giving the customer advance warning of a change (49 

complaints), almost half of which followed the change in bin collection days. 

 

 

Corporate complaints subjected to independent investigation 
 
64. During 2017/18, 136 complainants requested that we escalate their complaint to the next 

stage.  We agreed it would be appropriate that 98 of these be subject to an independent 

investigation by the Customer Feedback Team. This was based on the service response, 

remedy already offered and the reasons given by the customer for the escalation. We 

completed investigations into 93 complaints of which 10 were partially upheld, details of 

which are attached at Appendix 4.   

 

65. During quarter 4, 2017/18, we received 25 requests for escalation. We completed 

investigations into 14 complaints of which 3 were partially upheld, as shown in the table 

below: 

 

Page 88



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |13 

 

Complaint Action to be taken 

Lack of action taken to 

address parking issues 

surrounding the construction 

site on Vigo Lane, Chester-le-

Street 

We have apologised for the lack of response that occurred 

due to a breakdown in communication between parking 

services and strategic highways. 

The removal of advertising 

banners without notice by the 

Enforcement Team 

We have apologised for inaccurate correspondence. 

We will review out processes to ensure enforcement officers 

accurately document any actions they take and the 

justification for doing so. 

Written guidance for staff will be produced regarding the 

removal of illegal advertising banners, in particular from 

private property 

Dissatisfaction with the service 

provided by the drainage team 

We have apologised for the lack of initial communication 

  

 

Complaints to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (the 

Ombudsman) 

 

66. During 2017/18, the Ombudsman delivered decisions in relation to 75 complaints. 

Conclusions were reached based on details supplied by complainants and supplemented 

in some instances with contextual information from Council officers.   

 

67. Of these complaints, four were found to be outside the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction, one 

was referred back to the council to deal with under our complaints procedure, and in 55 

cases, no further action was proposed. The Ombudsman upheld 15 complaints as 

detailed in Appendix 5. 

 

68. During quarter 4, 2017/18, the Ombudsman delivered decisions in relation to 27 

complaints.  Of these complaints, no further action was proposed in 23 cases. The 

Ombudsman upheld four complaints as detailed in the following table: 

 

Ombudsman’s final decision Action to be taken 

There was fault in the way the Council 

communicated over the complainant’s care 

needs. 

The Council has apologised and agreed to 

take action to prevent similar faults from 

occurring. 

The Council was at fault for failing to properly 

investigate safeguarding allegations against 

the complainant 

The Council to apologise and pay £200 for the 

distress caused 

Page 89



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |14 

 

Ombudsman’s final decision Action to be taken 

The Council was at fault in how it handled a 

complaint about a children’s service matter.   

The Council will change its procedures so 

complainants are informed whether their 

complaint will be handled under statutory 

procedures, and if the complainant is 

dissatisfied with their stage 1 response, they 

will be given sufficient information to decide 

whether to request a stage 2 investigation. 

There was fault in the actions of a social 

worker dealing with the complainant’s family.   

The Council to apologise and pay £500 to 

recognise the frustration the social worker’s 

actions caused the complainant. 

Steps to be taken to prevent a repeat.  

 

 

  

Page 90



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |15 

 

Appendix 1:  Sample of suggestions received during 2017/18 

 

You said We did 

Introduce a process across Refuse and Recycling 

services to inform customers when we plan to do 

something, e.g. repair a bin (so customer can put 

the bin out), return for a missed collection (so bin 

is not left out for days and those on assisted 

collection can unlock gates etc.) or pick up a 

bulky collection (thereby limiting the time the 

goods are left out). 

Plans are in place, as part of the CRM/Bartec 

project work, to implement these suggestions 

Introduce a collection and recycling service for 

food waste 

We are reviewing whether this would be both 

feasible and cost effective. We are working on 

this project with a national organisation called 

WRAP (Waste Resources Action Programme) 

which is the national advisory body on waste and 

recycling and is providing the funding for this 

research. The final WRAP report has been 

produced and initial findings will be reported to 

REAL Management Team May 2018. 

Allow waste permits to be printed at home to 

ensure fast delivery and save postage costs 

To be considered as part of the digitisation 

project.   

 

NB: we request the detailed waste description to 

ensure the customer does not have a wasted 

journey as not all HWRCs accept all waste types.   

Increase the number of waste permits customers 

can request in each application from the current 

three. 

Remove the requirement to list all items to be 

disposed of when applying for a waste permit as it 

is too cumbersome. 

Open the online booking portal for the following 

week’s leisure centre activities earlier  

 

The portal has been re-configured. The ‘too soon 

to book’ restriction for the following week has 

been removed and bookings for the following 

week can be made at any time during the day.  

Advertise changes to the public swim timetable 

more widely 

 

All swimming galas and lane closures are now 

advertised as soon as the booking is confirmed 

via notices at several locations throughout the 

building, not just the customer information board, 

in addition to our website. 

Reception staff and duty staff are fully informed 

well in advance and have the information readily 

to hand 

Be able to report nuisance bonfires causing public 

health issues via the website 

Our web form has been updated 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |16 

 

You said Reason for non-implementation 

Use wheeled bins for glass collection rather than 

recycling boxes which tend to disappear in windy 

conditions. 

Our wheeled bins are 240 litres in size and if filled 

with glass, they would be too heavy for the lifting 

mechanism on our vehicles 

Increase the number of skips available for use at 

each HWRC to allow more cars to access the site 

and make it easier and quicker for residents to 

dispose of their waste.  

The sites are managed to ensure that as many 

skips as physically possible are placed on site 

and the compaction and emptying of skips is as 

efficient as possible. We have processes in place 

which allow skips to be compacted safely within a 

cordoned off area whilst customers are on site, 

this has helped manage traffic congestion and 

ease the time for residents to dispose of their 

waste. 

Remove the bus lane on the A690 towards 

Gilesgate to prevent traffic delays experienced in 

the current single lane arrangement 

The length of the current two-lane section 

ensures that the maximum volume of traffic can 

enter the junction from the A690 whenever a 

green signal is given. Therefore, even if we 

removed the entire bus lane, the time taken for 

motorists to travel from the A1(M) into the city 

would remain unchanged 

Round up Council Tax payments for those who 

can afford slightly more in order to support council 

services that might otherwise be cut.   

As Council Tax is governed by legislation, it is not 

possible to implement this suggestion 

Do not follow up a sticker on a contaminated bin 

with a letter if it’s the first occurrence 

The processes associated with recording 

contamination, including letters, have been 

reviewed. A first stage letter is required to provide 

recycling advice to the resident. 

 

 
 
  

Page 92



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |17 

 

Appendix 2: sample of compliments received during quarter 4, 2017/18 
 

Customer’s Comments 

I just wanted to compliment your gardens department on the wildflower beds that have been appearing 

around our area. I meant to do it a year or so ago. It's great to know the council and gardeners are 

considering our wildlife whilst providing residents with a pretty display of natural wild flower meadows.  

Keep up the great work! 

Members of the public have praised an employee who works in Consett Town Centre cleaning the 

streets.  He goes that "extra mile" to keep the area clear, and is knowledgeable about the town centre, 

and very polite in his dealings with the public 

I just wanted to compliment the staff at your Tudhoe recycling centre. They are brilliant !  I'm unable to 

lift heavy objects at the moment and your staff willingly helped my wife to tip quite heavy garden waste 

- thank you so much for your help, here's one Council Tax payer who really appreciates the service 

you give. 

Customer wishing to thank recycling/refuse crew for their hard work over the Christmas period. Bins 

have been emptied on time with excess waste being collected without any problems. Customer says 

crew are always courteous and hardworking throughout the year as whole. 

Customer would like to say thank you to the Clean and Green Team for clearing up all the mess and 

paint spilled all over the pavement that he reported to us on 21st December and said they did a 

fantastic job and deserved a good pat on the back and it was that clean and tidy you can eat you 

dinner up off the pavement! 

Would like to commend the agent who dealt with his case for good service and getting the job done 

Thanks to Care Connect who attended her parents home on 27 Dec when her mother collapsed. 

Wants us to thank him as he was super in supporting both her parents. Unsung community heros!! 

Customer has been in to the CAP for support with her Universal Credit application over the last few 

days and has finally got everything set up and her application submitted. She wanted to say how 

grateful she was for our guidance and patience as she would never have managed to submit an 

application on her own without this help. 

May i add my massive thanks to EVERYONE who worked to keep the road and footpath networks 

clear and working 

Customer tel to pass her compliments on regarding the recent 'your guide to Council Services 2018'.  

Customer advised, she was very impressed with the booklet. 

I would like to compliment your officer in Sacriston library she is very polite, helpful and always smiling 

she has made a massive positive impact on the library it feels so much more vibrant and fresh and 

most importantly welcoming. 

Customer would like to pass on her thanks to the highways team for fixing the pothole she reported 

yesterday. She advised that she called quite late in the day and she is absolutely delighted that this 

has already been repaired.  She would like to ensure the team get the recognition they deserve for 

their efficient work and making the road safe again. 

Customer wanted to say a massive thank you to our officer for all the help she has given him over the 

last months, even when she has hit a brick walk she has never given up trying to help and he wanted 

her to know that he thinks she is an amazing person 

  

Page 93



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |18 

 

Appendix 3: satisfaction questionnaires are applied to the following service requests 
 

 Abandoned shopping trolleys 

 Bin – request help with your bin 

 Bonfires 

 Bus stop and shelters 

 Dead animal removal 

 Dog bins and litter Bins 

 Dog fouling 

 Flyposting 

 Fly tipping 

 Garden Waste 

 Graffiti 

 Grass cutting, shrubs and flower beds 

 Litter 

 Needles and drug paraphernalia 

 Roads or footpath obstruction – vehicular 

 Roadworks 

 Rubbish in gardens and yards 

 Seating and Benches 

 Spilt Rubbish 

 Street lighting 

 Traffic lights and crossings 

 Tree or hedge pruning, removal 

 Waste permits 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 94



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |19 

 

Appendix 4:  Corporate complaints subjected to independent investigation during 
2017/18 that were upheld (note – all complaints were partially upheld) 
 

Complaint Action to be taken 

The complainant was not included in 

a consultation process regarding 

tree felling. 

We have implemented a new practice, which involves an 

updated consultation list and handover record to the case 

officer, which will make internal policy more robust and 

reduce the likelihood of further consultation errors.  

Council has apologised for the error. 

The complainant was not included in 

a planning consultation process 
A change from a paper-based system to an electronic 

system resulted in this oversight.  However, this objection 

would not have affected the planning officer’s final 

decision. 

Council has apologised for the error. 

We did not collect a bulky collection 

from the back garden as agreed. We 

did not return telephone calls from 

the customer who was trying to 

resolve the issue. 

We apologised and returned to collect the bulky waste. 

We have also revised the customer’s Bin Collection Point.  

The customer checked My Durham 

to see if they would be affected by 

the change in bin collection days but 

no collection information existed for 

their property. 

The information on My Durham has been updated 

 

Dissatisfaction with our live Twitter 

feed, specific to the Teaching 

Assistant report considered by 

County Council. 

Although the twitter feed was a factual representation of 

what occurred at the meeting, it did not present alternative 

views. 

We are reviewing our methods of communication and 

considering alternatives such as live streaming. This would 

eradicate any perceived perceptions that the Council does 

not reporting impartially.  

No response to the customer’s 

service request to clear a cycle lane 
The work requested, whilst partially completed, did not 

appear on the Clean and Green maintenance schedule.   

We are now checking that all cycle paths are included 

within our internal systems so are suitably maintained. 

Time taken to secure an appropriate 

lease on a DCC property. 
We needed to prioritise tasks due to resources. 

Consequently, the premises in question were not occupied 

sooner.  

Lack of action taken to address 

parking issues surrounding the 

construction site on Vigo Lane, 

Chester-le-Street 

We have apologised for the lack of response that occurred 

due to a breakdown in communication between parking 

services and strategic highways. 

Page 95



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |20 

 

Complaint Action to be taken 

The removal of advertising banners 

without notice by the Enforcement 

Team 

We have apologised for inaccurate correspondence. 

We will review out processes to ensure enforcement 

officers accurately document any actions they take and the 

justification for doing so. 

Written guidance for staff will be produced regarding the 

removal of illegal advertising banners, in particular from 

private property 

Dissatisfaction with the service 

provided by the drainage team 
We have apologised for the lack of initial communication 

 
 
 

  

Page 96



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |21 

 

Appendix 5:  Complaints to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman during 
2017/18 that involved maladministration and injustice 
 

Ombudsman’s final decision Action to be taken 

The Council delayed processing a 

disabled facilities grant, which 

resulted in the complainant not 

having appropriate home 

adaptations. 

The Council is to apologise and pay £2,750 in recognition of the 

injustice suffered due to the delay and £100 redecoration costs. 

The Council is to review procedures relating to Disabled 

Facilities Grants to avoid other people being similarly affected. 

The Council was not at fault when 

it stopped the complainant’s 

Discretionary Housing Payment 

(DHP). But it unduly delayed 

recognising their health and care 

needs could justify further DHPs. 

This caused financial hardship. 

The Council had already taken action to remedy the issues 

before the Ombudsman’s decision and to the Ombudsman’s 

satisfaction. 

The Council corrected the DHP error within five days and 

revised its original decision in relation to the complainant’s 

health conditions. 

The Council failed to give the 

complainant enough information 

about how to proceed with a 

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) or 

the process. This caused delay and 

confusion.  

The Council is to apologise for the delay and a lack of clear, 

written information about the DFG process, pay £500 for the 

frustration and uncertainty caused, explain the process to the 

complainant and immediately progress any application made by 

the complainant. 

The Council is to make its DFG policy, procedures and 

processes publically available. This should include all stages 

and timescales, the use of panels, appeal mechanisms and 

detail of when an enquiry becomes an application (for meeting 

the legislative timescale of six months). 

The Council was at fault due to 

significant delays in investigating a 

noise complaint 

The Council to apologise for the delay and pay the complainant 

£150 to acknowledge the frustration and uncertainty caused. 

The Council delayed carrying out 

transition assessments and then 

withdrew weekly overnight respite 

sessions for almost three months. 

The Council is to apologise for the fault found and pay the 

complainant £1,000 (£750 for the lost respite care and £250 for 

time and trouble). 

The Council is to review its policies and procedures for 

responding to requests for transition assessments to ensure 

they comply fully with statutory guidance. 

The Council failed to stop debt 

recovery letters in a timely manner. 

The Council to apologise for the fault and the distress caused. 

The Council was wrong to include 

the value of the joint home the 

complainant shares with her 

daughter and son-in-law in its 

assessment of the contributions 

she would need to pay if admitted 

to a care home. 

The Council has now revised that decision, agreed to apologise, 

review its procedures and pay the family £500 for the distress at 

the prospect of having to sell their home. 

Page 97



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |22 

 

Ombudsman’s final decision Action to be taken 

The Council was not at fault when 

it made the complainant’s wife the 

sole liable person for Council Tax 

after she moved into the 

complainant’s rented property.   

The Council was at fault for not 

discussing the account with the 

complainant when the matter 

escalated to court action against 

his wife for the unpaid bill. 

The Council has agreed to pay £100. 

The Council was at fault because 

Care Connect did not have a 

proper process in place for 

accessing the property of the 

complainant’s mother. 

There was a delay in contacting the 

emergency services and the 

operator placed the complainant’s 

mother on hold without telling her 

why.  

Care Connect also failed to update 

the complainant’s contact details. 

The Council has agreed to pay the complainant £350 in 

recognition of the distress caused and a further £350 in 

recognition of the uncertainty caused. 

The Council has also changed some of its procedures.  

There was fault in the way the 

Council communicated decisions 

regarding changes to the care 

service provided to the 

complainant’s son. 

Although the Council was entitled 

to decide that service provision 

should change, it should have 

discussed this significant change 

before implementing it. 

The Council has agreed to pay the complainant £150 in 

recognition of the shock and distress caused.  

The Council will offer to meet with the complainant and his son 

to discuss the change to service provision and determine 

whether a different configuration would be more appropriate to 

their needs. 

The Council assessed the social 

needs of the complainant’s father 

each time he was discharged from 

hospital. It also considered the 

professional judgement of those 

involved with his medical care 

when planning his social care.   

However, there is no evidence to 

show the Council explained 

residential care charges to the 

complainant, who made an 

uninformed decision and incurred 

avoidable top-up fees.  

The Council has agreed to apologise, remind officers of the 

importance of providing notice to families and service users 

about meetings and to reimburse the top up fees incurred.  

The Council has also agreed to inform the Ombudsman of the 

measures it has in place – or intends to put in place – to ensure 

service users and their families are given clear advice about 

social care funding to enable them to make well informed 

decisions. 

Page 98



Year-end, 2017/18 report    |23 

 

Ombudsman’s final decision Action to be taken 

There was fault in the way the 

Council communicated over the 

complainant’s care needs. 

The Council has apologised and agreed to take action to prevent 

similar faults from occurring. 

The Council was at fault for failing 

to properly investigate 

safeguarding allegations against 

the complainant 

The Council to apologise and pay £200 for the distress caused 

The Council was at fault in how it 

handled a complaint about a 

children’s service matter.   

The Council will change its procedures so complainants are 

informed whether their complaint will be handled under statutory 

procedures, and if the complainant is dissatisfied with their stage 

1 response, they will be given sufficient information to decide 

whether to request a stage 2 investigation. 

There was fault in the actions of a 

social worker dealing with the 

complainant’s family.   

The Council to apologise and pay £500 to recognise the 

frustration the social worker’s actions caused the complainant. 

Steps to be taken to prevent a repeat.  

 

Page 99



 

 

  

Children’s Social Care Services 
2017-2018 
 

Appendix 6 

Page 100



Page 1 of 16 

 

Annual Statutory Representations Report  
Children’s Social Care Services 2017-2018  
 

 

Contents 

 

                       

Introduction 
 

2 

What is a complaint? 
 
How does the complaints process work?  
 
Support during the complaints process 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
  
Overview of representations in 2017-2018 
 

5 

Who made complaints? 
 
Complaints at stage 1  
 

5 
 

7 

Complaints at stage 2 
 

8 

Complaints at stage 3  
 

9 

Compliance with timescales  
 
Complaints considered by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
 
Compliments 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 

Learning and Service Improvement  
 
Effectiveness of the complaints procedure 
 
 
Appendices  
 
Appendix 1: Statistical Data  
 
Appendix 2: Examples of Compliments  
 

12 
 

14 
 
 
 
 

15 
 

16 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 101



Page 2 of 16 

 

Introduction  

 
Welcome to Durham County Council’s (DCC) Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS) 

Annual Report which details representations (complaints and compliments) made in relation to 

children’s social care services.  It is a legal requirement for every local authority to produce an 

annual report about the complaints it has received throughout the year. This report covers the 

period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.  

 
Durham County Council want every child, young person and family to be able to achieve better 

outcomes. When they are facing problems the Council want to support them well to overcome 

those problems. We listen to children, young people and families to help us understand their 

experiences of the service, and we use this feedback to help make changes when appropriate. 

Having an effective process for managing complaints and compliments helps us to ensure that the 

voices of children and young people are heard.   

 

What is a complaint? 

 
The Children Act 1989 states that a “complaint may be generally defined as an expression of 

dissatisfaction or disquiet in relation to an individual child or young person, which requires a 

response.”  

 
Guidance produced by the Department for Education called “Getting the Best from Complaints” 

was published in 2006 and helps local authorities to implement the Children Act 1989 complaints 

procedures with a clear emphasis on resolving problems quickly and effectively and learning from 

them.  

 
The guidance explains that complaints can arise as a result of many matters relating to statutory 

social services functions including: 

 

 An unwelcome or disputed decision;  

 Concern about the quality or appropriateness of a service; 

 Delay in decision making or provision of services; 

 Delivery or non-delivery of services including complaints procedures; 

 Quantity, frequency, change or cost of a service;  

 Attitude or behaviour of staff; 

 Application of eligibility and assessment criteria;  

 The impact on a child or young person of the application of a local authority policy;  

 Assessment, care management and review; 

 Control of parental contact with children in care. 
 
 

  

Page 102



Page 3 of 16 

 

How does the complaints process work?  

 
“Getting the Best from Complaints” outlines 3 stages which every local authority should have in 

place for the consideration of complaints. These are as follows: 

 
Stage 1 – Local Resolution 

The DfE guidance emphasises resolving problems quickly and effectively.  Stage 1 of the process 

provides children’s services managers with the opportunity to try and resolve complaints locally 

with the complainant.    

 
Stage 2 – Investigation 

Stage 2 involves a full and formal investigation.   In accordance with the regulations the 

investigation is undertaken by an independent Investigating Officer. An ‘Independent Person’ must 

also be appointed to oversee the investigation and report on the timeliness and transparency of 

the Investigating Officer’s investigation.  Both the Investigating Officer and Independent Person 

produce reports, which are considered by a senior manager within Children’s Services in making 

the Council’s response to the complainant.  

 
Stage 3 – Review Panel  

Where a complainant is dissatisfied with the Stage 2 response, then a review panel is brought 

together at Stage 3 to consider the complaint.  The panel consists of an independent chairperson 

and two panel members. All 3 members must be independent of the Council.  

 
 
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) is an independent and impartial 

organisation which acts as the final stage for complaints. The LGSCO will normally expect that a 

complaint has been investigated by the Council at all 3 stages of the complaints process before 

agreeing to investigate. If the LGSCO investigates and finds that the Council has been at fault they 

can ask the Council to put things right. This could include making an apology, making changes to 

procedures, or making a payment in compensation.      

 
Complaint Recording and Resolution in Children’s Residential Facilities 

All children’s residential homes have their own “in-house” complaints process to resolve ‘low level’ 

complaints.  Residential staff work with the young person and allow them to try to identify for 

themselves how their issues can be resolved to their satisfaction. Information about these low 

level complaints is retained within the individual facilities and is available in the event of OFSTED 

inspections. If a young person wishes to access the more formal process (involving the stages 

detailed above), they can be assisted to do so with the help of staff or an advocate. 

 

  

Page 103



Page 4 of 16 

 

Support during the complaints process  

 
To ensure that all children and young people have appropriate support should they need to make 

a complaint, the Council has a contract with Advocacy Services to support them during the 

complaints process. 

 
Advocacy for children and young people 

Durham County Council has a contract with the National Youth Advocacy Service (NYAS) to 

provide free advocacy services to children and young people who are looked after. Children or 

young people who would like an advocate can contact NYAS directly.  If a child or young person 

makes a complaint to the Council, the complaints officer will provide them with information and 

advice about the advocacy service provided and where appropriate will contact NYAS on a 

complainant’s behalf.   

 
A child or young person making a complaint about a young carer’s assessments can access a free 

advocate though an organisation named Rethink. 

 
Advocacy for Adults 

There are a range of advocacy services available to adults who are social care service users. 

During 2017-2018 these services were provided through three organisations, Skills for People, the 

Citizens Advice Bureau and Rethink.  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

  

Page 104



Page 5 of 16 

 

Overview of representations in 2017-2018  

 
Chart 1 (below) provides an overview of complaints and compliments received between 2015-16 

and 2017-2018. The chart shows that the vast majority of complaints in all 3 years have been dealt 

with at Stage 1.  Only a very small number progress to stages 2 and 3, or are escalated to the 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. This pattern is in line with the DfE guidance 

“Getting the Best from Complaints”, which places an emphasis on speedy and effective resolution.  

 
The number of compliments is lower than in previous years, and this is explained in more detail 

later in this report (see page 11).  

 
Chart 1: 3 year trend in complaints and compliments  
 

 
 
 
Who made complaints? 

 
The local authority is able to consider complaints from anyone who has sufficient interest in the 
child or young person’s welfare to warrant their representations being considered by them. 
However, if the complainant does not hold legal Parental Responsibility the complaint can be 
investigated but a full response which would include detailed case information cannot be given to 
the complainant. 

 

109 107

132

3 3
8

1 0 0
7 7

14

63

119

212

0

50

100

150

200

250

2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016

Complaints at Stage 1

Complaints at Stage 2

Complaints at Stage 3

Complaints Escalated to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Compliments

Page 105



Page 6 of 16 

 

Chart 2 (below) shows that in 2017-2018 the largest number of complaints (61.5%) were made by 
parents on behalf of their children. This is a similar trend to the previous 2 years. 

 
The number of complaints from “relatives” which includes grandparents, aunts, uncles, and adult 
siblings has increased to 23.9% in 2017-2018 from 16.9% in 2016-2017. 

 
Over the last three years, only a small proportion of complaints have been received directly from 
Children. In 2017-2018, there were no complaints received directly from a child or young person. 
However, the number of complaints made by children or young people through an advocate has 
increased slightly to 6.4% in 2017-2018 from 5.6% in 2016-2017.   

 
Appendix 1 (page 15) provides statistical data about the profile of children and young people on 
whose behalf complaints were made in 2017-2018.  

 
Chart 2: Who made complaints? - 3 year trend  

 
 
 

Chart 3 (overleaf) shows that in 2017-2018 the largest number of complaints (51%) were made 
about Families First teams, and the second largest number of complaints (28%) were made about 
Child Protection teams. From February 2018, the functions of both these teams have now been 
integrated into single teams to provide greater efficiency and consistency in ways of working and 
better outcomes for children and young people.  

 
The high percentage of complaints received by these teams reflects the size of the staff group, 
which is much larger than other Children’s services teams. It also reflects that these teams are 
more likely to be working with children, young people and families who may not all want social 
workers involved in their lives.  

 

 

67

26

0

7

0

7

2

0

0

69

18

1

5

1

7

2

3

1

93

25

0

4

0

6

0

2

2

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Parent

Relative

Friend

Advocate for child

Adcocate for parent

Carer(s)

Solicitor for parent

Child or Young Person

Other

2015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018

Page 106



Page 7 of 16 

 

Chart 3: Which services were complaints about? 

 
 

Complaints at stage 1  

 
Durham County Council received a total of 109 complaints about children’s social care at stage 1 

during 2017-2018. Chart 4 (below) shows that the total number of complaints received has 

remained relatively stable over the last 2 years, having decreased from 2015-2016. However, the 

number of complaints upheld or partially upheld has reduced steadily over the last 3 years.  

 
Chart 4: 3 year trend in stage 1 complaints  
 

 
 

Note: There are 3 stage 1 complaints from 2017-2018 ongoing at the time of publishing this report 

 
 
 
 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Families First

Child Protection*

Looked After and Permanence

First Contact and Emergency Duty Team

Disability Social Work

Direct Payments

Fostering and Adoption

Independent Reviewing Officers

Transitions

Young People’s Service

Aycliffe Secure Services

Full Circle

56

31

9

6

2

1

1

1

1

1

0

0

132

107

109

61

50

41

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

2015-2016

2016-2017

2017-2018

Complaints Upheld/Partially Upheld Complaints Received

Page 107



Page 8 of 16 

 

Table 1 (below) shows the number of upheld and partially upheld complaints at stage 1 by 

category over the last 3 years. This information shows that in 2017-2018 where complaints are 

upheld they are most often linked to the following categories: 

 Lack of communication (19 complaints linked); 

 Professional conduct of staff (14 complaints linked); 

 Application of service guidance/procedures (14 complaints linked).  
 
The above pattern is consistent with 2016-2017.  

 
Please note that a single complaint can have up to 3 categories of complaint, but does not always 

cover a number of categories.  

 

Table 1: Number of upheld and partially upheld complaints by category  
 

Category of Complaint 
2017-
2018 

2016-
2017 

2015-
2016 

Application of service 
guidance/procedures 

2   
  

Confidentiality   5 2 

Disputed Decision  3 16 7 

Finance - Assessment 2     

Lack of Communication 19 30 24 

Lack of Service – change to clients service   1   

Lack of Service – contacts/visits 3 4 11 

Lack of Service – denied service   3 2 

Lack of service – referral of concern not 
actioned 

  2 
  

Provision of Service - assessment 1 2 6 

Provision of Services – Placement 
Provision  

    
1 

Provision of Service – foster care   1   

Quality of Service – report writing 1 3   

Quality of Service – transport   1 2 

Standard of Care      1 

Speed of Service 3 7 11 

Staff Attitude 5 6 4 

Professional Conduct of Staff 14 17 28 

Application of Service 
Guidance/Procedures  

14 17 
3 

Discrimination      1 

Safeguarding      2 

Total 67 115 105 

 
 

Complaints at stage 2  

 

A total of 3 complaints were escalated to stage 2 during 2017-2018. Chart 5 (overleaf) shows that 

the total number of complaints escalated to stage 2 has remained relatively stable over the last 2 

years, having decreased from 2015-2016.  

 
  

Page 108



Page 9 of 16 

 

Chart 5: 3 year trend in stage 2 complaints  
 

 

 

Complaints at Stage 3  

 

It is rare that complaints reach stage 3 of the Complaints Process. In 2017-2018, only 1 complaint 

was escalated to review panel.  The complaint received in 2017-2018 was upheld. 

 

Compliance with Timescales 

 

“Getting the Best from Complaints” sets out timescales for completion of each stage of the 

complaints process, and every local authority is expected to ensure that each complaint is dealt 

with as quickly as possible.  

 
The timescales in working days are:  

 At stage 1: 10 days, with a further 10 days for more complex complaints or additional time 

if an advocate is required.  

 At stage 2: 25 days with maximum extension to 65 days. 

 At stage 3: 20 days for the complainant to request a review panel, 30 days to convene and 

hold the review panel, 5 days for the panel to issue its findings, and 15 days for the local 

authority to respond to the findings. 
 
Chart 6 (overleaf) identifies that the majority of complaints were actioned within the set timescales 
over the last 3 years. In 2017-2018, there has been a slight decrease in the number of complaints 
actioned within timescale at stage 1, and an increase in those actioned within timescale at stage 2.  

The Council aims to meet timescales wherever possible. Where a timescale is likely to overrun, 
complainants are kept informed, provided with a reason and advised of the revised timescale.  

 

  

8

3

3

6

3

2

2

0

1

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

2015-2016

2016-2017

2017-2018

Not completed during the reporting year Complaints upheld/partially upheld

Complaints escalated to stage 2

Page 109



Page 10 of 16 

 

Chart 6: 3 year trend in number of complaints actioned within timescales  
 

 

 

 

Complaints considered by the Ombudsman  

 

Where a complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of a complaint heard under the 
regulations, they can refer outstanding issues to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman (LGSCO) who will determine a course of action dependent on the issues presented 
within the complaint. This can be done at any point of the process. 

 
The LGSCO usually asks the Council what action has been taken and requests copies of any 
correspondence and reports. The LGSCO then issues a Draft Decision Notice, which the Council 
and complainant are invited to comment upon, before the LGSCO issues a Final Decision.  

 
During 2017-2018, the LGSCO contacted the Council in relation to 7 children’s social care cases 

that had been referred to them. This was the same number as in 2016-2017, and a reduction from 

the 14 cases during 2015-2016. Table 2 (below) shows the outcome of complaints referred to the 

LGSCO over the last 3 years.  

 
Table 2: Outcome of complaints referred to the LGSCO  
 

Outcome  2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016 

The Council was at fault (financial remedy recommended) 1 1 1 

The Council was at fault (improvements recommended) 1     

Premature (the Council was asked to further investigate) 1 2 1 

The Council was not at fault  1   3 

Ombudsman closed the complaint without taking action   3 6 

Ombudsman declined the complaint 3 1 2 

Total  7 7 13 

 
 

85
82

73

24 25

59

1 0 21 3 4
1 0 2

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016

Stage 1 - timescale met Stage 1 - timescale not met Stage 2 - timescale met

Stage 2 - timescale not met Stage 2 - still under investigation Stage 3 - timescale met

Stage 1 - timescale not met

Page 110



Page 11 of 16 

 

Compensatory redress  
 

In 2017-2018 the LGSCO considered 1 case, which had been through stages 1, 2 and 3 of the 

complaints process. The LGSCO agreed with the findings of the review panel at stage 3 and 

recommended a further action “for the significant frustration the social worker’s actions caused 

him”. A monetary amount was recommended and offered to the complainant. The complainant did 

not accept the offer and has taken the complaint to the Health Care Professionals Council 

(HCPC). 

 
 

Compliments  

 
Compliments provide the Council with another valuable source of information about the 

experiences of children, young people and families. They can help us to understand the elements 

of services which are valued most and why this is the case. 

 
From 2016-2017, a revised definition of a children’s services compliment was agreed. Since that 

point a compliment has been defined as “a positive statement from a service user, that had not 

been actively sought (for example by feedback form, questionnaire etc.). It can be verbal if it is 

recorded (for example in case notes) or in writing (for example in an e-mail, letter, thank-you card 

or text message).” 

 
Chart 7 (below) provides an overview of the number of compliments received over the last 3 years.   

 
The chart shows a significant reduction in recorded compliments since 2015-2016 which is due 

primarily to the revised definition of a compliment (no longer including feedback received via 

questionnaires or feedback forms).  There has not been an increase in the number of complaints 

received over the same period. 

 
Chart 7: 3 year trend in number of compliments   
 

 

 

 

212

119

63

0 50 100 150 200 250

2015-2016

2016-2017

2017-2018

Page 111



Page 12 of 16 

 

Compliments during 2017-2018 have highlighted that children and young people have 

appreciated:  

 

 Feeling respected, listened to and supported, 

 Having decisions explained to them, 

 Being kept informed, 

 Having issues explained issues in a way a child, young person or family understand, 

 Experiencing professional, caring and committed staff, 

 Being able to contact staff easily. 

 
Some examples of compliments received during the year can be found in Appendix 2 (page 16).   

 

Learning and Service Improvement 

 
Complaints give the Council a valued opportunity to learn and improve. Many of the complaints 

received are linked to the practice of an individual worker rather than a service wide issue. As a 

result learning is most often effectively carried out at an individual level and within local teams, 

where there are opportunities for staff to reflect and learn.  

 
However, in some cases complaints can also indicate that there is need for much wider learning or 

service improvement.  This has included improvements such as changes to the training 

programme, or the improvement of a policy, procedure, or way of working. This section of the 

report focuses on those larger improvements as follows:  

 
Training and staff briefings 

 
Complaints have led to a range of training and staff briefings being carried out in 2017-2018. This 

has included:  

 A complaint about poor case management which resulted in delays for the family and was used 

in an anonymised way as part of a training session for a social work team.  

 A complaint about the completion of assessment forms, understanding of the life of a 

family, and contact made with a family led to briefings for fostering social workers. 

 A complaint about a social worker being ‘very assertive’ when working with vulnerable 

parents led to briefings for child protection social workers.  

 A complaint which identified insufficient oversight of cases led to briefings for operations 

managers and team managers. 

 
Changes to policies and procedures: 

In 2017-2018 complaints have directly led to, or contributed to the decision to review and update 

policies and procedures. This has included:  

 A complaint about timeliness of sharing meeting minutes with families led to the introduction 

of a new process for recording Team Around the Family (TAF) meetings. 

Page 112



Page 13 of 16 

 

 A complaint about the process for transferring cases between social workers and teams led 

to a review of processes to mitigate any adverse effects of case transfer.  

 Following a complaint about the administration of Special Guardianship payments, the 

Special Guardianship Orders (SGO) procedures have been substantially revised and 

training is scheduled to take place in June 2018.  

 
Service wide change  

Earlier in the report, it was identified that the number of upheld and partially upheld complaints at 

stage 1 are most often linked to “lack of communication”, “professional conduct of staff” and the 

“application of service guidance or procedures”. There are two planned service wide changes 

taking place in 2018-2019 which will help to address these issues: 

 

 Children and Young People’s Services has begun to implement a new model of social work 

practice named “Signs of Safety”. One of the expected benefits is that it will further enhance 

the work of staff in building and maintaining collaborative partnerships with parents and 

children. Whilst this will take time to embed across the whole service, it is anticipated that it 

will help to build more effective relationships between staff and the children, young people 

and families.  

 To help improve the transparency of decisions made by Children and Young People 

Services, a new publicly available web based system will be introduced in 2017-2018 to the 

host policies and procedures for children’s social care in Durham. This will enable staff and 

children and families to have easy access to the latest policies and procedures relevant to 

their situation.   

In addition, the report also highlighted the following which will be the subject of further 

development in 2018-2019, as follows: 

 This report has highlighted that were no complaints made directly by children or young 

people in 2017-2018, and very few in the previous year. Numbers of complaints from 

children or young people with an advocate are also low. In 2018-2019 there will be work 

undertaken to ensure that children and young people get information about the complaints 

process when their circumstances change, as well as when they first come into contact with 

the Service. In addition the complaints officer will work with Investing in Children to review 

the “child friendly” information about making a complaint and to determine if there are any 

further actions we should take to support children and young people to make complaints 

independently or through an advocate.  

 
 

  

Page 113



Page 14 of 16 

 

Effectiveness of the complaints procedure  

 
The effectiveness of the complaints procedure is reviewed every year as part as the annual report. 

This section of the report outlines the improvements to the process made during in 2017-2018.  

 
Changes made in 2017-2018 

The role of the complaints officer  

A dedicated full time complaints officer was appointed to deal with all statutory complaints 

received about Children’s Social Care. This had previously been a joint arrangement with Adult 

Social Care complaints.  

 

Change to the complaints process 

As a result of a complaint which was escalated to the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman in 2017-2018, The Council was provided with a number of recommendations to 

improve communication with complainants. The following changes were introduced in February 

2018: 

 Within a week of making a complaint, complainants will now receive an explanatory letter 
and factsheet explaining the process which is being used to manage their complaint. 

 When the Council responds to a complaint, it is explicitly stated whether the complaint and 
its constituent parts are upheld, partially upheld, not upheld, or otherwise.  

 Where a complainants remains dissatisfied after the Council has responded to their 

complaint at stage 1, then a template letter is forwarded to the complainant. This letter asks 

whether they seek an investigation at stage 2 of the process, and explains the process, so 

the complainant can make an informed decision. 

 

  

Page 114



Page 15 of 16 

 

Appendix 1: Statistical Data  
 
“Getting the Best from Complaints” requires that local authorities include a summary of statistical 

data about the age, gender, disability, sexual orientation and ethnicity of complainants in the 

annual report.  

 
The complainant is always the child or young person, not the parent, family member or advocate 

who makes a complaint on their behalf. This data is recorded and reported using the details of the 

eldest child or young person (if there are more than one children in the family who are receiving 

the service being complained about), or specific child or young person (for example, a disabled 

child within the family) making the complaint, or on whose behalf the complaint is made.  

Table 3: Age of complainants  

Age Number Percentage 

Pre-Birth 10 9% 

1-6 45 41% 

7-12 28 26% 

13-18 22 20% 

Unknown  4 4% 

Total 109  
 
Table 4: Gender of complainants  

Gender  Number Percentage 

Boy 58 53% 

Girl 51 47% 

Transgender 0 0% 

Other 0 0% 

Total 109  
 
Table 5: Disability of complainants  

Disability  Number Percentage 

Disability Recorded  2 1.8% 

Disability not Recorded  107 98.2% 

Total 109  
 
Sexual Orientation  

Sexual orientation is not recorded unless it is of relevance to the child or young person’s complaint. 
In 2017-2018 there were no complaints where sexual orientation was an issue.   

Table 6: Disability of complainants  

Ethnicity  Number Percentage 

White British 103 94.5% 

Mixed Race African 1 0.9% 

Mixed Race Asian 1 0.9% 

White/Other Background 1 0.9% 

Any Other Ethnic Group 0 0.0% 

Ethnicity Not Recorded 3 2.8% 

Total 109  
Page 115



Page 16 of 16 

 

Appendix 2: Examples of Compliments   

 

“I have huge respect for your experience and expertise. Your help, support and kindness has been 

very much appreciated.” 

Looked After and Permanence 3 

 

“Thank you so much for your support with me and my children and helping me get my family back 

together and not judging me” 

Families First, Newton Aycliffe 

  

“Social Workers get a lot of negative press, however [Social Worker] was always fair with myself, 

effectively communicated and was very professional.” 

Child Protection Stanley team 

 

“Without you I wouldn’t have been able to move to [city]. I’m so excited for the future so thank you 

for helping me to believe in myself.” 

Young People’s Service South 

 

“Thank you [Social Worker] for everything you have done for me and my brother, we will miss you 

very much.”  

Families First, Durham Central 

 

“…the Contact Supervisors have been hugely supportive….I would like to praise and thank them 

for their time and efforts and care they showed…” 

Supervised Contact Service 

 

“Foster Carers said it had been lovely working with both children’s Social Workers, they always felt 

fully informed and updated, valued and if they ever needed to make contact, their calls were 

always responded to and any concerns addressed….” 

Families First, Chester-le-Street  

 

“The support has been fantastic and has benefitted [child] in so many ways and us as a family. It’s 

allowed [child] to go out, try and enjoy many new experiences helping him gain and develop 

confidence and encourage independence” 

Disabled Children and Families  

Page 116



1 

 
 

 

Adult and Health Services 

 
Annual Statutory Representations Report 
Adult Social Care Services 2017/18 

Page 117



2 

 
 

Annual Statutory Representations Report 

Adult and Health Services 2017/18 

CONTENTS 

                Page(s) 

Part One  Introduction        3 

Part Two Summary of key messages     4 

Part Three The adult social care complaints process   5  

Part Four  Complaints made to the Local Authority (AHS)  5-9 

 Number of complaints received by service area   6 

 Year on year trend       7 

 Complaints completed within timescales    7 

 Categories of complaints received and findings   8 

 Outcome of complaints       9 

Part Five The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 10-11 

 Complaints considered by the Local Government Ombudsman 11 

Part Six  Learning and service improvement    11-12 

Part Seven  Compliments       13-14 

 Number of compliments by service area    13 

 Year on year trend       14 

 The ratio of compliments to complaints    15 

Part Eight  Developments, Reporting and Conclusion   15-16 

Appendix 1  Glossary of abbreviations      17 

 

 

Page 118



3 

 
 

Part One - Introduction  

Welcome to Durham County Council’s (DCC) Adult and Health Services (AHS) 
Annual Report which details representations made in relation to adult social care 
services.  The report covers the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. 

The report is published under the provisions and requirements of the relevant 
regulations: the National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009. This 
is a single joint complaints process for both social care and health services where 
there are no fixed timescales for managing a complaint with a greater focus on local 
resolution. If all proportionate resolution mechanisms have been exhausted and if the 
complaint remains unresolved, the complainant can refer outstanding issues to the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO). The regulations also 
introduced a duty for health and social care services to cooperate, should this be 
required, in complaints investigations. 

This process aims to: 
 

 Make it as easy and accessible as possible for service users or their nominated 
representatives to raise complaints; 

 Foster an organisational culture in which complaints are accepted, owned and 
resolved as efficiently as possible; 

 Ensure high levels of customer satisfaction with complaints handling; 

 Resolve individual issues when they arise and reduce the number of 
complaints referred to the Ombudsman; and 

 Enable the Council to identify topics and trends in relation to adult social care 
complaints and improve services as a result. 

 

In recording and reporting upon the Council’s performance in relation to the above, 
the Local Authority has a statutory duty to produce an annual report under Regulation 
18 of the statutory instrument detailed above. 
 
Other key features of the Regulations include: 
 

 the requirement for local authorities to appoint a Complaints Manager; and 

 a 12 month time limit to make complaints. 
 
During 2017/18 the Development and Learning Manager fulfilled the role of 
‘Complaints Manager’ in accordance with the requirements of the regulations, with a 
Complaints Officer allocated to undertake the day-to-day supervision of the 
complaints function, both being independent of social care services’ operational line 
management, thus ensuring a high level of independence in the way social care 
complaints are managed within the Council. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



4 

 
 

Part Two - Summary of key messages   

The key headlines from this report are as follows: 
 

 There has been an increase in complaints investigated, from 87 in 2016/17 to 
104 in 2017/18. 

 Two complaints were received during 2017/18 which were declined by the 
Local Authority, a reduction from 5 that were declined in each of the previous 2 
performance years. 

 There was only one complaint to Health Services where AHS were asked to 
contribute information to the joint investigation to inform the response. 

 DCC AHS received 4 complaints where the contribution of colleagues from 
Health were needed to inform upon the Council’s response; the Council led in 
these investigations and responded on behalf of all involved organisations in 
line with joint protocols. 

 Older People/Physical Disabilities/Sensory Impairment received 51% of the 
overall complaints about adult social care services. 

 A ‘disputed decision’ where a service user disagrees within an explanation or 
decision was the most common reason for making a complaint (14.4%). 

 The LGSCO reached a decision on 25 adult social care complaints during 
2017/18. 

 The service received 297 compliments about adult social care services during 
2017/18, an increase from 183 in 2016/17, many of these compliments coming 
from the Reablement teams within County Durham Care and Support. 

 Complaints continue to provide invaluable information and learning from which 
adult social care services can improve. Some examples of which are detailed 
below:  

 Issues with the Community Equipment Service were addressed in order to 
improve the provider’s performance and contract compliance. 

 A briefing note was issued to social work staff regarding the handyman 
service and referral forms were improved linked to the work that needed 
undertaking and the urgency/priority level. 

 A change in work processes was implemented to be used in cases where 
DCC take over responsibility for managing a service user’s finances to 
ensure the smooth transfer of their direct debits. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



5 

 
 

Part Three- The adult social care complaints process  
 
When a complaint is received, it is risk-assessed to ensure that there are no 
safeguarding or other procedural issues that might supersede the complaints 
procedure and that it is within the 12 month limitation period. Consent must be 
obtained to confirm that someone making a complaint on another’s behalf has been 
given the authority to do so. 

Once the above determinations have been made, complainants are engaged in 
planning how their complaint is to be addressed and the timescales for doing so, 
along with what they hope to see happen as a result of making a complaint in the form 
of desired outcomes. A Complaints Resolution Plan (CRP) is produced which 
summarises this information along with the specific elements of complaint for 
investigation and the complainant is encouraged to suggest any changes to this 
document so it accurately reflects the issues they wish to be examined. 

The Council’s focus is always on the resolution of the complaint and engagement with 
the complainant in order to resolve matters to their satisfaction. Where resolution is 
not achieved, the complainant remains dissatisfied and the Council’s complaints 
procedure is deemed to have been exhausted, the complainant is invited to raise any 
outstanding issues with the LGSCO. 

Whilst a complainant can refer their complaints to the LGSCO from the outset, the 
Ombudsman will not usually investigate a complaint until the Council has conducted 
its own investigation and provided a response. In some circumstances where there 
has been a joint investigation with Health Services, progression may involve the 
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO). 

 

Part Four- Complaints made to the Local Authority (AHS) 

 

We received 104 complaints during 2017/18, an increase from 87 in 2016/17.   
 

In addition to this number, two complaints were declined. One, as it was submitted by 
a third party who did not have the service user’s permission to make a complaint 
about the services received. The other was because the issues within the complaint 
had already been discussed and addressed at a multi-agency risk enablement panel 
meeting that the service user had attended. 

A further complaint was received for which the Tees, Esk and Wear Valley (TEWV) 
NHS Foundation Trust took lead responsibility in accordance with joint protocol 
arrangements. As the majority of the complaint issues were for the Trust to resolve, 
AHS contributed information on the Council’s actions and decision making. This 
complaint will be reported accordingly by TEWV. 

AHS led on a further 4 complaints investigations that incorporated contributions from 
our partners in Health to include TEWV, County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust (CDDFT) and the North of England Commissioning Support Unit 
(NECS) on behalf of the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). These 4 complaints 
are include in the figures presented in this report. 

Page 121



6 

 
 

Number of complaints received by service area 2017/18 

Service Area 
Number of 
Complaints 

2017/18 

Number of 
Complaints 

2016/17 

 % of Total 
Complaints 

2017/18 

 % of Total 
Complaints 

2016/17 

Older People/ Physical 
Disabilities/Sensory Impairment  

53 43 51% 49.5% 

Learning Disability/Mental 
Health/Carers/Substance Misuse 

26 26 25% 29.9% 

Commissioning 6 8 5.8% 9.2% 

County Durham Care and Support  3 0 2.9% 0% 

Safeguarding, Practice 
Development & Access 

4 2 3.8% 2.3% 

Finance* 12 7 11.5% 8% 

Emergency Duty Team/Social Care 
Direct 

0 1 0% 1.1% 

Total 104 87 100% 100% 

*Finance is no longer part of AHS but the complaints were regarding statutory adult social care services 
 

As in previous years, the service receiving the greatest number of complaints was 
Older People/Physical Disabilities/Sensory Impairment, followed by the Learning 
Disabilities/Mental Health/ Substance Misuse service area. 
 
The graph below shows the number of complaints received by adult social care 
services over the last 6 years which illustrates that after a trend towards a reduction in 
complaints, submissions are on the increase. In the last two years year there has 
been a 42.5% increase in complaints. This increase is primarily linked to Learning 
Disability/Mental Health/Carers/Substance Misuse where there was a 73.3% increase 
from 15 complaints in 2015/16 to 26 complaints in each of the last two years. Older 
People/ Physical Disabilities/Sensory Impairment complaints rose by 62.5% from 32 
to 52 in the same two year period.  
 
These increases are closely linked to assessments and decision making where 
service users were unhappy with:   

 the assessment of their needs; 

 the decisions taken in meeting their needs; or 

 the explanations they have received. 
 

Page 122



7 

 
 

Year on year trend - adult social care complaints 2012 – 2018 

 

Complaints completed within timescales 

Complaints Resolution Plans (CRPs) were completed in all of the 104 complaints 
received in the year. The CRPs included a projected timescale for a response which 
was initially calculated based upon the perceived complexity of the case. In 17 
complaints investigations (16%), AHS needed more time to fully complete their 
enquiries for a variety of reasons such as the availability of staff for interview, 
unforeseen complexity, further information required from the Complainant and the 
need to seek legal advice. In each case, the complainant was updated and fully 
informed of developments along with the new projected response date. Of the 104 
complaints received, 101 had been responded to at the time of writing this report with 
3 ongoing but within timescales. Only one complaint was not responded to within the 
projected timescale due to an IT oversight by the Investigating Officer. 
 

Page 123



8 

 
 

Categories of complaints received and findings in 2017/18 
 
When complaints are received they are recorded and categorised according to the 
subject matter of the issues raised. Detailed below is the outcomes of complaints in 
2017/18 in the associated categories (the highest three totals are shown in bold): 

Complaint Category / Issue Upheld  

 
Partially 
Upheld 

 
Not 

Upheld 

 
Total 

Application of Service Guidance/Procedures 
 

- 1 3 4 
Confidentiality - 1 1 2 
Disputed Decision – disagreement with an action 1 4 6 11 
Disputed Decision – disagreement with an assessment 
 
 
 

- 5 10 15 
Disputed Decision – disagreement with an explanation or decision 2 7 21 30 
Finance – Assessment 1 1 1 3 
Finance – Charging policy 1 7 5 13 
Lack of Communication – no information received 1 2 7 10 
Lack of Communication – not informed of meeting details/change 1 1 - 2 
Lack of Communication – not updated about case 1 1 1 3 
Lack of Communication – unreturned phone calls/texts - 2 2 4 
Lack of Communication – other 1 5 4 10 
Lack of Explanation / Explanation not understood - 1 3 4 
Lack of Service – change to clients service - 1 5 6 
Lack of Service – denied service 1 3 5 9 
Lack of service – referral of concern not actioned - 1 1 2 
Lack of service – restricted choices of current services - - 1 1 
Provision of Service – assessment - 1 1 2 
Provision of Service – equipment 1 1 1 3 
Provision of Service – handling of complaint - 2 - 2 
Provision of Service – placement provision - 1 - 1 
Quality of Service – personal care - 1 - 1 
Quality of Service – personal financial issues 2 - 1 3 
Quality of Service – work of other agencies - 2 1 3 
Safeguarding - 1 4 5 
Speed of Service 3 

3 
2 7 12 

Staff Attitude - 4 11 15 
Staff being or seeming to be untruthful - - 4 4 
Staff not acting in best interest of service user 1 7 6 14 
Staff being or seeming to be biased - 1 - 1 
Staff being or seeming to be untruthful 1 3 - 4 
Standard of care - 3 7 10 
 

The above categories were expanded in 2016/17 to more accurately reflect the 
different types of issues that are raised through complaints. It should be noted that a 
complaint can have more than one category assigned to it and during the year. 

Of the top three reasons for a complaint, a disputed decision- disagrees within an 
explanation or decision was the most common reason 30, (14.4%). As an example, a 
service user may have a reduction in their services as a result of an assessment and 
wishes to challenge this. This was also the most common reason for making a 
complaint in the previous performance year. 

Disputed decision - disagrees with an assessment 15, (7.2%) is new to the top three 
reasons. Staff attitude 15, (7.2%), where a service user perceives a member of staff to 
have been rude or disrespectful, was the joint second most common reason for  
making a complaint, this was the third highest reason in the previous year. 
  

Page 124



9 

 
 

Staff not acting in the best interests of the service user 14 (6.7%) which was in the top 
three reasons for making a complaint last year has dropped to the fourth highest 
reason for complaints.  

These complaint reasons are consistent with previous years where the ‘old’ categories 
of disputed decision and professional conduct of staff which were the most common 
reasons for making a complaint. 

 

Outcome of complaints by service area 2017/18 

Service Area Upheld 
Partially 
Upheld 

Not 
Upheld 

Ongoing Total 

Not 
Upheld 
as a % 
of Total 

Upheld/ 
Partially 
Upheld 
as a % 
of Total 

Older People/ Physical 
Disability & Sensory 
Impairment 

6 19 28 0 53 26.9% 

 

24% 

Learning Disability/ Mental 
Health / Substance Misuse 

2 5 18 1 26 17.3% 
 
 

6.7% 

Safeguarding, Practice 
Development & Access 

0 0 4 0 4 3.9% - 

Commissioning 1 3 2 0 6 1.9% 3.9% 

County Durham Care and 
Support 

0 1 2 0 3 1.9% 1% 

Finance 3 2 5 2 12 4.8% 4.8% 

Total 12 30 59 3 104 56.7% 40.4% 

           (2.9% ongoing) 

In 2017/18, more than half the complaints received were not upheld, meaning that 
although the complainant was dissatisfied in some way, the service had acted 
appropriately. Of the 104 complaints, only 11.5% of complaints were fully upheld.  
 
Complaints that are upheld or partially upheld are of particular interest to adult social 
care services. In these cases the service actively looks to identify what it could have 
done better and what action it can take with the aim of resolving matters to the 
complainant’s satisfaction.  
 
These complaints give the service the opportunity for learning, on an individual level 
for example, where a Social Worker can be supported by management to improve 
their personal performance and sometimes across the whole service, where a policy 
or procedure is improved as a result of a complaint. Further examples of learning and 
service improvement as a consequence of complaints received are outlined in Part 
Six of this report.    
 

Page 125



10 

 
 

Part Five - The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 

Where a complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of a complaint they can 
refer any outstanding issues to the LGSCO who will determine what action to take after 
considering the presenting issues. 
 
Complaints considered by the LGSCO 2017/18 

Service Area Upheld Partially 
Upheld 

Not 
Upheld 

Declined/
No Action 

Ongoing Total 

Older People/ Physical Disability & 

Sensory Impairment 
4 - 3 5 1 13 

Learning Disability/ Mental Health / 
Substance Misuse 

1 - 3 2 - 6 

Safeguarding, Practice 
Development & Access 

- - 1 - - 1 

Commissioning - - - 1 - 1 

County Durham Care and Support 

 

 

 

- - - 1 - 1 

Finance 1 - 1 2 - 4 

Total 6 0 8 11 1 26 

 
 

During 2017/18, the Ombudsman liaised with the Council in relation to 26 adult social 
care cases that had been referred to them as complaints and came to a finding in 25 of 
these of cases.  
 
Of the 11 cases declined or no action:   

 In three cases, the LGSCO referred the complainant to the Council, as they had 
not raised their issues with the Local Authority, closing the complaint as 
premature. 

 The LGSCO closed eight complaints after making initial enquiries as the 
submission was either out of the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction, they had decided 
that a further investigation would be unlikely to produce a different outcome to 
the investigation already conducted by the Council or there was insufficient 
evidence of fault to warrant further detailed enquiries. 

Of the 6 cases upheld:   

 The Ombudsman identified that a service user had been correctly charged for 
the first four weeks of their home care and whilst arrangements had already 
been made with the Council to repay any arrears, they then received a final 
reminder letter which should not have been issued. The Council apologised for 
this error and for any personal upset or distress this may have caused upon 
receipt. It was communicated to staff that reminder letters should not be issued 
in circumstances where repayment arrangements have been agreed, with 
further guidance being given on the ‘holding’ steps within the Council’s debt 
recovery system to prevent such reminders being issued in future. 

 The LGSCO found that the Council was wrong to include the value of the joint 
home, which a service user shared with a relative, in its assessment of the 
contributions that they would need to pay if they were admitted to a care home. 
The Council revised its original decision, apologised, reviewed its procedures 

Page 126



11 

 
 

and paid the family £500 for the distress at the prospect of having to sell their 
home, which the Ombudsman considered a suitable remedy for the injustice the 
family experienced. 

 The LGSCO found the Council was at fault for not fully investigating 
safeguarding concerns so that the risks to a service user were not 
comprehensively considered. The Council apologised for this error, paid the two 
complainants £100 each and undertook a process review, using this case and 
the complainants’ experiences to improve services. 

 The Ombudsman identified that the Council had assessed a service user’s 
social care needs each time he was discharged from hospital and also 
considered the professional judgement of those involved with their medical care 
when planning their social care. However, maladministration and injustice were 
identified because there was no evidence to show the Council explained 
residential care charges to the service user’s son, who made an uninformed 
decision and incurred avoidable top-up fees. As a result the Council reimbursed 
the top-up fees and confirmed to the LGSCO what measures it had in place to 
ensure that service users and their families are given clear advice about social 
care funding to enable them to make well informed decisions. 

 There was fault in the way decisions were communicated regarding changes to 
a service user's provision and the Council agreed to the LGSCO’s remedy, 
paying the service user £150 and meeting with them to further discuss changes 
to provision to identify whether a different configuration would more 
appropriately meet their needs. 

 A Council investigation had already identified faults in the way it had 
communicated with a service user and their family about care needs, with an 
apology being offered for this failing and action taken to prevent similar faults 
from occurring. The LGSCO, whilst confirming that there was fault causing 
injustice, was satisfied that the action already taken by the Council was enough 
to remedy the injustice caused.  

 
Part Six - Learning and service improvement 
 
Complaints provide invaluable information from which the service learns how to 
improve. Complaints also act as a prompt to ensure all staff work consistently to 
policies and procedures. Even where complaints are not upheld, full explanations, 
further information and often apologies are given. Some of the learning outcomes and 
remedies for resolution in the reporting year are as follows:  
 

 Further medical information should have been obtained by an Occupational 
Therapist to inform upon their assessment before making recommendations as 
to the most appropriate long term solution for the service user. The practice 
issues highlighted were addressed with the worker through the supervisory 
process and all Occupational Therapy staff were reminded of the need to 
obtain medical information to inform upon the clinical decision making before 
making recommendations. 
 

Page 127



12 

 
 

 A service user had to wait more than 8 weeks for a specialist piece of 
equipment from the Community Equipment Service when the terms of the 
contract specified that items should be supplied within 7 days unless there 
were exceptional circumstances. The service provider was reminded of their 
obligations in the strongest possible terms and the consortium of partners 
involved in the commissioning and use of this contract were advised of this 
issue at a subsequent Board meeting with a view to improve the provider's 
performance and contract compliance. 
 

 A copy of an assessment and care plan had not been sent out to a service user 
in a timely manner. A team meeting was used to remind all Social Workers of 
the importance of sharing assessments and care plans in a timely manner so 
that copies are distributed promptly for the attention of service users, with staff 
being advised to notify the Team Manager/Principal Social Worker if they are 
struggling to complete on tasks so that assistance can be provided from 
elsewhere within the team. 
 

 The request for a key box to be fitted to a service user's home was not 
actioned promptly and the alternatives presented were unworkable, leaving 
them without the recommended method for allowing carers to enter their 
property for 3 days after they were discharged from hospital. A briefing note 
was prepared and issued to staff across the service area reminding them of the 
referral process with particular reference to the cut off time for referrals to the 
handy person scheme, to ensure referrals are submitted by 4pm to allow them 
to be actioned the next working day. Referral forms for this scheme were also 
modified to add clarity and make the priority level for a referral much clearer. 
 

 The Council was contacted due to concerns about its valuation of a property as 
part of a financial assessment when compared with the actual sale price and 
failed to respond promptly, only doing so some four months later. The Council 
apologised for the delay in responding promptly and used the complaint as an 
anonymous example with staff from this area of the service so that they could 
take some learning from the Complainant's experiences, using this to illustrate 
and reinforce the need for effective and timely communication with service 
users and/or their representatives. 
 

 A service user experienced delays in DCC arranging the transfer of direct 
debits from their personal bank account to an account managed on their behalf 
by the Council. A change in work processes was implemented so that when 
companies are asked to change existing direct debit arrangements to accounts 
for service users now managed by the Council, any subsequent response from 
these companies immediately goes direct to the team member that requested 
these changes upon receipt. 
 

 The Council received a complaint about the standards of care and facilities at a 
care home from a service user who had had their placement commissioned by 
the Council. The Commissioning Service was due to undertake a Quality 
Based Assessment (QBA) of the home and conducted the complaints 
investigation in conjunction with this assessment, producing a full written report 
and action plan, subsequently working with the home to improve standards. 

Page 128



13 

 
 

 

 A service user was unhappy at not being allocated a property within a housing 
development owned and managed by DCC with the complaints investigation 
identifying that there was no formal written procedure relating to the allocation 
of accommodation. An appropriate procedure was developed and approved by 
the Adult Care Management Team with a copy sent to the service user for their 
information, along with an assurance that their name remained on the waiting 
list and when a suitable property became available, their request would be 
considered in line with the new procedural requirement. 
 

Compensatory payments were made where failures constituted maladministration 
and/or injustice as defined by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 
These are detailed within the LGSCO section in Part Five of the report. It should be 
noted that compensatory redress was only considered (and agreed in line with the 
Council’s Scheme of Delegation) where there was strong evidence of shortcomings. 
  
It is recognised that where adult social care services is responsible for service failures 
that have caused losses and significant emotional distress, there is clearly the duty for 
this to be acknowledged and further distress to the complainant be avoided. In each 
of the complaints responses issued, full explanations and where appropriate, 
apologies were offered. 
 
 
Part Seven - Compliments 
 

There is no statutory requirement to publish data on compliments for the period in 
question; these are included in this report in order to provide a more holistic view of 
what service users and their nominated representatives think about the services they 
receive and to understand what elements of the service that are valued. 

There were 297 recorded compliments during 2017/18, an increase from 183 in 
2016/17.   

As shown in the table below, the majority of the compliments in both 2015/16 and 
2016/17 were for County Durham Care and Support (CDCS), the in-house provider 
services.  

Total number of compliments by service area 2017/18 

Service  
Total 

Compliments 

2017/18 

Total 
Compliments 

2016/17 

%  of Total 
Compliments    

2017/18 

Older People/ Physical Disabilities/ Sensory Impairment  59 

 

85 

 

19.9% 

Learning Disability/Mental Health/ Carers/Substance Misuse 2 6 0.7% 

County Durham Care and Support 233 92 78.4% 

Safeguarding, Practice Development & Access 3 0 1% 

Total 297 

 

183 100.0% 

Page 129



14 

 
 

 
Prior to the 2017/18 performance year there has previously been a reduction in the 
number of compliments received year on year which appeared to have levelled out 
after a sharp fall in 2014. This decline was considered at the time and it was 
determined to be associated with changes in the types of provision provided by 
County Durham Care and Support (CDCS). 

Year on year trend - adult social care compliments 2012 - 2018 

 

 
It is noted that during 2017/18 there has been a concerted effort by the Reablement 
teams within CDCS to capture all positive feedback to the extent that 248 
compliments were for this particular area of the service. Compliments for reporting 
purposes must meet specific criteria. Managers are encouraged to ensure that all 
compliments in the form of positive comments, letters, emails and cards are captured 
and shared with their staff and teams to re-inforce their value. 
 
Compliments highlight that service users have appreciated the following: 
 

 Feeling respected, listened to and supported. 

 Having decisions explained to them. 

 Being kept informed. 

 Staff explaining issues in a way the client understood. 

 Professionalism, care and commitment of staff. 

 Being able to contact staff easily. 
 
The ratio of compliments to complaints received across AHS is 2.8:1. This means that 

for every complaint received, there were more than 2 compliments. This represents 

an increase on the previous year when the ratio of compliments to complaints was 

2.1:1.  

The number of compliments received consistently outweighs the percentage of 

complaints received and this is shown in the graph below:   

Page 130



15 

 
 

 

The ratio of compliments to complaints 2011 – 2017 

 
 
Part Eight – Developments and Conclusion  

Developments  
 
Whilst the Local Authority has a statutory duty to operate and administer a system for 
dealing with and reporting upon adult social care complaints, DCC AHS does not 
simply meet that duty but continuously strives to achieve and maintain a high level of 
service in relation to the management of complaints. With this aim in mind, a number 
of developments have been undertaken during 2017/18 to include: 
 

 The continuous improvement of tracking and monitoring systems to ensure 
actions and learning outcomes arising from complaints are implemented in a 
timely and effective way and fully embedded. 

 Further development of the escalation process with the progress of complaints 
investigations actively monitored, closer liaison with Strategic Managers to ensure 
momentum in complaints investigations and more effective feedback to 
complainants in order to update them and manage their expectations. 

 The development of a consistency in approach for complainants who are 
persistent and/or vexatious, linking in with the corporate centre and making better 
use of the Council’s policies and procedures in this area. 

 The change in complaints governance arrangements introduced in 2017/18 has 
been imbedded and has provided continuity for AHS colleagues i.e. one 
dedicated Complaints Officer managing all AHS complaints, with the role of 
‘Complaints Manager’ being undertaken by the AHS Development and Learning 
Manager, reporting to AHS Operational Support Manager, who in turn reported 
directly to the Head of Commissioning. 

Page 131



16 

 
 

 

Reporting 

Complaints information is reported on a quarterly basis to senior management teams, 
for cascading to managers and staff. The information in this report is therefore a year-
end summary of information, which has previously been shared.  

Conclusion 

The complaints function is a statutory requirement for social care services and it plays 
a vital role in contributing to quality improvement across adult social care as it 
provides an understanding of the service users’ experiences. Acting upon the learning 
arising from complaints provides the opportunity to change practice and improve 
service delivery with transparency and accountability. 

A collaborative approach is continually promoted during the management of 
complaints, where the complainant is central to the process and resolution is 
proactively sought and encouraged. 

 

Further information regarding anything in this report is available by contacting: 

 
Lesley Martin  
AHS Development and Learning Manager  
Durham County Council  
County Hall 
Durham  
DH1 5UJ 
Tel: 03000 267393 

Page 132



17 

 
 

Appendix 1 - Glossary of abbreviations 

 

AHS  Adult and Health Services 

CCG  Clinical Commissioning Group 

CDCS  County Durham Care and Support 

CDDFT County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

CRP  Complaints Resolution Plan 

DCC  Durham County Council  

LGSCO Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

NECS  North of England Commissioning Support Unit 

PHSO  Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 

TEWV  Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust

Page 133



18 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

Adult and Health Services 
 
Annual Statutory Representations Report 

Adult Social Care Services 2017/18 
 
 

Lesley Martin, AHS Development and Learning Manager  
Tel: 03000 267393  

Mark Pickering, AHS Complaints Officer 
Tel: 03000 266855 

 

Equality & Diversity, Room 4/139, County Hall, 

Durham, DH1 5UF                 Tel: 03000 268019 

Page 134



Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

22 June 2018

Overview and Scrutiny Annual 
Report 2017/18

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships

Purpose of the Report

1 To present to Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board (COSMB), the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 
2017/18 (attached at Appendix 2) for comment and approval prior to its 
submission to the County Council meeting on 18 July 2018.

Information 

2 In accordance with Article 6 paragraph 6.03(d) the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board is required to report annually to the County Council, 
and the Annual Report provides information on the work of all the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees for the period 2017/18. 

3 The draft Annual Report has also been presented to, and agreed by, the 
Chair and Vice-chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board.

Recommendations 

4 It is recommended that COSMB Members:

(a) comment on the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for 
2017/18;

(b) agree that it be submitted to the County Council meeting on 18 
July 2018.

Contact:  Jenny Haworth                                    Tel: (03000) 268071  

Page 135

Agenda Item 8



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance
None

Staffing
None

Risk
None

Equality and Diversity
Impact Assessments are carried out for all Overview and Scrutiny reviews.

Accommodation
None

Crime and Disorder
None

Human Rights
None

Consultation
The draft Overview and Scrutiny annual report is being presented to Members 
of COSMB for comment, and has previously been to CMT and Transformation 
and Partnerships Management Team.

Procurement 
None

Disability Discrimination Act 
None

Legal Implications
None

Page 136



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report

2017-2018

Transformation and Partnerships
Durham County Council

May 2018

Scrutiny@Durham.gov.uk
03000 268145

Page 137

mailto:Scrutiny@durham.gov.uk


Foreword 
During the first year following election of the new Council in 2017, we have had an influx of new 
Members, as well as returning Members. Scrutiny members are keen to re-invigorate and promote 
scrutiny, and focus on the four key principles of good scrutiny: constructive challenge; amplifying 
the voice of the public; independent and responsible leadership; and driving improvement in public 
services1.  A comprehensive member induction programme was carried out, and we have had a 
busy year. This report provides an update of the work undertaken by Overview and Scrutiny during 
2017/18.  We have carried out a number of in-depth scrutiny reviews, continue to play our part in 
the Council’s budget process, monitor quarterly performance, and continue to maintain an 
excellent relationship between executive and non-executive members.

The next few years will continue to be challenging for the Council in terms of austerity and 
Government funding.  A key achievement for the authority will be to continue to maintain and 
deliver improvements to services, whilst meeting the required savings targets. Overview and 
Scrutiny will contribute in a constructive way to support the Council in meeting these challenges. 

The Transformation Programme is an evolving programme for DCC over the next few years, 
looking at new ways of working, relocation of the council’s headquarters and redevelopment of the 
Aykley Heads site, as well as other projects which form a comprehensive change programme for 
the Council. Scrutiny will play its role in this, and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board (COSMB) will receive regular updates on the programme. 

The statutory scrutiny roles of Health, Crime and Disorder and Flood Risk Management feature 
within this Annual Report alongside thematic scrutiny work. In-depth review work included a pilot of 
the new Customer Relationship Management System (CRMS) Members’ Portal, and scrutiny 
reviews on Cybercrime; Arson and deliberate fires; a review of DCC’s allotments policy; the role of 
the social worker from a child’s perspective; and retail support provided by Durham County 
Council. Scrutiny has also had input into a number of consultations.

We have carried out a recruitment exercise to refresh the non-voting co-optees who sit on the 
scrutiny committees and we look forward to working with the successful applicants.  Recruited for 
their relevant skills and knowledge, they will bring their own expertise and views to scrutiny, and 
provide external challenge to our work programme. We have also promoted engagement of local 
expert and academic researchers in Overview and Scrutiny where they can add to our work.
The findings of the House of Commons Communities and Local Government Committee review on 
the Effectiveness of Local Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committees was published in March 
2018 and was shared with COSMB Members. One of the recommendations was that the guidance 
issued to councils by DCLG on overview and scrutiny committees is revised and reissued to take 
account of scrutiny’s evolving role.  Once the revised guidance is received, further discussions will 
take place at COSMB to see how Durham will move forward. 

We have continued to work with our regional authorities on the North East Combined Authority 
(NECA) Overview and Scrutiny Committee; the North East Regional Joint Officer/Member network; 
and Members have attended a number of regional health scrutiny meetings.

I would like to thank everyone who has been involved in supporting and assisting the Overview and 
Scrutiny process – be it Members, officers, partners, or co-opted members, and the scrutiny team 
themselves. 

I hope that you find this report interesting and informative. If you would like to find out more, all 
Scrutiny Committee meetings are open to the public and the scrutiny team will be pleased to 
supply you with more information. Contact details are listed below.

Councillor Rob Crute
Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board

1 Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) four principles
Page 138



Key Achievements 2017-18

Overview and Scrutiny Review Activity
The scrutiny work programme for the year has reflected a balanced programme of work 
and of improvement in the operation of scrutiny which meets the four principles of effective 
public scrutiny:

 Provides a constructive “critical friend” challenge to executive policy-makers and 
decisions-makers

 Amplifying the voice and concerns of the public; 
 Is carried out by ‘independent minded governors’ who lead and own the scrutiny role
 Drives improvement in public services.   

Constructive challenge

The following in depth evidence based reviews have been completed and have been or 
will be reported to Cabinet, the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the appropriate 
thematic Partnership.

Cybercrime – presented to Cabinet in May 2018, identified as a gap in activity, this work 
focused on partnership work being undertaken to prevent young people becoming 
engaged in cybercrime activity through forms of hacking within the Computer Misuse Act. 
Recommendations from the review are on inclusion as an action within partnership plans, 
education and engagement activity with young people and to explore apprenticeship 
opportunities. 

Arson and deliberate fires – presented to Safe Durham Partnership Board and shared 
with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder in January 2018, a focused review looking at partnership 
work to address a significant increase of arson and secondary fires within the East 
Durham area. Recommendations from this work include monitoring of performance, 
education, improving community confidence and engagement with local Members with the 
development of a Fire Reduction Plan for the area

Review of DCC’s Allotment policy – focused on providing an opportunity for overview 
and scrutiny members to further develop and inform DCC’s proposed future allotment 
policy, management arrangements and consultation process to be undertaken with 
relevant stakeholders.  This will be finalised in autumn 2018.  

Retail Support – examined the support provided directly by DCC to the retail sector, how 
DCC works with partners to develop and deliver support to this sector, received the views 
of retailers in the county on support provided, identified any gaps in current provision and 
considered how these gaps can be addressed.  The final report is expected to be 
completed and presented to Cabinet towards the end of 2018.

Role of the social worker from a child’s perspective – studied how referrals are made 
into the service and how casefiles are allocated.  Explored the training and development of 
social workers and the support given to them and how this impacts upon stability for the 
child.  The review considered views and opinions from children and young people who had 
experience of edge of care services. This report and recommendations will be presented 
to Cabinet in autumn 2018.

Page 139



Customer Relationship Management system (CRM) Member Dashboard - a working 
group of COSMB Members carried out a pilot of the dashboard, feeding into the design 
and functionality of the system. The findings were fed back to the relevant Cabinet 
Portfolio Holders in November 2017.

Other review activity in 2017/18 included:

 Scrutiny of the budget process through consideration of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan. Considerations were broad-based and ranged from scrutiny of the timetable for 
the budget process, scrutiny of developing cost reduction proposals, as well as 
ongoing quarterly scrutiny of the delivery of savings. Comments were fed back to the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder in November 2017.

 Increased awareness of the Council’s scrutiny function through articles in local media, 
social media and an ongoing update of the scrutiny web pages. 

 Formally responded to NHS Quality Accounts 2017/18 for: North East Ambulance 
Service; County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust; and the Tees, Esk 
and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust.

 Engaged and responded to a statutory consultation in respect of NHS Sunderland 
and South Tyneside’s Path to Excellence programme. 

 Continued to maintain and establish links with all thematic partnerships. A series of 
briefings and reports have been shared with thematic partnerships, for example: 

 Progress updates on Cybercrime review 
 Presentation of report on arson and deliberate fires in East Durham  

 Contributed to:

 Activity of the Safe Durham Partnership Board;
 Police and Crime Panel;
 Youth Justice Plan.

 Had input into: 

 The Review of Youth Support Consultation
 County Durham and Darlington Fire & Rescue Service Integrated Risk 

Management Plan (IRMP) Three-Year Plan Consultation
 The Housing Strategy
 The Homelessness Strategy
 Industrial Strategy White Paper ‘Building a Britain fit for the future’
 ‘Planning for the right homes in the right places’ government consultation.

Amplifying the voice of the public

During the year chairs and vice-chairs have focused on how to bring the public voice into 
overview and scrutiny (OSC) review activity and meetings. This has been achieved 
through building public feedback strongly into review work, including site visits across the 
County and increased use of social media to promote the work of overview and scrutiny.

Scrutiny Members have attended a number of site visits linking into the scrutiny work 
programme and engaged with external partners and local residents to enable their views 
to be taken into account for a number of reviews and issues on scrutiny agendas. 

Page 140



On 5 October members of the Environment OSC visited the Suez Plant at Haverton Hill, 
the company who handle the county’s recycled waste.  Members were able to tour the 
facilities, and find out about the process from receipt of waste to the recycling of the ash 
residue once the process is complete.

Suez Plant, Haverton Hill

In March 2018 Economy and Enterprise (E&E) OSC members visited County Durham 
Parks, visiting Hardwick and Wharton Park.  These are two very different types of park, 
both successful, with high visitor figures throughout the year. Members were able to learn 
the history of both parks, use of funding received and future work programming for both 
sites.  Members also visited Salvus House on the Aykley Heads site to engage with the 
businesses in situ received a lot of positive feedback and visited the Chapter Homes site 
at Newton Aycliffe where they viewed the sites and met with officers for a question/answer 
session.   A visit also took place to permanent travellers’ sites throughout the County 
where members met with officers and wardens, some of whom were members of the 
travelling community themselves, to discuss the experiences of living on a permanent 
traveller site and again much debate took place and positive feedback was received. 

              
                         Hardwick Park                                                  Wharton Park

                                                                                   

Page 141



       
                             Salvus House                                                                       Members meet retailers in Stanley

Members of the E&E OSC Review Group looking at the support provided by DCC to the 
retail sector took part in four visits, and held discussions with retailers and developers at 
Seaham, Stanley, Barnard Castle and Chester-le-Street.

As part of the review of DCC’s future Allotment Policy, Environment working group 
members have visited various allotment sites across the County. Environment members 
also took part in a tour of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in the county who have 
benefited from the Business Energy Project (BEEP) which is a project designed to help 
SMEs to make financial savings through energy efficiency, and to hear their views on the 
project.  

                                                                                            Visit to Allotments

Members of CYP OSC held a Special meeting at Seaham School of Technology, where 
they were able to engage with pupils and teachers, and were given a tour of the facilities. 
Agenda items were chosen to encourage the pupils to join the debate and give their views 
on, for example, the Student Voice Survey and Elective home education.  Members of the 
CYPS OSC Review Group looking at the role of the social worker from a child’s 
perspective held a meeting at DCC’s MASH (Multi-agency safeguarding hub), where they 
were able to experience the partnership working and processes in place to deal with 
safeguarding issues.

To seek views and gauge an understanding of awareness of cybercrime by young people, 
a focus group session was held at Police HQ with Durham Constabulary’s Police Cadets. 
This was extremely positive engagement and findings from this session reported that the 
impact on victims is not seen or understood by offenders. Anyone could carry out a 
cybercrime attack or become a victim and many young people would do it to look cool and 
be unaware that they could receive a criminal record. 

Page 142



Police HQ – Cybercrime workshop

A joint visit by members of the E&E OSC and Environment and Sustainable Communities 
(ESC) OSC to the Heritage Coast, where Members met with officers, considered the 
options for encouraging more visits to the area and how to provide more facilities, by 
looking at what was already on offer, and viewing the improvements that have already 
taken place.

                   
Heritage Coast

The overview and scrutiny process provides an opportunity for members of the public and 
local communities to comment upon any service change proposals. There are a number of 
examples particularly in relation to changes to health services, where local councillors, 
community representatives and members of the public have fed into consultations on 
change proposals, including closure of the dispensary at St John’s Chapel; proposed 
closure of a GP surgery at Byers Green; DDES CCG Review of Urgent Care; North 
Durham CCG rapid specialist opinion referrals; and the establishment of sub regional 
scrutiny arrangements for NHS Sustainability Transformation Programmes.

Page 143



Led by independent minded governors who own the scrutiny process

Following elections in 2017, and an influx of new Members, a comprehensive induction 
programme was provided for Members, both new and returning.  This included bespoke 
sessions on the thematic scrutiny committees with high attendance, and enthusiastic input 
from Members appointed to these committees. These sessions were chaired by the 
relevant chairs and vice-chairs.

The new Chair and Vice-chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board, 
Cllr Rob Crute and Cllr Andrea Patterson, have worked with Chairs, Vice-chairs and 
Members of the thematic committees during the year to improve overview and scrutiny in 
Durham:

1. Extending the use of social media. Scrutiny meetings are now publicised on the 
day of the meeting on DCC’s Corporate Twitter account which has over 22,000 
followers. Since October there have been 30 ‘tweets’ relating to scrutiny. 
Analysis from the 30 tweets shows they have each received between 707 – 
1,480 views. This approach has led to 119 occasions where a link to the agenda 
or information has been accessed and 20 media engagements. The highest 
number of 1,480 views by twitter was for an advert for recruitment of non-voting 
co-opted members in April 2018, this was also posted on ‘Facebook’ and 
reached 4,349 people. 

2. Bringing external voices into scrutiny, including through co-optees, and by 
continuing with wide-ranging evidence gathering sessions and visits.There has 
been a refresh process for co-optees, including changes on education co-
optees, to ensure strong external representation. A detailed report on this was 
presented to COSMB on 14 February 2018.  A successful recruitment process 
has since taken place and interviews were carried out by politically balanced 
panels in May 2018. Due to the use of social media, a higher number of 
expressions of interest than usual was received, with 39 requests, and 19 
applications received. A new tranche of 10 non-voting co-optees were 
subsequently appointed.  

Use of visits and community engagement is covered earlier in this report.

3. Scrutiny skills training - at an OSC Chairs and Vice Chairs briefing meeting on 
9th October 2017, members discussed a series of options on the provision of 
external training to OSC members to supplement the scrutiny induction training 
sessions held in May/June 2017 following the County Council elections. 
Members agreed that bespoke training be provided on an in-house basis 
regarding Finance and Questioning Skills where this can be arranged, along 
with other options including sharing online material such as CfPS briefings/ 
guides. 

Drives improvement in public services

The Overview and Scrutiny work programme is informed by the Council Plan, the 
Sustainable Community Strategy, the Council’s Forward Plan of decisions and other 
partnership plans and strategies, and so is aligned to key improvement areas for the 
Council. 

Page 144



The majority of detailed in depth reviews are carried out by the Committees, but smaller 
working groups may be set up to carry out light touch reviews.  The Scrutiny Committees 
decide which areas they wish to examine.  This may arise following representations by 
members of the public about a particular matter; be an issue identified by councillors 
themselves; or follow on from reports or performance assessment on the Council’s 
activities made by the Cabinet or outside agencies. 

Examples of the impact of DCC’s overview and Scrutiny so far this year are:

 Cybercrime recommendations to include as an action within Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan, to undertake education and engagement activity with young 
people and explore apprenticeship opportunities for cybersecurity. 

 Arson and deliberate fires within the East Durham area - recommendations for the 
Safe Durham Partnership to monitor performance, carry out education initiatives 
and approaches to improve community confidence and engage local Members 
within the development of a Fire Reduction Plan for the area. 

 Water Safety – noted progress and success and commented on the challenge to 
maintain resources to keep up the momentum of the campaign, the rural location of 
some high risk locations and ensure all efforts are made to engage with schools in 
these areas. 

 Alcohol and its Demand on Emergency Services – outcomes from review led to the 
report being shared and a letter from the Safe Durham Partnership Board sent to all 
Constituent MPs, to raise awareness of the impact of alcohol on emergency 
services and as evidence in relation to reduction in drink drive limits, licensing and 
minimum unit pricing. 

 Stroke Support Services – facilitated extension and reprocurement of a new 
contract.

 Closer link between between the CYP OSC and Corporate Parenting Panel to 
strengthen oversight of children’s services, including the involvement in scrutiny in a 
number of politaical oversight meetings.

 The Environment OSC is also the designated Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Committee, and has established formalised arrangements for 
engaging with Flood Risk Management partners for County Durham.

 

Page 145



Overview and Scrutiny Committees
The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees are aligned to the key priority themes of the Council’s vision, which is to build an Altogether Better Durham that is better 
for local people and provides better places to live and work.  Information on all elements of the Overview and Scrutiny function can be found on the scrutiny pages of the 
Durham County Council website, www.durham.gov.uk. Below is the structure of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board

-  To oversee and co-ordinate the work of Overview and Scrutiny and its Committees
-  To ensure effective liaison across the work of the committees re cross cutting issues.
-  To be the strategic driver of the Overview and Scrutiny function.
-  To consider as appropriate scrutiny member involvement in regional scrutiny arrangements within the context of the Sub National Review/Single 
   Integrated Regional Strategy and associated issues.
-  The establishment of appropriate liaison with the Executive in the interests of achieving common aims and continuous improvement for the Council

To encourage appropriate community involvement in the Overview and Scrutiny role. 
Putting the Customer first 
Working with our communities
Effective use of resources
Support our people through change 

Economy & Enterprise Children and Young People Environment and Sustainable 
Communities

Safer and Stronger 
Communities

Adults, Wellbeing and 
Health

 Thriving Durham City
 Vibrant and successful town
 Sustainable neighbourhoods and 

rural communities
 Competitive and successful 

people
 A top location for business

 Children and young people 
realise and maximise their 
potential 

 Children and young people 
make healthy choices and have 
the best start in life

 A Think Family approach is 
embedded in our support for 
families.

 Deliver a clean, attractive and 
sustainable environment

 Maximise the value and benefits of 
Durham’s natural environment.

 Reduce carbon emissions and adapt to 
the impact of climate change 
(including Flood or coastal erosion 
risk management functions)

 Reduce anti-social behaviour
 Protect vulnerable people from 

harm
 Reduce re-offending.
 Alcohol and substance misuse 

harm reduction
 Implement measures to promote 

a safe environment
 Embed the Think Family 

approach

 Children and young people 
make healthy choices and have 
the best start in life

 Reduce health inequalities and 
early deaths

 Improve the quality of life, 
independence and care and 
support for people with long 
term conditions

 Improve the mental health and 
physical well-being of the 
population

P
age 146

http://www.durham.gov.uk/


Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 
The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB) provides a 
strategic direction for the work of all the committees. Its work programme for 2017/18 
included the following:

 Carried out in depth scrutiny of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 
2017/2018 – 2020/2021 (MTFP 7), 
Council Plan and Service Plans and 
revenue and capital budget proposals for 
2017/2018 to make sure that the Council’s 
resources are used effectively and 
efficiently;

        

Cllr Rob Crute Cllr Andrea Patterson
Chair, Overview and Scrutiny Vice-chair, Overview                                                    
                                                         and Scrutiny

 Took part in a pilot of the Customer Relations Management System (CRM) Member 
Portal; 

 Received details and commented on the Council’s use of powers under the Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000;

 Refreshed the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board work programme; 

 Received quarterly updates on:
 Performance Management 2017/18 and commented on progress against the 

Council’s corporate basket of performance indicators for the Altogether Better 
Council Theme;

 the Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn for Transformation and 
Partnerships and Resources;

 Customer Feedback: Complaints, Compliments and Suggestions.

 Received updates on:
 The County Durham Partnership;
 Welfare Reform;
 Implications of the Government’s Policy Programme on DCC; 
 The delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 7.

 Continued to receive regular updates on:
 Performance management every quarter before it is disseminated to 

respective Overview and Scrutiny Committees for further comment;
 Petitions
 Council’s Notice of Key Decisions - to ensure that Members are aware of key 

decisions to be made by Cabinet, and to provide information on scrutiny 
involvement if any;

 Work programme activity from each of the COSMB Chairs.

Page 147



Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

The Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (AWH OSC) has 
a statutory role under the Health and Social Care Act 2001 as amended to scrutinise local 
health services.  This committee is aligned to the Altogether Healthier priority theme and 
has:

  
Cllr John Robinson                 Cllrs Jean Chaplow
Chair of AWH OSC                 Vice-chair of AWH OSC

   

 Reviewed Annual Reports and performance information in respect of County Durham 
HealthWatch, Durham Local Safeguarding Board and the County Durham Health and 
Wellbeing Board;

 Received information on the following NHS Service reviews and, where appropriate, 
as statutory consultees commented upon the proposals and associated 
communications and engagement plans:

 South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Partnership Path to Excellence 
Programme; 

 Post implementation update report following the reconfiguration of Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group (DDES 
CCG) Urgent Care Services;

 Post implementation update report following the reconfiguration of Organic 
Inpatient (Dementia) Wards serving County Durham and Darlington;

 Stroke support services across County Durham;
 Rapid Specialist Opinion service across North Durham CCG;
 Improved Access to Psychological Therapies Model development;
 NHS England Review of Specialised Vascular Services;
 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust and Durham CCGs 

Review of Stroke Rehabilitation;
 Closure of a Dispensing service at St John’s Chapel by the Weardale 

Practice;
 Proposals to close the Branch Surgery at Byers Green, St Andrew’s Medical 

Practice;

 Continued the examination of the Sustainability and Transformation Plans covering 
County Durham – the Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham STP and 
the Durham, Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby STP, 
including the promotion and establishment of the Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and 
North Durham STP Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee;

 Examined and provided commentary upon 
Quality Accounts 2017/18 including 
proposed priorities for 2018/19 for Tees, 
Esk and Wear Valley NHS FT; County 
Durham and Darlington NHS FT and North 
East Ambulance Service NHS FT. The 
Committee also considered updates on 
progress from all three Trusts in respect of 
priorities during 2017/18.

Page 148



 Considered update reports in respect of:

 Preventative Mental Health Services Review and Recommissioning;
 Adult and Health Services;
 DDES CCG Accident and Emergency Ambulance Service Review – post 

implementation update;
 Winter pressures and the work of the Local A&E Delivery Board;

 Received information and, where necessary, provided commentary in respect of:

 The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2016/17
 Proposals to re-procure community services across County Durham;
 Service developments and Improved mental health rehabilitation services for 

adults by Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust;
 The draft Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018 consultation;
 Implementation of Care Navigation across County Durham GPs;
 Teams around the Patient/Health and Social Care Integration;
 A review of Community Hospital services in County Durham;

 Examined the CQC Re-inspection report and associated action plan in respect of 
County Durham and Darlington NHS FT;

 In conjunction with the Children and Young People’s OSC, examined the work of the 
County Durham Healthy Weight Alliance with a focus on Obesity;

 Monitored the performance and revenue and capital expenditure through quarterly 
performance management and budgetary reports.

Page 149



Children and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYP OSC) is aligned 
to Altogether Better for Children and Young People priority theme in the Council Plan. 
This Committee has:

  
                                                                                                                                                         Cllr Christine Potts                     Cllr Heather Smith

                                                                                                                                                                      Chair of CYP OSC                  Vice-Chair of CYP OSC

 Scrutinised Annual Reports from the Director of Public Health; and the Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board; the Health and Wellbeing Board; Looked After 
Children; and Adoption Service.

 Undertaken review activity looking at the Role of the Social Worker from a Child’s 
Perspective which has involved children and young people.

 Considered the Care Quality Commission (CQC) Review of Health Services for 
Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in County Durham.

 Received updates on:
 School Funding
 Management of Exclusions
 Growing Healthy 0-19
 Support to Care Leavers
 Impact of the Children’s Centres Review
 Progress of the Recommendations of the Self Harm Review

 Monitored the performance and revenue and capital expenditure through quarterly 
performance management and budgetary reports;

 Received summary of minutes from Children and Families Partnership;

 Involved young people through taking committee meetings to them in their school.

 Greater liaison between Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Corporate Parenting Panel.

 Received information on:
 The One Point Service
 Elective Home Education
 Case File Audit
 Child Poverty
 Student Voice Survey
 Serious Case Review Process
 Neglect in County Durham
 Summary of school Ofsted results

Page 150



Economy and Enterprise Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Economy OSC) is 
aligned to the Altogether Wealthier priority team in the Council Plan.  This Committee 
has:

 Received updates and commented on 
key developments and the direction of 
travel in relation to the EU funding 
programme, Regional Funding, 
DurhamWorks Programme, the North 
East Combined Authority (NECA) in 
relation to transport, the County 
Durham Plan and the ‘Planning for the 
Right Homes in the Right Places’ 
government consultation; 

 Received detail of and commented on 
the Industrial Strategy White Paper 
‘Building a Britain fit for the future’, 
Durham Key Options lettings policy, 
the Homelessness Strategy, the 
progress of the Digital Durham 
Programme (support for the business 
sector), the Local Transport Plan, 
delivery of the various town centre 
masterplans and DCC’s housing 
function; 

    

           
         Cllr Alison Batey                 Cllr Malcolm Clarke
     Chair, Economy and        Vice-chair, Economy and                    
          Enterprise OSC                    Enterprise OSC
  

 Considered on an annual basis detail of the work undertaken by the County Durham 
Economic Partnership and Business Durham;

 Received information on Chapter Homes, the performance of County Durham Housing 
Group, projects undertaken with the private housing sector and an investment pipeline 
for major projects in the county;

 Received an update on the progress of recommendations of the Tourism marketing 
activity undertaken by Visit County Durham scrutiny review and the Skills development 
scrutiny review; 

 Monitored the performance and revenue and capital expenditure through quarterly 
performance management and budgetary reports;

 Received minutes from the County Durham Economic Partnership.

Page 151



Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Env OSC) has statutory responsibility under the Localism Act 2011 as amended to 
scrutinise flooding and coastal risk management functions of the council and external 
bodies (Environment Agency and Northumbrian Water Ltd.)  This committee is aligned to 
the Altogether Greener priority theme in the Council Plan.  The committee has:

  

Cllr Eddy Adam                        Cllr Olga Milburn
Chair of Environment OSC     Vice-chair of Environment OSC

 Received an update on the progress of recommendations on:
 The management of DCC’s woodland estate

 Considered information on:
 Air quality in County Durham
 Community Action Team and the use of targeted interventions
 County Durham Environment Awards Scheme;

 Received an overview of the Business Energy Efficiency Project, Highways 
maintenance, Culture and Sports Services and the further development of the  
Heritage Coast;

 Received minutes from the County Durham Environmental Partnership, the Durham 
Strategic Flood Group and Northumbria Regional Flood and Coastal Committee;

 Monitored the performance and revenue and capital expenditure through quarterly 
performance management and budgetary reports;

 The Committee is the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Committee for 
County Durham and receives on an annual basis an update on the work of the Flood 
Risk Management Authorities for County Durham which focuses on:

 Flood mitigation work currently being undertaken within County Durham by  
the Flood Risk Management Authorities for County Durham;

 Future flood mitigation work to be undertaken and detail of funding;
 Any issues identified by the Flood Risk Management Authorities in relation to 

flood mitigation schemes/projects within the County.

 Received regular updates on the waste 
programme, European Structure and 
Investment Funding programme, Carbon 
Management Plan, Climate Change and 
delivery Plan, Warm Up North project and 
Fuel Poverty and winter maintenance 
programme; 

Page 152



Safer and Stronger Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
The Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (SSC OSC) 
has powers under the Police and Justice Act 2006 as amended to scrutinise work being 
undertaken by the statutory crime and disorder reduction partnership; the Safe Durham 
Partnership.  The committee is aligned to the Altogether Safer priority theme in the 
Council Plan. 

The committee has completed review activity 
on:
 Cybercrime
 Arson and deliberate fires

Received reports on the progress of 
recommendations from review activity of:
 Organised Crime 
 20 mph limits/zones 
 Alcohol and the demand on Emergency 

Services 
 Improved safety in the Home – Safe and 

Wellbeing Visits 

 
          Cllr David Boyes                    Cllr Heather Liddle
 Chair of Safer and Stronger        Vice-chair of Safer and      
Stronger Communities OSC           Communities OSC

Considered reports and provided a response to respective Portfolio Holders and/or 
Partnership leads on:
 Open Water Safety
 Hate Crime 
 Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
 Substance Misuse Services 

Considered and commented on reports and presentations on:

 Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015
 Consumer Protection – Enforcement Activity
 Safe Durham Partnership Reducing Re-offending Group
 Youth Justice Plan 2016/17 
 Youth Offending Services 
 Road Safety Reduction Partnership 

 Responded to consultation on Safe Durham Partnership and County Durham and 
Darlington Fire & Rescue Service Integrated Risk Management Plans. 

 Received reports and provided comment on activity of the Safe Durham Partnership 
Board and the Durham Police and Crime Panel.  

 Monitored quarterly performance reports and provided acknowledgment of high 
performance areas and included performance challenges within its work programme.

Page 153



Regional Scrutiny
The North East Regional Employers’ Organisation supports a region-wide NE Joint 
Scrutiny Member/officer Network where all twelve North East local authorities’ Scrutiny 
leads discuss national developments in scrutiny and also have an opportunity to share 
their work programmes and priorities and consider emerging issues that have an impact 
across local authority boundaries. 

The network met in January 2018, where DCC’s Chair of Overview and Scrutiny was 
appointed as Vice-chair of the network.  Also at that meeting, the network discussed the 
findings of the Department for Communities and Local Government Select Committee’s 
Overview and Scrutiny in Local Government Inquiry and a CLG Specialist was in 
attendance to answer questions.  Regular future meetings are planned.

North East Combined Authority (NECA) 
scrutiny arrangements 
The North East Combined Authority (NECA) has agreed three broad areas of focus:

 Transport
 Employability and Inclusion
 Economic Development and Regeneration

Governance arrangements for the NECA include an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
which enables local councillors, on behalf of their communities, to scrutinise and challenge 
all matters within the remit of the Combined Authority. The committee investigates matters 
of significant importance to residents across the areas covered by the seven councils with 
a view to influencing decisions made in respect of all matters within the remit of the 
Combined Authority. The North East Combined Authority (NECA) Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is made up of 14 councillors from across the 7 combined authority areas. 

Durham County Council is represented on the NECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee by 
Cllr Rob Crute and Cllr Andrea Patterson, Chair and Vice-chair of DCC’s Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board, and Cllr Alison Batey and Cllr Malcolm Clarke, 
Chair and Vice-chair of Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee are the nominated 
substitute members.

The NECA scrutiny committee meets 4 times a year at varying locations across the NECA 
area and meetings are open to the public. Further details on NECA can be found at 
www.northeastca.gov.uk

Regional Health Scrutiny
The Council continues to work collaboratively at a regional level to ensure that the impact 
of changes to health services across local authority boundaries does not adversely impact 
upon residents of County Durham. The North East Regional Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee consists of lead Health Scrutiny members from all 12 North East local 
authorities and is charged with scrutinising issues around the planning, provision and 
operation of health services in and across the North East region, comprising for these 
purposes the areas covered by all constituent authorities. 

Page 154

http://www.northeastca.gov.uk/


During 2017/18, the committee has examined:

 NHS England – North East and Cumbria specialised commissioning updates 
regarding Neonatal Services; Neonatal transport; Congenital Heart Disease 
Review and Vascular services;

 The North East and Cumbria Learning Disabilities Fast Track Transformation 
Plan;

 Updates from the Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham STP 
Joint Health OSC and the Durham, Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby STP Joint Health OSC;

 NEAS Quality Accounts and performance updates including the new National 
Ambulance response times initiative;

 Community Pharmacies and the use of pharmacies for minor ailments and 
other health service provision.

Following the publication of NHS Sustainability and Transformation Plans nationally, there 
are two sub-regional Joint STP Scrutiny Committees covering the Northumberland, Tyne 
and Wear and North Durham STP and the Durham, Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby STP. Durham County Council is the only North East Council 
with representatives that sit on both STP Joint OSCs reflecting the fact that County 
Durham is covered by these two STPs.

It is envisaged that much of this regional and sub-regional health scrutiny work will roll 
forward into 2018/19 and the regional and sub-regional joint scrutiny OSC arrangements 
will be use to scrutinise the development of Sustainability and Transformation Plans and 
any associated proposals for substantial developments or significant variations in services 
arising out of these plans.

Co-optees 
Non-councillors may be co-opted onto overview and scrutiny committees and working 
groups, and can help scrutiny to engage with the public. They are used:

 to act as a non-political voice for those who live or work in County Durham;

 to bring specialist knowledge and/or skills and an element of external 
challenge to the Overview and Scrutiny process;

 to take an interest in, attend and contribute to the committees or working 
groups to which appointed;

 to establish good relations with other members, officers and co-optees;

 where individuals are representatives of any particular organisation or group, 
to feed back any appropriate discussions or decisions of the relevant 
committee or working group to their respective organisation or group.

A fundamental review of the appointment process for non-statutory, non-voting co-optees 
was undertaken in 2014. The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB) in 
March 2016 agreed that the appointment period for currently serving non-statutory, non-
voting co-optees would be extended for a further two years with a further fundamental 
refresh of the appointment process to be undertaken May/June 2018. The refresh has now 
taken place and a number of new non-voting co-optees have been appointed. These 
newly appointed co-optees will undertake the necessary induction programme.

Page 155



Work Programmes 
The current work programmes focus on the priority areas identified within the Council Plan, 
the Cabinet’s Forward Plan of decisions, Sustainable Community Strategy, Partnership 
plans and strategies, performance and budgetary control data and changes in Government 
legislation. 

Overview and Scrutiny Team 
The Overview and Scrutiny team is part of the Transformation and Partnership directorate 
which leads on the transformation programme, performance management and 
improvement, consultation and engagement, communications, partnership working, 
equalities and diversity and information management, as well as the Council’s Area Action 
Partnerships and emergency planning functions. 

Contact us in the Scrutiny Office on 03000 268145 scrutiny@durham.gov.uk, or see the 
Durham County Council website, www.durham.gov.uk

The Team

Page 156

mailto:scrutiny@durham.gov.uk
http://www.durham.gov.uk/


Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

22 June 2018

Review of the Committee’s Work Programme 
2018-19

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director Transformation and 
Partnerships 

Purpose of the Report
1 To provide for Members consideration an updated work programme for the 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB) 2018-19.

Background

2 At its meeting on 19 March 2018, Members of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board considered the actions identified within the Council 
Plan 2016-19 for the Altogether Better Council priority theme and agreed to a 
refresh of the committee’s work programme under the new committee.

Detail

3 In accordance with this decision, a draft work programme for 2018-19 has been 
prepared, which is attached at Appendix 2.

4 It should be noted that the work programme is flexible to enable additional items 
to be accommodated throughout the year.

5 In considering its work programme, Members are asked to identify topics for 
review activity to be undertaken.

6 With regard to future review activity, at the meeting in March, Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board highlighted that the MTFP is the 
ongoing area of major focus and that early involvement is important. 

7 A Members’ seminar has been arranged for 4 July 2018 to look at the budget 
process, to which all Members will be invited.

8 The work programme discussions in June 2017 had agreed that in addition to 
MTFP, the following could be possible topics for future scrutiny review work:

(a) consideration of the ICT and over-arching ICT Strategy, suggested in the 
first instance as an overview through the Transformation Programme

(b) Appraisals – this was raised at Corporate Issues OSC meetings in 
January and April 2017. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 9



9 At COSMB on 19 March 2018, procurement of single use plastic was also 
proposed for the work programme, but it was considered that this would best be 
taken forward through the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

10 The work programme will need to be balanced and review work scheduled to 
ensure there is sufficient capacity to undertake review activity.

Recommendation

11 Members of the COSMB are asked to:

a) receive and comment upon on the COSMB work programme for 
2018-19;

b) agree the attached COSMB work programme for 2018-19.

Background papers - Council Plan 2016 -19; Corporate Issues OSC Report 19 March 2018 – 
Council Plan 2017-19 – Refresh of the Work Programme for the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board.

Contact: Jenny Haworth                        Tel. 03000 268071
 

Page 158



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance
The Council Plan sets out the corporate priorities of the Council for the next 3 years. The 
Medium Term Financial Plan aligns revenue and capital investment to priorities within the 
Council Plan.

Staffing
None

Risk
None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None

Accommodation
None

Crime and Disorder
None

Human Rights
None

Consultation
None

Procurement
None

Disability Issues
None

Legal Implications
None.

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 
2018 TO 2019

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB) 

Lead Officer: Jenny Haworth

IPG contact: Paul Darby/Jeff Garfoot

Note:

O/S Review – A systematic 6 monthly review of progress against 
recommendations/Action Plan

Scrutiny/Working Group – In-depth Review/Light Touch Review

Overview/progress – information on an issue; opportunity to 
comment, shape, influence, progress with a scrutiny review

Performance/Budget – ongoing monitoring (quarterly) 
performance reports/budgets

When Who Outcome Comment

O/S Review

Customer Relationship 
Management System 
(Task and Finish Group) 

Nov 2018 Alan Patrickson/ 
Cheryl Duggan

To follow up on the 
recommendations of 
the review 

To provide Members with an update 
of the functionality of the new CRM 
system, and an update on the 
recommendations of the light touch 
review.

P
age 161



O/S Review

Scrutiny/Working Group 
(Light Touch/In-depth review)
Budget and MTFP process

A Members’ seminar on the 
Budget Process will take place 
on 4th July 2018

14 Sept 2018

1 Nov 2018

17 Dec 2018

13 Feb 2019

Jeff Garfoot/ J 
Haworth

To enable scrutiny 
Members to 
comment and feed 
into MTFP and 
DCC’s budget setting 
process 

Improving efficiency and value for 
money – to scrutinise and look at 
any issues/reviews linked to 
achieving savings within the MTFP 
as and when requested

Overview/Progress

Transformation Programme, 
including:
 ICT Strategy
 Organisational 

Development
 Use of premises/modern 

ways of working
 Premises costs

Regular 
updates

L O’Donnell/A Palmer To update Members 
on the 
Transformation 
Programme

Overview of transformation 
programme activity 

P
age 162



Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers

2017/18
Quarter 4
20 March 2018

2018/19
Quarter 1/2
1 Nov 2018

Quarter 3
13 Feb 2019

Laura Renaudon To oversee and 
inform Members of 
the Council’s use of 
powers under the 
Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 (‘RIPA’) on 
a quarterly basis.

Customer Feedback – 
Compliments, Complaints and 
Suggestions quarterly report

2017/18
Q4 – June 
2018

2018/19
Q1
14 Sept 2018

Q2 
17 Dec 2018 

Q3
18 March 2019

Alan Patrickson To inform Members 
of the Customer 
Feedback report on a 
quarterly basis  
To present key 
messages in relation 
to the management 
and handling of 
statutory 
representations of 
CYP/AHS

Overview and Scrutiny Annual 
Report

22 June 2018 Jenny Haworth Members to sign off 
the O/S Annual 
Report

Overview of all scrutiny activity 
during the year for full Council

Notice of Key Decisions At each 
COSMB

Jackie Graham To monitor additions/ 
amendments

To inform the Scrutiny work 
programme

P
age 163



Performance/Budget

Performance
Quarter Reporting 
(Transformation and 
Partnerships and Resources)

(Includes information on 
Appraisals)

Q4 2017/18 – 
June 2018

Q1 2018/19 –  
Sept 2018

Q2 2018/19 – 
Dec 2018

Q3 2018/19 – 
March 2019

Jenny Haworth
Standing item

Budget Outturn Report
Quarter Reporting (Assistant 
Chief Executives and 
Resources)

Q4 2017/18 
Sept  2018

Q1 2017/18
Oct 2018

Q2 2017/18
Dec 2018

Q3 2018/19
March 2019

Jeff Garfoot Standing item

P
age 164



Regular updates

Implications of the 
Government’s policy 
programme

Cabinet report Jenny Haworth

Welfare reform and poverty 
action plan updates

Cabinet report To be confirmed

MTFP delivery updates Cabinet report Andy Palmer

Co Durham Partnership update Cabinet report Clare Marshall

Chairs’ briefings At each 
COSMB

Chair

Petitions updates Every other 
COSMB

Jackie Graham

P
age 165



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board

22 June 2018

Update in relation to Petitions

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide for information the quarterly update in relation to the current 
situation regarding various petitions received by the Authority.

Background

2. Following the introduction of The Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009, the administration of the 
petitions process was passed to Democratic Services.

 
2.1 Overview and Scrutiny Management Board have received update 

reports on petitions since September 2008, and this function has now 
passed to the new committee.

2.2 From the 15 December 2010, the Authority has provided a facility for 
members of the public to submit e-petitions on the Council’s website.

Current Position

3 Since the last update 1 e-petition has been submitted and was rejected 
as did not qualify under the Council’s Petition Scheme. There is 
currently 1 e-petition live on the website.

  
3.1 In addition, 4 new paper petitions have been submitted and completed 

the petition process.   A list giving details and current status of all active 
petitions is attached as Appendix 2 to the report. 

Recommendation

4. Members are requested to note the update report on the status of 
petitions and e-petitions received by the Authority. 

Contact: Ros Layfield, Committee Services, Member and Civic 
Services Manager

Tel: 03000 269 708  E-mail: ros.layfield@durham.gov.uk

Page 167

Agenda Item 10



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance :  None

Staffing: None

Risk: None

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty: None

Accommodation: None

Crime and Disorder: None

Human Rights: None

Consultation:  Petitions which refer to a consultation exercise are reported to 
committee for information and forwarded to the relevant officer for 
consideration

Procurement: None

Disability Issues: None

Legal Implications:  None

Page 168



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

Petition 322

Skatepark for Ushaw Moor

E-Petition
No. of signatures – 98
Petition received – 
18.11.17

Stephen Howell
Head of Culture and Sport

Petition asking the Council to build a skatepark for the residents 
of Ushaw Moor.

e-petition from 18.11.17 – 1.6.18 and closed with 98 signatures

Awaiting response

Petition 330

Keep our Sport Alive, 
Open Waste Land for off 
Road Motorbikes

E-Petition
Petition received – 16.2.18
No. of signatures – 

Barrie Alderson
Outdoor Facilities Co-
ordinator

Petition asking the Council to provide waste land for off road 
motorbikes

To run until 30 June 2018.

E-Petition live

Petition 335

Vigo Lane Improvements 
to Highway

Petition received 29.3.18
No. of signatures - 56

David Battensby
Traffic Asset Senior 
Engineer

Petition asking the Council to address the highways 
infrastructure and install a crossing on Vigo Lane, Chester-le-
Street.

The Council receives more requests for formalised crossing 
facilities than it is able to fund from limited road safety budgets.  
Due to the need to concentrate resources on reducing casualty 
accidents, the Council is required to direct its limited funding 
towards addressing locations with the worst accident trends.  

The accident recording database shared with Durham 
Constabulary, confirms no recorded ‘personal injury’ accidents 
associated with pedestrians during the past 4 years; this being 
the standard search criteria.  These figures represent a 
favourable accident record compared to many other locations 
within the County, where future intervention by the Council 
would be beneficial to improve road safety.

Petition CLOSED

P
age 169



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

Requests for formalised crossing such as a zebra crossing or 
traffic signal controlled crossing are assessed against a national 
criteria devised by the Department for Transport (DfT), which 
takes into account various factors including traffic flow and the 
number of pedestrians crossing the road within the busiest 
period.  

In the case of Vigo Lane, an assessment using the Department 
for Transport’s criteria was carried out.  The national criteria 
could not be satisfied because there is no specific “desire line” 
on what is a long section of road where pedestrians choose to 
cross where it is convenient for them.

There are a number reasons that may prevent formal crossings 
being installed. These relate to specific road safety issues such 
as lack of driver forward vision due to bends or crests in the 
road, nearby junctions and bus stops.

Other safety features including pedestrian refuge islands have 
been considered however Vigo Lane is not wide enough to 
accommodate such measures without substantial and costly 
carriageway widening.

Petition 336

School Run Parking – 
Lanchester

Petition received 12.04.18
No. of signatures – 68

Danny Harland
Parking & Transport 
Infrastructure Team 
Leader

Petition asking the Council to instruct traffic enforcement officers 
to take regular action to prevent parking on double yellow lines 
during school run hours.

DCC officers enforce restrictions outside of schools on a daily 
basis. However, as there are approximately 275 schools 
throughout the County and only 12 enforcement officers, they 
are only able to visit each school on an occasional basis.

A request for information regarding the frequency of 
enforcement demonstrated that officers had visited Lanchester 

Petition CLOSED

P
age 170



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

between 4 September 2017 & 22 December 2017 on ten 
occasions, during which they issued three penalty charge 
notices. In spite of their attendance it was noted that the 
problems have persisted. It is understood that residents are 
disappointed at the number of penalty charge notices issued, 
however boarding/alighting is a permitted activity from a ‘no 
waiting’ restriction and that this includes escorting a dependent 
child to and from school. It is therefore important to recognise 
that whilst an officer may observe an unattended vehicle this 
does not in itself mean a contravention has occurred.

Other permitted activities from a ‘no waiting’ restriction include 
loading and unloading and parking with a blue badge for a 
period up to 3 hours.

An enforcement officer will note a vehicle details when they first 
see a possible contravention and stay next to or near the 
vehicle, keeping it in sight at all times, for a set period of at least 
five minutes to see if there is any sign of boarding and alighting 
(or loading and unloading). Ordinarily, a parent or guardian will 
return within this period of time or, where they have remained 
with the vehicle, will drive away the moment an officer 
commences their observation. Consequently, more often than 
not, an officer is unable to issue a penalty charge notice.

Furthermore, whilst the occasional presence of officers often 
deters drivers from parking illegally, it is not uncommon for 
dangerous and inconsiderate parking to return when 
enforcement ceases. Therefore, in this instance, we have 
requested that officers undertake a more prolonged enforcement 
campaign to encourage parents to develop good safety habits 
and park in a safe and legal manner in future. It has also been 
requested that enforcement occurs between 3:15pm and 

P
age 171



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

3:45pm in order to address concerns regarding a lack of 
enforcement during this particular period of time.

Concerns have also been forwarded to the Head Teacher of 
each school, requesting that they remind parents of the need to 
park safely and considerately when dropping off and picking up 
their children.

Petition 337

Parking at Sycamore 
Square, Shildon

Petition received 13.04.18
No. of signatures - 14

Danny Harland
Parking & Transport 
Infrastructure Team 
Leader

Petition asking the Council to address parking problems at 
Sycamore Square, Shildon.

The conversion of open space amenity land to carriageway, 
whilst possible in most instances, is extremely costly at an 
estimated £3000 per linear metre which in this instance would 
amount to approx. £470,000. This estimate can rise dramatically 
if any public utility apparatus will be affected. Unfortunately DCC 
do not have a budget for this purpose and therefore are unable 
to take the request forward at this stage.

However the local Area Action Partnership or local Councillors 
who may have access to a suitable funding stream could be 
approached.

If successful in securing funding the necessary public utility 
searches and a detailed estimate of works could be provided.

Petition CLOSED

Petition 338

Seaton Lane Traffic 
Campaign

Petition received 24.04.18
No. of signatures - 803

Dave Wafer
Strategic Traffic Manager

Petition asking the Council to bring forward new proposals to 
resolve the traffic management issues at Seaton Lane. The 
Council is asked to establish a working group with residents to 
consider the long term traffic issues associated with Seaton 
Lane.

A working group has now been established with representatives 
from the local community to consider alternative proposals to 
address the current traffic issues.

Petition CLOSED

P
age 172



Petition Table – Active Petitions             Appendix 2                                  

Nature of Petition Appropriate 
Service/Officer

Summary of Information Status of Petition

Petition 340

Weeds, Garden Waste 
and Rubbish left by 
garages in Seaham

Petition received 14.5.18
No. of signatures – 29

Stuart Cockburn
County Durham Housing 
Group

Petition asking the Council to address weeds, garden waste and 
rubbish left beside garages in Seaham.

Durham County Council (DCC) and County Durham Housing 
Group (CDHG) attended a joint visit to the areas highlighted in 
the petition to assess the issues highlighted. During the visit, it 
was noted that the estate was litter free. Weeds were observed 
on paths and the garage site in question. 

DCC, in collaboration with CDHG, carry out chemical weed 
control to garage sites, un-adopted footpaths, blocked paved 
areas, and walls and fences on open space areas. This is 
performed twice yearly, with the first application usually being 
applied in April/May. 

Due to the adverse weather in April, the operation suffered 
delays however the first application of the chemical weed control 
was applied on and around the 24th May 2018 in the local area. 

During the aforementioned visit, it was observed that the garage 
site was relatively litter free. CDHG own the land the garages 
are situated on, however the structures in question had been 
erected by the tenants of the garage plots and as such were not 
subject to maintenance or improvement works 

As per the tenancy agreement, CDHG will intervene if the 
structures pose a health and safety issue.

Petition CLOSED

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board

22 June 2018

Notice of Key Decisions

Report of Corporate Management Team
Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Purpose of the Report

1 To consider the list of key decisions that is scheduled to be considered 
by the Executive. 

Background

2 New rules in relation to Executive decisions were introduced by The 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, which came into force on 10 
September 2012. 

3 The regulations took away the requirement for the Executive to 
produce a Forward Plan of key decisions, however introduced that the 
decision maker cannot make a key decision unless a document has 
been published at least 28 clear days before the decision is taken, 
unless either a general exception or special urgency requirements 
have been met.  The document which has to be published must state:

a) that the key decision is to be made on behalf of the relevant local 
authority

b) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made

c) where the decision maker is an individual, that individual’s name 
and title if any and where the decision maker is a decision making 
body, its name and list of its members

d) the date on which or the period within which the decision is to be 
made

e) a list of the document submitted to the decision maker for 
consideration in relation to the matter of which the key decision is 
to be made

f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on 
their disclosure copies of, or extracts from any document listed as 
available

Page 175

Agenda Item 11



g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted 
to the decision maker

h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) 
as they become available.

4 The requirements also apply to an exempt matter as previously it did 
not strictly have to be included in the Forward Plan. Now a publicity 
document must contain particulars of the matter, but may not contain 
any confidential exempt information or particulars of the adviser or 
political adviser or assistant.

5 Notices of key decisions that are being produced meet the legal 
requirements of publication, as well as continuing to provide 
information for a four month period. Members will therefore be able to 
consider key decisions as previously for the four month period.

Current Notice of Key Decisions

6 The notice of key decisions that is attached to the report at Appendix 2, 
is the latest to be published prior to the papers for the Board being 
dispatched to members. The notice complies with the requirements for 
Cabinet to be able to take key decisions at the meeting on 13 June 
2018. It also contained information on those key decisions that are 
currently scheduled to be considered by the Executive up to 30 
September 2018.

7 The information in the Notice of Key Decisions provides the Board with 
the opportunity of considering whether it wishes to seek to influence 
any of these key decisions, or to request further information. Members 
are asked to note that this version of the Notice has been amended 
and includes a column which has been added to advise of the relevant 
Scrutiny activity.   

8 In responding to the request of the Board for further information to be 
provided on any items that are removed from the previous notice 
without being considered by Cabinet, this information will be provided 
at the meeting. If the Board wished to examine any of the key 
decisions, consideration would need to be given as to how this could 
be accommodated in the Overview and Scrutiny Work programme. 

Recommendation

9 You are recommended to give consideration to items listed in the 
notice.

Contact: Ros Layfield, Committee, Member and Civic Services Manager    
Tel: 03000 269708
Jenny Haworth, Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships Tel: 03000 268071 

Page 176



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance :  Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Staffing: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Risk: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty: Will be reflected in 
each individual key decision report to Cabinet.

Accommodation: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Crime and Disorder Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Human Rights: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Consultation: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Procurement: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Disability Issues: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Legal Implications: Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to 
Cabinet.

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION ONE - CORPORATE

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead 
Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact 
details for 
further 
information

Scrutiny 
Involvement

CORP/R/18/01 11-Jul-18 2019/20 General 
Fund Revenue and 
Capital Budget 
MTFP 9, Council 
Plan & Service 
Plans 

Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Finance 

The public will be 
consulted as well as 
Area Action 
Partnerships.  A 
broad range of 
partner 
organisations will 
also need to be 
consulted.  A full 
consultation plan 
will be developed 
but methods could 
include on-line 
responses, AAP 
fora and partnership 
fora. 

John Hewitt, 
Corporate 
Director of 
Resources, 
03000 261943 
and Lorraine 
O'Donnell,  
Director of 
Transformatio
n & 
Partnerships 
03000 268060

Subject to 
work 
programme 
discussions, 
Scrutiny 
Members will 
have input into 
the formulation 
of MTPF 9 
through  
Corporate 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 
meetings 
(COSMB).

P
age 179



SECTION TWO -  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details for 
further information

P
age 180



SECTION THREE - ADULT AND HEALTH SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details 
for further 
information

P
age 181



SECTION FOUR  - REGENERATION AND LOCAL SERVICES 

Ref. No. Date of Decision
(i.e. date of Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main 
Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact 
details for 
further 
information

Scrtuiny 
Involvement

REAL/02/18 12/09/18 Housing Strategy 
Consultation Draft 

Portfolio Holder 
for Strategic 
Housing and 
Assets 

Public 
Consultation

Graeme Smith 
03000 263610

Overview and 
scrutiny Members 
are feeding into 
the Housing 
Strategy 
Consultation as 
part of the County 
Durham Plan 
Workshop on 9 
July 2018.

REAL/03/18 11/07/18 Integra61 - 
Approval of project

Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and 
Portfolio Holder 
for Economic 
Development

Heather Orton 
03000 264715

P
age 182



Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board

22 June 2018

Information update from the 
Chairs of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships  

Purpose of the Report

1 To present to Members an information update of overview and scrutiny activity from 20 
April – June 2018.

Background

2 It has previously been agreed that a written report of Chairs’ updates would be 
presented for information only to all Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Boards. Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB) are encouraged to get involved in any area of Overview and Scrutiny activity 
via thematic committees and/or talk to Scrutiny Committee Chairs and OS Officers on 
areas of project/overview activity.

Updates

3 Updates from Overview and Scrutiny Committees are from 20 April 2018 – June 2018.

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

There is no scrutiny review activity for this period.

Overview 
reports/
Presentations

COSMB on 20 April 2018 received reports and presentations on:
 RIPA Q4
 MTFP 7 update
 County Durham Partnership update
 Petitions update
 Notice of key decisions
 Chairs’ briefing.

Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (SSC OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

Cybercrime – review recommendations agreed and report as 
presented to Cabinet in May 2018 and scheduled for Safe Durham 

Page 183

Agenda Item 12



Partnership Board in July 2018
Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

The next SSC OSC will take place on 25 June 2018, where members 
will consider:

 Open water Safety 
 Local Multi Agency Problem Solving (LMAPS) – Mapping 

System 
 Progress of recommendations from review activity on Alcohol 

and its Demand on Emergency Services 
 Refresh of Work Programme 

Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (E & E OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

Review of retail support provided by DCC –  members at the 
meetings on:

 26 April 2018 – discussed with Commercial Letting Agents in 
the county the current retail offer and any challenges 
experienced in the letting of retail units.

 8 May 2018 – received detail of the support provided by DCC 
to the retail sector.

 17 May 2018 – received detail of the gaps in current retail 
support, information on the role and activities undertaken by 
Durham City BID and detail of traffic and parking management

Members of the review of retail support provided by DCC working 
group visited Chester-le-Street on 1st May 2018 to discuss with 
retailers current retail support provision.

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

The next Economy and Enterprise OSC will take place on 26 June 
2018 where members will consider:

 Overview of the work of the County Durham Economic 
Partnership.

 Progress of the DurhamWorks Programme.
 Refresh of the work programme. 

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Environment OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period.

Scrutiny Review Review of DCC’s future allotment policy – the review has been 

Page 184



Activity paused pending feedback to the review group from the formal 
consultation to be undertaken by the Service Grouping.

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

The next Environment OSC will take place on 13 July 2018. Where 
members will consider:

 Overview of the work of the County Durham Environment 
Partnership Board

 Current and future arrangements for Leisureworks
 Refresh of the work programme

Visits On Wednesday 25 April 2018, Members of Environment OSC visited 
Dyer Engineering, Annfield Plain as part of a Business Energy 
Efficiency Project (BEEP) visit.

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYP OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report on for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

The Review Group looking at the Role of the Social Worker from a 
child's perspective on:

 21 May 2018 received information on training and development of 
social workers

 13 June 2018 the review group considered its key findings and 
formulated their recommendations, work is continuing on drafting a 
final report.

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

The next CYP OSC will be held on 2 July 2018 which will consider:
 Progress update on recommendations of take up of free school 

meals and holiday provision
 Child Poverty
 Stronger Families Programme 

Adults, Well-being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (AWH OSC)

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews

There are no systematic reviews to report on for this period.

Scrutiny Review 
Activity

The AWH OSC Review of Suicide Rates and Mental Health and 
Wellbeing in County Durham has completed its evidence gathering 
and a further meeting of the Review group will be held to identify key 
findings and recommendations prior to production of the review 
report. 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations

Special AWH OSC meetings on:

2 May 2018 received reports and presentations on:

 County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust:

Page 185



o Stroke Services
o CQC Inspection
o Community services and community hospitals

9 May 2018 received presentations on Quality Accounts.

1 June 2018 received presentations on Vascular Services.

Performance/Budget/Work Programme Reporting

4 Information on both performance and outturn reports continue to be received and 
commented upon.

Recommendation

5 Members are invited to receive the report and note the information contained therein.

Background Papers:  Previous committee reports/presentations.

Contact: Jenny Haworth      Tel: 03000 268071

Page 186



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A

Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – N/A

Accommodation – N/A

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – N/A

Procurement – N/A

Disability Issues – N/A

Legal Implications – N/A

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2018
	5 Transformation Programme Update - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	6 Quarter Four 2017/18 Performance Management Report - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	7 Customer Feedback: Quarter 4 and Annual Statutory Representations - Joint Report of the Corporate Director of Resources, Corporate Director Adult and Health Services and Corporate Director Children and Young People's Services
	Customer Feedback Report  - year end 2017-18
	Customer Feedback Report - year end 2017-18.pdf (p.1-23)
	Appendix 6.pdf (p.24-40)
	Appendix 6 - b.pdf (p.41-58)


	8 Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/2018 - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	OS Annual Report 2017-18

	9 Review of the Committee's Work Programme 2018-19 - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	COSMB -  Work Programme 2018-19 Jan 2018

	10 Update in relation to Petitions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	062218-COSMB-Petitions-App2

	11 Notice of Key Decisions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Copy of 7 - July to Oct 2018_

	12 Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships

